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PROSPECTUS

$250,000,000

Protein Design Labs, Inc.
2.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2023 and the

12,415,450 Shares of Common Stock Issuable on Conversion of the Notes

        This prospectus relates to the 2.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2023 of Protein Design Labs, Inc., or PDL, a Delaware corporation, held by certain
security holders who may offer for sale the notes and up to 12,415,450 shares of our common stock into which the notes are convertible at any time, at market
prices prevailing at the time of sale or at privately negotiated prices. The selling security holders may sell the notes or the common stock directly to purchasers or
through underwriters, broker-dealers or agents, that may receive compensation in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions. We will not receive any
proceeds from this offering.

        You may convert the notes into shares of our common stock at any time before their maturity unless we have previously redeemed or repurchased them. The
notes are due on August 16, 2023. The conversion rate is 49.6618 shares per each $1,000 principal amount of notes, subject to adjustment in certain
circumstances. This is equivalent to a conversion price of approximately $20.14 per share. The notes are not listed on any securities exchange or included in any
automated quotation system. The notes are eligible for trading in the Private Offerings, Resale and Trading through Automated Linkages (PORTAL) Market of
the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Our common stock is quoted on The Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "PDLI." On August 27, 2004,
the last reported bid price for our common stock as quoted on The Nasdaq National Market was $18.86 per share.

        We will pay interest on the notes on February 16 and August 16 of each year. The first interest payment will be made on February 16, 2004. The notes are
unsecured and subordinated in right of payment to all existing and future indebtedness of PDL. The notes may be issued only in denominations of $1,000 and
integral multiples of $1,000.

        We have the right to redeem all or a portion of the notes that have not been previously converted at the redemption prices set forth in this prospectus on or
after August 16, 2008. We will make at least 10 semi-annual interest payments on the notes before we may redeem.

        You may require us to repurchase for cash all or a portion of the notes in the event of a change of control or a termination of trading (as each such term is
defined in this prospectus). In addition, on each of August 16, 2010, August 16, 2013 and August 16, 2018, you may require us to repurchase all or a portion of
the notes.

        Investing in the notes and the common stock involves a high degree of risk. See "Risk factors" beginning on page 8 of
the prospectus.

NEITHER THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION NOR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION HAS
APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED THE SECURITIES OR PASSED UPON THE ADEQUACY OR ACCURACY OF THIS

PROSPECTUS. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

The date of this prospectus is September 7, 2004.
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        You should rely only on the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with
different information. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. The selling securityholders are not making an
offer to sell these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. You should assume that the information appearing in this prospectus is
accurate only as of the date on the front cover of this prospectus. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since
that date.

        You should not consider any information in this prospectus or in the documents incorporated by reference herein to be investment, legal or tax advice. You
should consult your own counsel, accountant and other advisors for legal, tax, business, financial and related advice regarding the purchase of the notes. We are
not making any representation to any offeree or purchaser of the notes regarding the legality of an investment in the notes by such offeree or purchaser under
appropriate investment or similar laws.

        Unless otherwise indicated in this prospectus, "Protein Design Labs," "we," "us" and "our" refer to Protein Design Labs, Inc. and our subsidiaries.

        This registration statement includes trademarks, service marks and trade names owned by us or other companies. All trademarks, service marks and trade
names included in this prospectus are the property of their respective owners.
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RISK FACTORS AND INFORMATION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

        In addition to the other information contained in this prospectus, investors should carefully consider the risk factors disclosed in this prospectus,
including those beginning on page 8, in evaluating an investment in the notes or the common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes.

        This prospectus includes "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. All statements other than statements of historical facts are "forward-looking
statements" for purposes of these provisions, including any projections of earnings, revenues or other financial items, any statements of the plans and
objectives of management for future operations, any statements concerning proposed new products or licensing or collaborative arrangements, any
statements regarding future economic conditions or performance, and any statement of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. In some cases,
forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of terminology such as "may," "will," "expects," "plans," "anticipates," "estimates,"
"potential," or "continue" or the negative thereof or other comparable terminology. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-
looking statements contained herein are reasonable, there can be no assurance that such expectations or any of the forward-looking statements will
prove to be correct, and actual results could differ materially from those projected or assumed in the forward-looking statements. Our future financial
condition and results of operations, as well as any forward-looking statements, are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties, including but not limited
to the risk factors set forth below in this prospectus, and for the reasons described elsewhere in this prospectus. All forward-looking statements and
reasons why results may differ included in this prospectus are made as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to update these forward-looking
statements or reasons why actual results might differ.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY 

        This summary highlights selected information appearing elsewhere in this prospectus and may not contain all of the information that is important to you.
This prospectus includes or incorporates by reference information about the convertible notes and common stock that we are offering, as well as information
regarding our business and detailed financial data. We encourage you to read this prospectus in its entirety, including the documents incorporated by reference.

OUR COMPANY

Overview

        We are a recognized leader in the discovery and development of humanized monoclonal antibodies for the treatment of disease. Our patented platform
technology enables us to develop antibodies with high specificity based on murine antibodies, which are relatively easy to generate, but which we modify to be
structurally similar to naturally occurring human antibodies. As a result, our antibodies do not have the immunogenicity and half-life limitations associated with
murine antibodies. We are utilizing our technology to develop humanized antibodies for the treatment of certain autoimmune and inflammatory diseases, and
cancer. We currently have four antibodies in clinical development for ulcerative colitis, Crohn's disease, asthma and solid tumors.

        We derive revenues from out-licensing our antibody humanization patents to developers of antibody-based therapeutics as well as from humanizing
antibodies for other companies. We have entered into numerous patent licenses, patent rights agreements and humanization contracts that provide us with fees and
royalty revenues. We currently recognize revenue in connection with royalties received on six antibody products including Xolair, RAPTIVA, Zenapax,
Herceptin, Synagis and Mylotarg, with combined sales in excess of $1 billion in 2003. In addition, Genentech has exercised a license for its Avastin™ antibody
product, which was approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in February 2004. As royalty revenue is recognized one quarter following the
quarter in which sales occurred, we will receive royalties on sales of Avastin in the second quarter of 2004. We believe that there are more than 40 humanized
antibodies in clinical development by a variety of companies, and that a majority of those antibodies are the subject of either patent license or patent rights
agreements with us.

        We were incorporated in Delaware in 1986. Our principal executive offices are located at 34801 Campus Drive, Fremont, California 94555, and our
telephone number is (510) 574-1400. We maintain a home page at www.pdl.com.

Business Strategy

        Our objective is to leverage our proprietary antibody technology and patent portfolio to become a profitable biopharmaceutical company that markets its
own drugs in North America. The principal elements of our strategy include:

• Development of proprietary drugs.    We are focused on the development of novel antibodies to treat diseases with significant market potential
and unmet medical needs. Our lead programs are targeted to the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease, or IBD, which affects over one million
individuals in the United States. IBD is a chronic, recurrent inflammation of the bowel that has considerable impact on the quality of life of the
patient. We have three humanized antibodies in clinical development for the treatment of IBD, specifically in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's
disease, as well as other diseases. We plan to market or co-promote our products, if approved, with a specialized sales force in North America. We
are seeking to out-license marketing rights for some of our antibodies primarily outside of North America and may receive upfront fees and
milestone payments, research funding and/or royalties on product sales.
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• Acquisitions and in-licensing arrangements.    We are actively exploring opportunities that would provide access to additional products,
technologies or capabilities, or that would expand our existing product rights through acquisitions, collaborations or in-licensing arrangements.
These efforts, if successful, could enable us to expand our franchises in our targeted therapeutic areas and accelerate the timeframe within which
we generate revenues from product sales. 

• Patent licensing arrangements.    We license our patents relating to humanized antibodies in return for license fees, annual license maintenance
payments and royalties on product sales. We have patent license or patent rights agreements with a number of biotechnology and pharmaceutical
companies, including Biogen Idec Inc., Celltech Group plc, Chugai Pharmaceutical Co. LTD., Elan Pharmaceuticals, Genentech, Inc.,
GlaxoSmithKline Corporation (GSK), IDEC Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Medarex, Inc., MedImmune, Inc., Merck KGaA, Millennium
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Sankyo Company LTD., Seattle Genetics, Inc., Tanox, Inc. and Wyeth Pharmaceuticals (Wyeth). We expect to enter into
additional agreements in the future as humanized antibodies from other companies achieve clinical success. See "Risk factors—Our humanization
patents are being opposed and a successful challenge or refusal to take a license could limit our future revenues." 

• Humanization contracts.    We humanize antibodies for other companies in return for upfront fees, milestone payments and royalties on any
product sales. In some cases we also receive the right to co-promote these products in designated territories. We have performed humanization
services for a number of companies, including Ajinomoto, Fujisawa Pharmaceuticals, Intermune Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Progenics
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Wyeth and Yamanouchi Pharmaceuticals. We have recently initiated efforts to expand our offerings to third parties,
including seeking additional humanization contracts and performing additional services in conjunction with humanization, such as cell-line
development necessary for scale-up and future manufacturing of antibodies on a larger scale.

OUR PRODUCTS IN CLINICAL STAGE DEVELOPMENT

        The following table summarizes the potential therapeutic applications and development status for our clinical product candidates.

Antibody Product

 

Indication(s)

 

Status

Nuvion® (visilizumab)  Severe, steroid-refractory ulcerative colitis  Phase I/II

Zenapax® (daclizumab)  Prevention of kidney
transplant rejection
Asthma

 Marketed/Roche
  
Phase IIa

HuZAF™ (fontolizumab)  Crohn's disease  Phase IIa

M200 (anti-a5b1 integrin)  Solid tumors  Phase I

        Nuvion (visiluzumab).    Nuvion (visilizumab) is a humanized antibody that binds to the CD3 antigen on immune system cells known as T cells that are
believed to be active in certain inflammatory disease. Nuvion has been shown to bind to CD3, thereby inducing apoptosis or death of activated T cells.

        Nuvion is currently our highest development priority. It currently is being evaluated in a Phase I/II trial in patients with severe ulcerative colitis who have
failed steroid therapy. Patients receive an intravenous injection on two consecutive days, and the study is evaluating four dose levels. Following the Phase I
portion of the study, up to an additional 20 patients will be treated in the Phase II portion.
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        A strong signal of activity was observed in both doses tested in the initial Phase I study of visilizumab in this disease setting. The Phase I clinical trial and
Phase I portion of the on-going Phase I/II study are currently anticipated to serve as the basis for discussions with regulatory agencies in the second half of 2004
regarding the design of possible registrational trials.

        We have retained worldwide rights to Nuvion.

        Daclizumab.    Daclizumab is a humanized antibody that binds to the interleukin-2 (IL-2) receptor on immune system cells known as T-cells. IL-2 is a
lymphokine, one of the substances released by cells as a part of the immune response that occurs in certain autoimmune diseases and often following organ
transplants. Daclizumab has been shown to block the binding of IL-2 to its receptor on T-cells, suppressing an immune response by inhibiting the proliferation of
activated T cells.

        The US Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, approved daclizumab in December 1997 for the prevention of kidney transplant rejection. The antibody has
since been approved throughout Europe and in a number of other countries. In 1989, we licensed daclizumab to Roche, which sells daclizumab under the brand
name Zenapax® in the United States, Europe and other territories for the prevention of kidney transplant rejection and we receive royalties on Zenapax sales. In
1999, pursuant to a revised agreement with Roche, we obtained the right to develop and, in the United States and Canada, to market daclizumab in autoimmune
indications and we are responsible for paying for these activities. Under the 1999 agreement, Roche retained the right to market daclizumab for these indications
in Europe and certain other countries.

        Effective October 1, 2003, we entered into another amendment to our agreement with Roche, pursuant to which we obtained exclusive worldwide rights to
manufacture, market and sell daclizumab in all disease indications other than transplantation. Roche is currently expected to continue to market daclizumab in
transplantation indications until 2007, although an earlier transfer to us of rights in transplantation may occur at Roche's election upon six months' prior written
notice to us. Under the new arrangement, we assumed worldwide responsibility in the development, and if successful, sales and marketing of daclizumab in all
indications other than transplantation. We also have the right to manufacture daclizumab.

        In March 2004, we reported positive results from the initial Phase II clinical trial of daclizumab for the treatment of asthma. This trial involved a
randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical study of daclizumab in patients with chronic, persistent asthma whose disease is not well controlled with
inhaled sterioids. This clinical study was conducted at 24 centers in the United States and treated a total of 114 patients. The primary endpoint was met, and
secondary clinical endpoints also supported these findings. Patients receiving daclizumab also demonstrated a statistically significant increase in the time to
asthma exacerbation requiring oral steriod rescue. Treatment with daclizumab was generally well tolerated.

        In May 2004, we reported results from a Phase II clinical study of daclizumab in patients with moderate-to-severe ulcerative colitis. Daclizumab did not
meet primary or secondary endpoints in the trial, and we do not intend to develop it further for this indication.

        We have identified multiple sclerosis, or MS, as a potential future indication.

        HuZAF.    HuZAF is a humanized antibody that targets interferon gamma, a protein that stimulates several types of white blood cells and has been shown by
academic researchers to play a role in certain autoimmune diseases.

        In March 2004, we reported that HuZAF did not meet the primary endpoint at study day 28 in two Phase II clinical trials (HARMONY™ I and
HARMONY™ II) in Crohn's disease following administration of a single intravenous dose. HuZAF, however, demonstrated statistically greater activity
compared to placebo at several subsequent time points following administration of a second
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intravenous dose. HuZAF was well tolerated and the treatment was not associated with safety concerns. The results from HARMONY I and HARMONY II
indicated that a single dose may not be sufficient to demonstrate significant improvement in patients with Crohn's disease. Additional analysis of the data is
ongoing.

        We have worldwide rights to HuZAF, although we are now actively seeking a partner for development and commercialization.

        M200.    M200 is a chimeric antibody that may inhibit the growth or metastasis of tumors that are dependent on new blood vessel formation, a process
known as angiogenesis. M200 blocks the binding of a5b1 integrin receptors to fibronectin on activated subset of endothelial cells that line blood vessels,
potentially inhibiting a key step leading to angiogenesis. Recently we initiated a Phase I clinical trial of an anti-a5b1 integrin antibody, M200, in patients with
advanced solid tumors for whom there is no standard treatment. The dose-escalation trial is designed to explore the safety associated with the infusion of M200.

OUR TECHNOLOGY

        We are a leader in the development of therapeutic antibody products. Our "humanized" antibodies are designed using structural information from promising
murine antibodies. Our proprietary technology enables us to combine the binding sites of a murine antibody with a human antibody framework, thereby creating a
humanized antibody with lower immunogenicity and longer half-life than the original murine antibody.

        Antibodies are protective proteins released by the immune system's B cells, a type of white blood cell, in response to the presence of a foreign substance in
the body, such as a virus, or due to an aberrant autoimmune response. B cells produce millions of different kinds of antibodies, which have slightly different
shapes that enable them to bind and, as a result, inactivate different targets. Antibodies that have identical molecular structure that bind to a specific target are
called monoclonal antibodies.

        Typically, mice have been used to produce monoclonal antibodies to a wide range of targets, including targets to which the human body does not normally
produce antibodies. Although murine monoclonal antibodies are relatively easy to generate, they have significant drawbacks as therapeutics, including short half-
life and immunogenicity. Our patented humanization technology has allowed us to modify murine antibodies to minimize these problems.
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THE OFFERING 

Issuer  Protein Design Labs, Inc.

Notes  $250,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 2.75% convertible subordinated notes due August 16, 2023.

Maturity  The notes will mature on August 16, 2023, unless earlier redeemed, repurchased or converted.

Interest payment dates  We will pay 2.75% interest per annum on the principal amount payable on the notes semi-annually in
arrears on February 16 and August 16 of each year, starting on February 16, 2004.

Conversion rights  The notes will be convertible into 49.6618 shares of our common stock, par value $.01 per share, per
$1,000 principal amount of notes (which represents a conversion price of approximately $20.14 per share),
subject to adjustments at any time until final maturity or earlier redemption or repurchase. See
"Description of notes—Conversion rights."

Subordination  Except as described under "Description of notes—Security," the notes will be:

  • unsecured;

  • junior to our existing and future senior indebtedness; and

  • effectively subordinated to all existing and future liabilities of our subsidiaries, including trade payables.

  As of June 30, 2004, our subsidiaries had approximately $8.2 million of indebtedness and other
obligations that effectively rank senior to the notes. The indenture under which the notes were issued does
not restrict our or our subsidiaries' ability to incur additional senior or other indebtedness. See
"Description of notes—Subordination of notes."

Security  We had purchased and pledged to the trustee under the indenture, as security for the notes and for the
exclusive ratable benefit of the holders of the notes, approximately $20.7 million of US government
securities. These US government securities are sufficient to provide for the payment in full of the first six
scheduled interest payments on the notes when due. As of June 30, 2004, we continue to hold
approximately $16.9 million of such securities. See "Use of Proceeds." The notes will not otherwise be
secured. See "Description of notes—Security."

Sinking fund  None.

Redemption of notes at our option  On or after August 16, 2008, we may, at our option, redeem the notes, in whole or in part, for cash, at
100% of their principal amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption
date. See "Description of notes—Redemption of notes at our option."
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Purchase by us of notes at the holder's option  On each of August 16, 2010, August 16, 2013 and August 16, 2018, holders may require us to purchase all
or a portion of their notes at 100% of their principal amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but
excluding, such date. We will pay the purchase price for notes to be purchased on August 16, 2010 in cash.
We will pay the purchase price for notes to be purchased on August 16, 2013 and August 16, 2018, solely
at our option, in cash, shares of our common stock, or a combination of cash and shares of our common
stock, provided that we will pay any accrued and unpaid interest in cash. The shares of common stock will
be valued at 100% of the average closing sale price of our common stock for the 10 trading days
immediately preceding, and including, the third business day immediately preceding the purchase date, as
described in this prospectus. If we choose to pay all or part of the purchase price in shares of our common
stock, we will notify holders of this not less than 20 business days before the applicable purchase date. See
"Description of notes—Purchase of notes by us at the holder's option."

Right of holder to require us to repurchase  If a repurchase event, as described in this prospectus, occurs, each holder may notes if a repurchase event
occurs require us to repurchase all or a portion of the holder's notes for cash at 100% of their principal
amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the repurchase date. See "Description of
notes—Holders may require us to repurchase their notes upon a repurchase event."

Events of default  If an event of default on the notes has occurred and is continuing, the principal amount of the notes plus
any accrued and unpaid interest may be declared immediately due and payable. These amounts
automatically become due and payable upon certain events of default. See "Description of notes —Events
of default."

Registration rights  We have agreed to keep the shelf registration statement, of which this prospectus constitutes a part,
continuously effective under the Securities Act until such time as there are no longer any registrable
securities covered thereby. If we do not comply with these requirements or certain other covenants set
forth in the registration rights agreement, we will be required to pay liquidated damages to holders of the
notes. See "Description of notes—Registration rights; liquidated damages."

Use of proceeds  We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale by any selling securityholders of the notes or the
common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes.
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DTC eligibility  The notes will be issued in book-entry form and will be represented by permanent global certificates
deposited with a custodian for, and registered in the name of, a nominee of The Depository Trust
Company, or DTC, in New York, New York. Beneficial interests in any such securities will be shown on,
and transfers will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC and its direct and indirect
participants. Except in limited circumstances, no such interest may be exchanged for certificated
securities. See "Description of notes—Form, denomination and registration of notes—Global securities."

Listing and trading  The notes are eligible for trading on The PORTAL Market. Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq
National Market under the symbol "PDLI."

Certain US federal tax considerations  For a discussion of certain US federal tax considerations relating to the purchase, ownership and
disposition of the notes and common stock into which the notes are convertible, see "Certain US federal
tax considerations."

Risk factors  In analyzing an investment in the notes offered by this prospectus, prospective investors should carefully
consider, along with other matters referred to in this prospectus, the information set forth under "Risk
factors."

        For a more complete description of the terms of the notes, see "Description of notes." For a description of our common stock, see "Description of capital
stock."
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RISK FACTORS 

        You should carefully consider and evaluate all of the information included and incorporated by reference in this prospectus, including the risk factors listed
below. Any of these risks could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition, which in turn could materially and
adversely affect the market price of the notes offered by this prospectus and the trading price of our common stock.

        Keep these risk factors in mind when you read forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein.
These statements relate to our expectations about future events and time periods. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such
as "may," "will," "intends," "plans," "believes," "anticipates," "expects," "estimates," "predicts," "potential," "continue" or "opportunity," the negative of these
words or words of similar import. Similarly, statements that describe our reserves and our future plans, strategies, intentions, expectations, objectives, goals or
prospects are also forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, and future events and circumstances could differ
significantly from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS

We have a history of operating losses and may not achieve sustained profitability.

        In general, our expenses have exceeded revenues. As of June 30, 2004, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $245.4 million. We expect our
expenses to increase because of the extensive resource commitments required to achieve regulatory approval and commercial success for any individual product.
For example, over the next several years, we will incur substantial additional expenses as we continue to develop and manufacture our potential products, invest
in research and improve and expand our manufacturing, marketing and sales capabilities. Since we or our partners or licensees may not be able to successfully
develop additional products, obtain required regulatory approvals, manufacture products at an acceptable cost and with appropriate quality, or successfully market
such products with desired margins, we may never achieve sustained profitable operations. The amount of net losses and the time required to reach sustained
profitability are highly uncertain. We may be unable to achieve sustained profitability.

        Our commitment of resources to the continued development of our products will require significant additional funds for development. Our operating
expenses may also increase as:

• some of our earlier stage potential products move into later stage clinical development; 

• additional potential products are selected as clinical candidates for further development; 

• we pursue clinical development of our potential products in new indications; 

• we invest in additional manufacturing capacity; 

• we build commercial infrastructure to market our products in North America; 

• we defend or prosecute our patents and patent applications; and 

• we invest in research or acquire additional technologies, product candidates or businesses.

        In the absence of substantial revenues from new agreements with third-party business partners, significant royalties on sales of products licensed under our
intellectual property rights, product sales or other uncertain sources of revenue, we will incur substantial operating losses and may require additional capital to
fully execute our business strategy.
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We have substantial outstanding indebtedness, which could adversely affect our financial condition and prevent us from fulfilling our obligations under
our 2.75% $250 million convertible notes.

        In connection with our sale of the 2.75% convertible notes, referred to as the Notes, in July 2003, we incurred $250.0 million of indebtedness, set to mature
in August 2023, although callable by the holders as early as 2010. Our total consolidated long-term debt as of June 30, 2004 was $257.9 million. The indenture
relating to the Notes does not restrict our ability to incur additional indebtedness, including debt that is senior to the Notes.

        The degree to which we are leveraged could have important consequences, because:

• it could affect our ability to satisfy our obligations under the Notes; 

• a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations will be required to be dedicated to interest and principal payments and may not be available
for operations, working capital, capital expenditures, expansion, acquisition or general corporate or other purposes; 

• our ability to obtain additional financing in the future may be impaired; 

• we may be more highly leveraged than some of our competitors, which may place us at a competitive disadvantage; 

• our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry may be limited; and 

• it may make us more vulnerable in the event of a downturn in our business, our industry or the economy in general.

        Our ability to make payments on and, if necessary, to refinance our debt, including the Notes, will depend on our ability to generate cash in the future. This,
to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, business, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control.

        We cannot assure you that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations or that future borrowings will be available in an amount sufficient
to enable us to pay our debt, including the Notes, or to fund our other liquidity needs. We may need to refinance all or a portion of our debt, including the Notes,
on or before maturity. We cannot assure you that we would be able to refinance any of our debt, including the Notes, on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

Our revenues, expenses and operating results will likely fluctuate in future periods.

        Our revenues have varied in the past and will likely continue to fluctuate considerably from quarter to quarter and from year to year. As a result, our
revenues in any period may not be predictive of revenues in any subsequent period. Our royalty revenues may be unpredictable and may fluctuate since they
depend upon:

• the seasonality of sales of licensed products; 

• the existence of competing products; 

• the market launch of recently licensed products; 

• the marketing efforts of our licensees; 

• potential reductions in royalties receivable due to credits for prior payments to us; 

• the timing of royalty reports, some of which are required quarterly and others semi-annually; and 

• our ability to successfully defend and enforce our patents.
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        We receive royalty revenues on sales of the product Synagis. This product has higher sales in the fall and winter, which to date have resulted in much higher
royalties paid to us in our first and second quarters than in other quarters. The seasonality of Synagis sales will contribute to fluctuation of our revenues from
quarter to quarter.

        License and other revenue may also be unpredictable and may fluctuate due to the timing of payments of non-recurring licensing and signing fees, payments
for manufacturing and clinical development services, and payments for the achievement of milestones under new and existing agreements with third-party
business partners. Revenue historically recognized under our prior agreements may not be an indicator of non-royalty revenue from any future collaborations.

        Our expenses may be unpredictable and may fluctuate from quarter to quarter due to the timing of expenses, including clinical trial expenses as well as
payments owed by us and to us under collaborative agreements for reimbursement of expenses and which are recorded under our policy during the quarter in
which such expenses are reported to us or to our partners and agreed to by us or our partners.

        In addition, our expenses or other operating results may fluctuate due to the accounting treatment of securities we own or may purchase or securities we have
issued or may issue. For example, if we are required to recognize expense for employee stock-based awards, we will incur significantly higher losses. In addition,
we hold a $30.0 million five-year convertible note receivable we purchased from Exelixis, Inc. in May 2001. Accounting rules require the conversion feature of
some convertible notes to be separated from the debt agreement in which the conversion feature is contained and accounted for as a derivative instrument, and
therefore reflected in the note purchaser's financial statements based upon the fair market value of the stock into which the note is convertible. Due in part to the
number of shares into which this note receivable would currently convert and the average daily trading volume of Exelixis stock, the Exelixis note is not currently
considered a derivative instrument and, therefore, changes in the market value of Exelixis stock are not required to be recorded in our financial statements.
However, a significant increase in the average daily trading volume of Exelixis stock, or new accounting pronouncements or regulatory rulings could require us to
report the change in the value of the Exelixis stock in our financial statements such that changes in the Exelixis stock price contribute to fluctuations of our
operating results from quarter to quarter.

Our humanization patents are being opposed and a successful challenge or refusal to take a license could limit our future revenues.

        Most of our current revenues are related to our humanization patents and the related licenses that third parties enter into with us for rights to those patents. If
our rights are successfully challenged or third parties decline to take licenses for the patents, our future revenues would be adversely affected.

        At an oral hearing in March 2000, the Opposition Division of the European Patent Office decided to revoke the broad claims of our first European
humanization patent. We appealed this decision. In November 2003, the Technical Board of Appeal of the European Patent Office decided to uphold our appeal
and to set aside the Opposition Division's decision. The Board of Appeal ordered that certain claims be remitted to the Opposition Division for further prosecution
and consideration of issues of patentability (novelty, enablement and inventive step). The claims remitted by the Board of Appeal cover the production of
humanized antibody light chains that contain amino acid substitutions made under our antibody humanization technology. Regardless of the Opposition Division's
decision on these claims, such decision could be subject to further appeals. Until the opposition is resolved, we may be limited in our ability to collect royalties or
to negotiate future licensing or collaborative research and development arrangements based on this and our other humanization patents. Moreover, if the
opposition is successful, our ability to collect royalties on European sales of antibodies humanized by others would depend on: the scope and validity of our
second European patent; and, whether the
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antibodies are manufactured in a country outside of Europe where they are covered by one of our patents, and if so, on the terms of our license agreements. Also,
the Opposition Division's decision could encourage challenges to our related patents in other jurisdictions, including the United States. This decision may lead
some of our licensees to stop making royalty payments or lead potential licensees not to take a license, either of which might result in us initiating formal legal
actions to enforce our rights under our humanization patents. In such a situation, a likely defensive strategy to our action would be to challenge our patents in that
jurisdiction. During the opposition process with respect to our first European patent, if we were to commence an infringement action in Europe to enforce that
patent, such an action would likely be stayed until the opposition is decided by the European Patent Office. As a result, we may not be able to successfully
enforce our rights under our European or related U.S. and Japanese patents.

        With respect to our second European antibody humanization patent, eight notices of opposition were filed. We have filed a response with the European
Patent Office. The European Patent Office has scheduled oral hearings for February 2005.

        In Japan, three opposition statements were filed with the Japanese Patent Office with respect to our Japanese humanization patent. The Japanese Opposition
Board's subsequent decision supported one aspect of the position of the opponents, to which we filed two responses. Ultimately, we received a final determination
from the Japanese Patent Office affirming the Opposition Board's earlier decision. We appealed this decision to the Tokyo High Court. A hearing was held in
April 2003, and the Tokyo High Court recently notified us that the Opposition Board's decision was upheld. We have appealed this decision to the Japanese
Supreme Court.

        We intend to vigorously defend the European patents and the Japanese patent in these proceedings. We may not prevail in the opposition proceedings or any
litigation contesting the validity of these patents. If the outcome of the European or Japanese opposition proceedings or any litigation involving our antibody
humanization patents were to be unfavorable, our ability to collect royalties on existing licensed products and to license our patents relating to humanized
antibodies may be materially harmed. In addition, these proceedings or any other litigation to protect our intellectual property rights or defend against
infringement claims by others could result in substantial costs and diversion of management's time and attention, which could harm our business and financial
condition.

        Our ability to maintain and increase our revenues from licensing is dependent upon third parties entering into new patent licensing arrangements, exercising
rights under existing patent rights agreements, and paying royalties under existing patent licenses with us. To date, we have been successful in obtaining such
licensing arrangements, and in receiving royalties on product sales, from parties whose products may be covered by our patents. However, we have experienced
challenges in our licensing efforts, including the disagreement we had with Genentech in 2003 over whether its Xolair antibody product was covered under our
humanization patents. There can be no assurance that we will continue to be successful in our licensing efforts in the future. Additionally, although we have
reached an amicable settlement with Genentech that is intended to resolve such disagreements, Genentech or other companies may, in the future, seek to
challenge our U.S. patents through litigation or patent office proceedings, such as re-examinations or interferences. If we experience difficulty in enforcing our
patent rights through licenses, or if our licensees, or prospective licensees, challenge our antibody humanization patents, our revenues and financial condition
could be adversely affected, and we could be required to undertake additional actions, including litigation to enforce our rights. Such efforts would increase our
expenses and could be unsuccessful.
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If we are unable to protect our patents and proprietary technology, we may not be able to compete successfully.

        Our pending patent applications may not result in the issuance of valid patents or our issued patents may not provide competitive advantages. Also, our
patent protection may not prevent others from developing competitive products using related or other technology. A number of companies, universities and
research institutions have filed patent applications or received patents in the areas of antibodies and other fields relating to our programs. Some of these
applications or patents may be competitive with our applications or contain material that could prevent the issuance of patents to us or result in a significant
reduction in the scope of our issued patents. These proceedings could be expensive, last several years and either prevent issuance of additional patents to us
relating to humanization of antibodies or result in a significant reduction in the scope or invalidation of our patents. Any limitation in claim scope could reduce
our ability to negotiate or collect royalties or to negotiate future collaborative research and development agreements based on these patents.

        The scope, enforceability and effective term of patents can be highly uncertain and often involve complex legal and factual questions. No consistent policy
has emerged regarding the breadth of claims in biotechnology patents, so that even issued patents may later be modified or revoked by the relevant patent
authorities or courts. Moreover, the issuance of a patent in one country does not assure the issuance of a patent with similar claim scope in another country, and
claim interpretation and infringement laws vary among countries, so we are unable to predict the extent of patent protection in any country. In addition to seeking
the protection of patents and licenses, we also rely upon trade secrets, know-how and continuing technological innovation that we seek to protect, in part, by
confidentiality agreements with employees, consultants, suppliers and licensees. If these agreements are not honored, we might not have adequate remedies for
any breach. Additionally, our trade secrets might otherwise become known or patented by our competitors.

We may require additional patent licenses in order to manufacture or sell our potential products.

        Other companies, universities and research institutions may obtain patents that could limit our ability to use, import, manufacture, market or sell our products
or impair our competitive position. As a result, we might be required to obtain licenses from others before we could continue using, importing, manufacturing,
marketing, or selling our products. We may not be able to obtain required licenses on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If we do not obtain required licenses, we
may encounter significant delays in product development while we redesign potentially infringing products or methods or may not be able to market our products
at all.

        Celltech has been granted a European patent covering humanized antibodies, which we have opposed. At an oral hearing in September 2000, the Opposition
Division of the European Patent Office decided to revoke this patent. Celltech appealed that decision, but the Technical Board of Appeal recently rejected the
appeal. As a result, the decision revoking the patent is final; no further appeals are available. However, Celltech has a second issued divisional patent in Europe,
which has claims that may be broader in scope than its first European patent, and which we have opposed. An Oral Hearing is scheduled to take place in January
2005. In addition, Celltech has a third divisional application currently drafted with broad claims directed towards humanized antibodies. We cannot predict
whether Celltech's second European patent will be modified or revoked in any future opposition proceedings, or whether it will be able to obtain the grant of a
patent from the pending divisional application with claims broad enough to generally cover humanized antibodies. Celltech has also been issued a corresponding
U.S. patent that contains claims that may be considered broader in scope than their first European patent. In addition, Celltech was recently issued a second U.S.
patent with claims that may be considered broader than its first U.S. patent. We have entered into an agreement with Celltech providing each company with the
right to obtain nonexclusive licenses for up to three antibody targets under the other company's humanization patents. This agreement expires in December 2004.
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Notwithstanding this agreement, if our humanized antibodies were covered by Celltech's European or U.S. patents and if we need more than the three licenses
under those patents currently available to us under the agreement, or we are unable to negotiate an extension of this agreement beyond December 2004 on terms
that are acceptable to us, we would be required to negotiate additional licenses under those patents or to significantly alter our processes or products. We might
not be able to successfully alter our processes or products to avoid conflict with these patents or to obtain the required additional licenses on commercially
reasonable terms, if at all.

        In addition, if the Celltech U.S. patent or any related patent applications conflict with our U.S. patents or patent applications, we may become involved in
proceedings to determine which company was the first to invent the products or processes contained in the conflicting patents. These proceedings could be
expensive, last several years and either prevent issuance of additional patents to us relating to humanization of antibodies or result in a significant reduction in the
scope or invalidation of our patents. Any limitation would reduce our ability to negotiate or collect royalties or to negotiate future collaborative research and
development agreements based on these patents.

        We do not have a license to an issued U.S. patent assigned to Stanford University and Columbia University, which may cover a process we use to produce
our potential products. We have been advised that an exclusive license has been previously granted to a third party, Centocor, Inc., under this patent. If our
processes were found to be covered by either of these patents, we might be required to obtain licenses or to significantly alter our processes or products. We might
not be able to successfully alter our processes or products to avoid conflicts with these patents or to obtain licenses on acceptable terms.

If our research efforts are not successful, we may not be able to effectively develop new products.

        We are engaged in research activities intended to identify antibody product candidates that we may enter into clinical development. These research activities
include efforts to discover and validate new targets for antibodies in our areas of therapeutic focus. We obtain new targets through our own drug discovery efforts
and through in-licensing targets from institutions or other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies. Our success in identifying new antibody product
candidates depends upon our ability to discover and validate new targets, either through our own research efforts, or through in-licensing or collaborative
arrangements. In order to increase the possibilities of identifying antibodies with a reasonable chance for success in clinical studies, part of our business strategy
is to identify a number of potential targets. If we are unsuccessful in our research efforts to identify and obtain rights to new targets, our ability to develop new
products could be harmed.

Clinical development is inherently uncertain and expense levels may fluctuate unexpectedly because we cannot accurately predict the timing and level of
such expenses.

        Our future success depends in large part upon the results of clinical trials designed to assess the safety and efficacy of our potential products, and the
majority of our expenses are to support these activities. The completion of clinical trials often depends significantly upon the rate of patient enrollment, and our
expense levels will vary depending upon the rate of enrollment. In addition, the length of time necessary to complete clinical trials and submit an application for
marketing and manufacturing approvals varies significantly and is difficult to predict. The expenses associated with each phase of development depend upon the
design of the trial. The design of each phase of trials depends in part upon results of prior phases, and additional trials may be needed at each phase. As a result
the expense associated with future phases cannot be predicted in advance. Further, we may decide to terminate or suspend ongoing trials. Failure to comply with
extensive FDA regulations may result in unanticipated delay, suspension or cancellation of a trial or the FDA's refusal to accept test results. The FDA may also
suspend our clinical trials at any time if it concludes that the participants are being exposed to unacceptable risks. As a result of these factors, we cannot predict
the actual
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expenses that we will incur with respect to trials for any of our potential products, and we expect that our expense levels will fluctuate unexpectedly in the future.

If we cannot successfully complete our clinical trials, we will be unable to obtain regulatory approvals required to market our products.

        To obtain regulatory approval for the commercial sale of any of our potential products or to promote these products for expanded indications, we must
demonstrate through preclinical testing and clinical trials that each product is safe and effective for use in indications for which approval is requested. We have
had, and may in the future have, clinical setbacks that prevent us from obtaining regulatory approval for our potential products. Most recently, in May 2004, we
announced that daclizumab, our humanized antibody that binds to the interleukin-2 (IL-2) receptor, did not meet the primary endpoint in a Phase II clinical trial in
patients with moderate-to-severe ulcerative colitis. As a result, we terminated further development of daclizumab in this indication. Further development of
daclizumab in asthma is ongoing. Early clinical trials such as Phase I and II trials generally are designed to gather information to determine whether further trials
are appropriate and, if so, how such trials should be designed. As a result, data gathered in these trials may indicate that the endpoints selected for these trials are
not the most relevant for purposes of assessing the product or the design of future trials. Moreover, success or failure in meeting such early clinical trial endpoints
may not be dispositive of whether further trials are appropriate and, if so, how such trials should be designed.

        Larger or later stage clinical trials may not produce the same results as earlier trials. Many companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries,
including our company, have suffered significant setbacks in clinical trials, including advanced clinical trials, even after promising results had been obtained in
earlier trials. As an example, the daclizumab Phase II clinical trials in moderate-to-severe ulcerative colitis, which did not meet the primary endpoint in May
2004, were based on earlier Phase I physician-sponsored clinical trials that indicated safety and biological activity for a small number of patients in this
indication.

        Even when a drug candidate shows evidence of efficacy in a clinical trial, it may be impossible to further develop or receive regulatory approval for the drug
if it causes an unacceptable incidence or severity of side effects, or further development may be slowed down by the need to find dosing regimens that do not
cause such side effects.

        In addition, we may not be able to successfully commence and complete all of our planned clinical trials without significant additional resources and
expertise because we have a relatively large number of potential products in clinical development. Additionally, regulatory review of our clinical trial protocols
may cause us in some cases to delay or abandon our planned clinical trials. Our potential inability to commence or continue clinical trials, to complete the clinical
trials on a timely basis or to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our potential products, further adds to the uncertainty of regulatory approval for our potential
products.

Our clinical trial strategy may increase the risk of clinical trial difficulties.

        Research, preclinical testing and clinical trials may take many years to complete and the time required can vary depending on the indication being pursued
and the nature of the product. We may at times elect to use aggressive clinical strategies in order to advance potential products through clinical development as
rapidly as possible. For example, we may commence clinical trials without conducting preclinical animal efficacy testing where an appropriate animal efficacy-
testing model does not exist, or we may conduct later stage trials based on limited early stage data. We anticipate that only some of our potential products may
show safety and efficacy in clinical trials and some may encounter difficulties or delays during clinical development.
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We may be unable to enroll sufficient patients in a timely manner in order to complete our clinical trials.

        The rate of completion of our clinical trials, and those of our collaborators, is significantly dependent upon the rate of patient enrollment. Patient enrollment
is a function of many factors, including:

• the size of the patient population; 

• perceived risks and benefits of the drug under study; 

• availability of competing therapies, including those in clinical development; 

• availability of clinical drug supply; 

• availability of clinical trial sites; 

• design of the protocol; 

• proximity of and access by patients to clinical sites; 

• patient referral practices of physicians; 

• eligibility criteria for the study in question; and 

• efforts of the sponsor of and clinical sites involved in the trial to facilitate timely enrollment.

        We may have difficulty obtaining sufficient patient enrollment or clinician support to conduct our clinical trials as planned, and we may need to expend
substantial additional funds to obtain access to resources or delay or modify our plans significantly. These considerations may result in our being unable to
successfully achieve our projected development timelines, or potentially even lead us to consider the termination of ongoing clinical trials or development of a
product for a particular indication.

Our revenues from licensed technologies depend on the efforts and successes of our licensees.

        In those instances where we have licensed rights to our technologies, the product development and marketing efforts and successes of our licensees will
determine the amount and timing of royalties we may receive, if any. We have no assurance that any licensee will successfully complete the product development,
regulatory and marketing efforts required to sell products. The success of products sold by licensees will be affected by competitive products, including potential
competing therapies that are marketed by the licensee or others.

Our lack of experience in sales, marketing and distribution may hamper market introduction and acceptance of our products.

        We intend to market and sell a number of our products either directly or through sales and marketing partnership arrangements with partners. To market
products directly, we must establish an internal marketing and sales group, contract for these services, or obtain the assistance of another company. Pursuant to the
terms of our revised collaboration agreement with Hoffmann-La Roche Inc. (Roche), we have a reversion right, exercisable in 2006, but effective in 2007, to
repurchase all rights, including marketing rights, in transplant indications, unless earlier elected by Roche. If we elect to exercise this right, or Roche elects to
transfer such rights to us, we will be responsible for the marketing and commercialization of Zenapax in all indications worldwide. While Roche must notify us at
least six months prior to a transfer of Zenapax to us, there can be no assurance that we will be able to establish marketing, sales and distribution capabilities for
Zenapax in a timely manner. Further, we may not be able to establish such capabilities for our other products or succeed in gaining market acceptance for our
products. If we were to enter into co-promotion or other marketing arrangements
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with pharmaceutical or biotechnology companies, our revenues would be subject to the payment provisions of these arrangements and could largely depend on
these partners' marketing and promotion efforts.

If we do not attract and retain key employees, our business could be impaired.

        To be successful we must attract additional and retain qualified clinical, manufacturing, scientific and management personnel. If we are unsuccessful in
retaining qualified personnel, our business could be impaired.

Manufacturing difficulties could delay commercialization of our products.

        Of the products that we currently have in clinical development, Roche and its affiliates are responsible for manufacturing Zenapax (daclizumab). In
connection with the restructuring of our collaboration agreement with Roche, we obtained the rights to manufacture Zenapax. We are responsible for
manufacturing our other products for our own development, and will begin manufacturing clinical supplies of Zenapax following a transition period that we
expect will extend to 2005. Our ability to successfully market and develop Zenapax, in particular in transplantation, depends upon our success in manufacturing
Zenapax at commercial scale. We have not manufactured this product in the past and we will need to show comparability with material used by Roche. There can
be no assurance that we will successfully and in a timely manner be capable of manufacturing Zenapax following the transfer of Zenapax to us by Roche.

        We intend to continue to manufacture potential products for use in preclinical and clinical trials using our manufacturing facility in accordance with standard
procedures that comply with appropriate regulatory standards. The manufacture of sufficient quantities of antibody products that comply with these standards is
an expensive, time-consuming and complex process and is subject to a number of risks that could result in delays and/or the inability to produce sufficient
quantities of such products in a commercially viable manner. Our collaborative partners and we have experienced some manufacturing difficulties. Product supply
interruptions could significantly delay clinical development of our potential products, reduce third-party or clinical researcher interest and support of proposed
clinical trials, and possibly delay commercialization and sales of these products. Manufacturing difficulties can even interrupt the supply of marketed products,
thereby reducing revenues and risking loss of market share.

        We do not have experience in manufacturing commercial supplies of our potential products, nor do we currently have sufficient facilities to manufacture all
of our potential products on a commercial scale. To obtain regulatory approvals and to create capacity to produce our products for commercial sale at an
acceptable cost, we will need to improve and expand our existing manufacturing capabilities. Our current plans are to validate and use our new manufacturing
plant in Brooklyn Park, Minnesota in order to manufacture initial commercial supplies of certain products, including Nuvion and daclizumab. Our ability to file
for, and to obtain, regulatory approvals for such products, as well as the timing of such filings, will depend on our ability to successfully operate our existing
manufacturing plant. We may be unable to do so, or to obtain regulatory approval or to successfully produce commercial supplies on a timely basis. Failure to do
so could delay commercialization of our products.

        In addition, as we implement construction and validation of our new Brooklyn Park, Minnesota manufacturing facility, we are implementing an enterprise
resource management software platform to support the operations of the Company, including our new manufacturing facility. These efforts will involve
substantial costs and resource commitments. Any construction, validation or other delays could impair our ability to obtain necessary regulatory approvals and to
produce adequate commercial supplies of our potential products on a timely basis. Failure to do so could delay commercialization of some of our products and
could impair our competitive position.
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Our revenue may be adversely affected by competition and rapid technological change.

        Potential competitors have developed and are developing human and humanized antibodies or other compounds for treating autoimmune and inflammatory
diseases, transplantation, asthma and cancers. In addition, a number of academic and commercial organizations are actively pursuing similar technologies, and
several companies have developed or may develop technologies that may compete with our antibody technology platform. Competitors may succeed in more
rapidly developing and marketing technologies and products that are more effective than our products or that would render our products or technology obsolete or
noncompetitive. Our collaborative partners may also independently develop products that are competitive with products that we have licensed to them. This could
reduce our revenues under our agreements with these partners.

        Any product that our collaborative partners or we succeed in developing and for which regulatory approval is obtained must then compete for market
acceptance and market share. The relative speed with which we and our collaborative partners can develop products, complete the clinical testing and approval
processes, and supply commercial quantities of the products to the market compared to competitive companies will affect market success. In addition, the amount
of marketing and sales resources and the effectiveness of the marketing used with respect to a product will affect its marketing success. For example, Novartis,
which has a significant marketing and sales force directed to the transplantation market, markets Simulect® (basiliximab), a product competitive with Zenapax, in
the United States and Europe. Novartis has acquired a significant interest in Roche.

We may be unable to obtain or maintain regulatory approval for our products.

        All of our products in development are subject to risks associated with applicable government regulations. The manufacturing, testing and marketing of our
products are subject to regulation by numerous governmental authorities in the United States and other countries. In the United States, pharmaceutical products
are subject to rigorous FDA regulation. Additionally, other federal, state and local regulations govern the manufacture, testing, clinical and non-clinical studies to
assess safety and efficacy, approval, advertising and promotion of pharmaceutical products. The process of obtaining approval for a new pharmaceutical product
or for additional therapeutic indications within this regulatory framework requires a number of years and the expenditure of substantial resources. Companies in
the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries, including us, have suffered significant setbacks in various stages of clinical trials, even in advanced clinical
trials after promising results had been obtained in earlier trials.

        As part of the regulatory approval process, we must demonstrate the ability to manufacture the pharmaceutical product. Accordingly, the manufacturing
process and quality control procedures must conform to rigorous guidelines in order to receive FDA approval. Pharmaceutical product manufacturing
establishments are subject to inspections by the FDA and local authorities as well as inspections by authorities of other countries. To supply pharmaceutical
products for use in the United States, foreign manufacturing establishments must comply with these FDA approved guidelines. These foreign manufacturing
establishments are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA or by corresponding regulatory agencies in these countries under reciprocal agreements with the
FDA. Moreover, pharmaceutical product manufacturing facilities may also be regulated by state, local and other authorities.

        In addition, during 2003 the FDA recently completed the transfer of regulatory responsibility, review and continuing oversight for many biologic therapeutic
products, including antibody therapeutics, from the Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER) to the Center for Drug Evaluation and Research
(CDER). This transfer of responsibility could result in new regulatory standards, which could result in delays in development or regulatory approvals for our
potential products. In addition, when we assume responsibility for manufacturing Zenapax, we will be required to demonstrate that the material
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manufactured by Roche is comparable to the material we produce at our manufacturing facilities. New regulations resulting from the transfer of regulatory
responsibility from CBER to CDER could make it more difficult for us to show comparability which could delay development and regulatory approval of
Zenapax in new indications or reduce or interrupt commercial sales of Zenapax for the prevention of acute kidney transplant rejection.

        For the marketing of pharmaceutical products outside the United States, our collaborative partners and we are subject to foreign regulatory requirements and,
if the particular product is manufactured in the United States, FDA and other U.S. export provisions. Requirements relating to the manufacturing, conduct of
clinical trials, product licensing, promotion, pricing and reimbursement vary widely in different countries. Difficulties or unanticipated costs or price controls may
be encountered by us or our licensees or marketing partners in our respective efforts to secure necessary governmental approvals. This could delay or prevent us,
our licensees or our marketing partners from marketing potential pharmaceutical products.

        Both before and after approval is obtained, a biologic pharmaceutical product, its manufacturer and the holder of the BLA for the pharmaceutical product are
subject to comprehensive regulatory oversight. The FDA may deny approval to a BLA if applicable regulatory criteria are not satisfied. Moreover, even if
regulatory approval is granted, such approval may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which the pharmaceutical product may be marketed. Further,
regulatory approvals may be withdrawn if compliance with regulatory standards is not maintained or if problems with the pharmaceutical product occur following
approval. In addition, under a BLA, the manufacturer continues to be subject to facility inspection and the applicant must assume responsibility for compliance
with applicable pharmaceutical product and establishment standards. Violations of regulatory requirements at any stage may result in various adverse
consequences, which may include, among other adverse actions, withdrawal of the previously approved pharmaceutical product or regulatory approvals and/or
the imposition of criminal penalties against the manufacturer and/or BLA holder.

Manufacturing changes may result in delays in obtaining regulatory approval or marketing for our products.

        Manufacturing of antibodies for use as therapeutics in compliance with regulatory requirements is complex, time-consuming and expensive. If we make
changes in the manufacturing process, we may be required to demonstrate to the FDA and corresponding foreign authorities that the changes have not caused the
resulting drug material to differ significantly from the drug material previously produced. Additionally, when we assume responsibility for manufacturing
Zenapax, we will be required to demonstrate that the material manufactured by Roche does not differ significantly from the material we produce at our
manufacturing facilities. Showing comparability between the material we produce before and after manufacturing changes, and in the case of Zenapax, between
the material produced by Roche and the drug material produced by us, is particularly important if we want to rely on results of prior preclinical studies and
clinical trials performed using the previously produced drug material. Depending upon the type and degree of differences between the newer and older drug
material, and in the case of Zenapax, between our material and the Roche material, we may be required to conduct additional animal studies or human clinical
trials to demonstrate that the newly produced drug material is sufficiently similar to the previously produced drug material. We have made manufacturing changes
and are likely to make additional manufacturing changes for the production of our products currently in clinical development. These manufacturing changes or an
inability to immediately show comparability between the Roche material and our material could result in delays in development or regulatory approvals or in
reduction or interruption of commercial sales and could impair our competitive position.
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Our business may be harmed if we cannot obtain sufficient quantities of raw materials.

        We depend on outside vendors for the supply of raw materials used to produce our product candidates. Once a supplier's materials have been selected for use
in our manufacturing process, the supplier in effect becomes a sole or limited source of that raw material due to regulatory compliance procedures. If the third-
party suppliers were to cease production or otherwise fail to supply us with quality raw materials and we were unable to contract on acceptable terms for these
services with alternative suppliers, our ability to produce our products and to conduct preclinical testing and clinical trials of product candidates would be
adversely affected. This could impair our competitive position.

We may be subject to product liability claims, and our insurance coverage may not be adequate to cover these claims.

        We face an inherent business risk of exposure to product liability claims in the event that the use of products during research and development efforts or after
commercialization results in adverse effects. This risk will exist even with respect to any products that receive regulatory approval for commercial sale. While we
have obtained liability insurance for our products, it may not be sufficient to satisfy any liability that may arise. Also, adequate insurance coverage may not be
available in the future at acceptable cost, if at all.

We may incur significant costs in order to comply with environmental regulations or to defend claims arising from accidents involving the use of
hazardous materials.

        We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, discharge, handling and disposal of materials and wastes used in our
operations. As a result, we may be required to incur significant costs to comply with these laws and regulations. We cannot eliminate the risk of accidental
contamination or injury from these materials. In the event of such an accident, we could be held liable for any resulting damages and incur liabilities which
exceed our resources. In addition, we cannot predict the extent of the adverse effect on our business or the financial and other costs that might result from any
new government requirements arising out of future legislative, administrative or judicial actions.

Changes in the U.S. and international health care industry could adversely affect our revenues.

        The U.S. and international health care industry is subject to changing political, economic and regulatory influences that may significantly affect the
purchasing practices and pricing of pharmaceuticals. Cost containment measures, whether instituted by health care providers or imposed by government health
administration regulators or new regulations, could result in greater selectivity in the purchase of drugs. As a result, third-party payors may challenge the price
and cost effectiveness of our products. In addition, in many major markets outside the United States, pricing approval is required before sales can commence. As
a result, significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursement status of approved health care products.

        We may not be able to obtain or maintain our desired price for our products. Our products may not be considered cost effective relative to alternative
therapies. As a result, adequate third-party reimbursement may not be available to enable us to maintain prices sufficient to realize an appropriate return on our
investment in product development. Also, the trend towards managed health care in the United States and the concurrent growth of organizations such as health
maintenance organizations, as well as legislative proposals to reform health care or reduce government insurance programs, may all result in lower prices,
reduced reimbursement levels and diminished markets for our products. These factors will also affect the products that are marketed by our collaborative partners.

19



Our common stock price is volatile and an investment in our company could decline in value.

        Market prices for securities of biotechnology companies, including ourselves, have been highly volatile so that investment in our securities involves
substantial risk. Additionally, the stock market from time to time has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that may be unrelated to the operating
performance of particular companies. The following are some of the factors that may have a significant effect on the market price of our common stock:

• developments or disputes as to patent or other proprietary rights; 

• disappointing sales of approved products; 

• approval or introduction of competing products and technologies; 

• results of clinical trials; 

• failures or unexpected delays in obtaining regulatory approvals or unfavorable FDA advisory panel recommendations; 

• delays in manufacturing or clinical trial plans; 

• fluctuations in our operating results; 

• disputes or disagreements with collaborative partners; 

• market reaction to announcements by other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies; 

• announcements of technological innovations or new commercial therapeutic products by us or our competitors; 

• initiation, termination or modification of agreements with our collaborative partners; 

• loss of key personnel; 

• litigation or the threat of litigation; 

• public concern as to the safety of drugs developed by us; 

• sales of our common stock held by collaborative partners or insiders; 

• comments and expectations of results made by securities analysts; and 

• general market conditions.

        If any of these factors causes us to fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors, or if adverse conditions prevail or are perceived to prevail
with respect to our business, the price of the common stock would likely drop significantly. A significant drop in the price of a company's common stock often
leads to the filing of securities class action litigation against the company. This type of litigation against us could result in substantial costs and a diversion of
management's attention and resources.

We may not have the ability to raise the funds to repurchase the 2.75% $250 million convertible notes on the repurchase date or to finance any
repurchase offer required by the indenture.

        In August 2010, August 2013 and August 2018, respectively, holders of our $250 million convertible notes (the Notes) may require us to repurchase all or a
portion of their notes at 100% of their principal amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, such date. For notes to be repurchased in
August 2010, we must pay for the repurchase in cash, and we may pay for the repurchase of notes to be repurchased in August 2013 and August 2018, at our
option, in cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock. In addition, if a repurchase event occurs (as defined in the
indenture), each holder of the Notes may require us to

20



repurchase all or a portion of the holder's notes. We cannot assure you that there will be sufficient funds available for any required repurchases of these securities.
In addition, the terms of any agreements related to borrowing which we may enter into from time to time may prohibit or limit our repurchase of notes or make
our repurchase of notes an event of default under certain circumstances. If a repurchase event occurs at a time when a credit agreement prohibits us from
purchasing the Notes, we could seek the consent of the lender to purchase the Notes or could attempt to refinance the debt covered by the credit agreement. If we
do not obtain a consent, we may not purchase the Notes. Our failure to purchase tendered notes would constitute an event of default under the indenture, which
might also constitute a default under the terms of our other debt. In such circumstances, our financial condition and the value of our securities could be materially
harmed.

Legislative actions, potential new accounting pronouncements and higher insurance costs are likely to impact our future financial position or results of
operations.

        Future changes in financial accounting standards, including proposed changes in accounting for employee stock-based awards, may cause adverse,
unexpected fluctuations in the timing of the recognition of revenues or expenses and may affect our financial position or results of operations. New
pronouncements and varying interpretations of pronouncements have occurred with frequency and may occur in the future and we may make changes in our
accounting policies in the future. Compliance with changing regulation of corporate governance and public disclosure may result in additional expenses.
Changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, new SEC regulations
and Nasdaq National Market rules, are creating uncertainty for companies such as ours and insurance costs are increasing as a result of this uncertainty and other
factors. We are committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and public disclosure. As a result, we intend to invest all reasonably necessary
resources to comply with evolving standards, and this investment may result in increased general and administrative expenses and a diversion of management
time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities.

Prior and future acquisitions could be difficult to integrate, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value and harm our operating results.

        In April 2003, we completed the acquisition of a privately owned company, Eos Biotechnology, Inc. We expect to continue to review opportunities to acquire
other businesses, products or technologies that would complement our current products, expand the breadth of our markets or enhance our technical capabilities,
or that may otherwise offer growth opportunities. In our acquisition of Eos, we issued stock as all of the consideration. The issuance of stock in these and any
future transactions will dilute stockholders' percentage ownership.

        Other risks associated with acquiring the operations of other companies include:

• problems assimilating the purchased operations, technologies or products; 

• unanticipated costs associated with the acquisition; 

• diversion of management's attention from our existing business; 

• the potential loss of key collaborators of the acquired companies; 

• lack of synergy, or the inability to realize expected synergies, resulting from the acquisition; 

• adverse effects on existing relationships with other third-party business partners; 

• risks associated with entering markets in which we have no, or limited, prior experience; and 

• potential loss of key employees of acquired organizations.
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        We cannot assure that we would be successful in overcoming problems encountered in connection with such acquisitions, and our inability to do so could
significantly harm our business. In addition, to the extent that the economic benefits associated with such acquisitions diminish in the future, we may be required
to record write downs of goodwill, intangible assets or other assets associated with such acquisitions.

RISKS RELATED TO THE NOTES

The notes are subordinated to our senior indebtedness and are effectively subordinated to all liabilities of our subsidiaries.

        The notes are junior in right of payment to all of our existing and future senior indebtedness and are effectively subordinated to all liabilities of our
subsidiaries, including trade payables. However, payment to the holders of the notes from the proceeds of the US government securities pledged to the trustee as
security for the exclusive ratable benefit of the holders of the notes, as described under "Description of notes—Security," will not be subordinated to any senior
indebtedness or subject to the subordination restrictions described in this prospectus. As of June 30, 2004, our subsidiaries had approximately $8.2 million of
indebtedness and other obligations that would effectively rank senior to the notes. The indenture governing the notes does not restrict the incurrence of senior
indebtedness or other debt by us or our subsidiaries, nor does it restrict the issuance of liens on our property. None of our subsidiaries has guaranteed or otherwise
become obligated with respect to the notes, and, as a result, the notes are effectively subordinated to all indebtedness and other obligations of our subsidiaries
with respect to our subsidiaries' assets. By reason of such subordination, except as described in "Description of Notes—Security," in the event of the insolvency,
bankruptcy, liquidation, reorganization, dissolution or winding up of our business, our assets will be available to pay the amounts due on the notes only after all of
our senior indebtedness has been paid in full, and, therefore, there may not be sufficient assets remaining to pay amounts due on any or all of the notes then
outstanding. See "Description of notes—Subordination of notes."

We have made only limited covenants in the indenture, which may not protect your investment if we experience significant adverse changes in our
financial condition or results of operations.

        The indenture governing the notes does not:

• require us to maintain any financial ratios or specified levels of net worth, revenues, income, cash flow or liquidity and, therefore, does not protect
holders of the notes in the event that we experience significant adverse changes in our financial condition or results of operations; 

• limit our ability or the ability of any of our subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness that is senior to or equal in right of payment to the notes; 

• restrict our ability or that of our subsidiaries to issue securities that would be senior to the common stock of our subsidiaries; 

• restrict our ability to pledge our assets or those of our subsidiaries; or 

• restrict our ability to make investments or to pay dividends or make other payments in respect of our common stock or other securities ranking
junior to the notes.

        Therefore, you should not consider the covenants contained in the indenture as a significant factor in evaluating whether we will be able to comply with our
obligations under the notes.
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You may not be able to resell the notes or the common stock issuable upon conversion.

        We have agreed to keep the shelf registration statement, of which this prospectus constitutes a part, continuously effective under the Securities Act until such
time as these are no longer any registrable securities covered thereby. Although we are obligated to register resales of the notes and the common stock issuable
upon the conversion of the notes under the Securities Act for a limited period of time, we cannot assure you as to the ability of holders to sell their notes or the
common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes or that the registration statement will be available to holders at all times. In addition, selling security holders
may be subject to certain restrictions and potential liability under the Securities Act.

Illiquidity and the absence of a public market for the notes could cause purchasers of the notes to be unable to resell them for an extended period of
time.

        There is no established trading market for the notes. We have been informed by the initial purchasers that they intend to make a market in the notes after the
offering is completed. The initial purchasers may cease their market-making at any time without notice. Although the notes are designated for trading on The
PORTAL Market, an active trading market for the notes may not develop or, if such market develops, it could be very illiquid. The relatively small size of the
original issue ($250.0 million) could have a negative impact on the liquidity of the notes.

        Holders of the notes may experience difficulty in reselling, or an inability to sell, the notes. If a market for the notes develops, any such market may be
discontinued at any time. If a trading market develops for the notes, future trading prices of the notes will depend on many factors, including, among other things,
the price of our common stock into which the notes are convertible, prevailing interest rates, our operating results, liquidity of the issue and the market for similar
securities. Depending on the price of our common stock into which the notes are convertible, prevailing interest rates, liquidity of the issue, the market for similar
securities and other factors, including our financial condition, the notes may trade at a discount from their principal amount.
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USE OF PROCEEDS 

        We will not receive any proceeds from the sale by an securityholders of the notes or the shares of our common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes.
See "Selling Securityholders."

PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK 

        Our common stock trades on The Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "PDLI." The following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and
low closing bid prices for our common stock as quoted on The Nasdaq National Market. On October 9, 2001, we effected a two-for-one stock split of our
common stock in the form of a dividend of one share of Protein Design Labs, Inc. common stock for each share held at the close of business on September 18,
2001. Our stock began trading on a split-adjusted basis as of October 10, 2001.

  

High

 

Low

2002       
 First Quarter  $ 31.48 $ 14.93
 Second Quarter   20.02  8.95
 Third Quarter   13.54  8.30
 Fourth Quarter   9.82  7.43
2003       
 First Quarter  $ 9.90 $ 6.98
 Second Quarter   18.91  7.49
 Third Quarter   15.77  10.81
 Fourth Quarter   18.10  12.53
2004       
 First Quarter  $ 25.08 $ 17.37
 Second Quarter   27.23  16.47
 Third Quarter (through August 27)   19.08  15.02

        On August 27, 2004, the closing bid price quoted on The Nasdaq National Market for the common stock was $18.86 per share. On August 27, 2004, there
were approximately 236 holders of record of our common stock. Because many of these shares are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of
stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these record holders.

DIVIDEND POLICY 

        We have never paid any cash dividends on our capital stock and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES 

        The following summary is qualified by the more detailed information and historical consolidated financial statements, including the notes to those financial
statements, appearing in the computation table found in Exhibit 12.1, appearing elsewhere, or incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

 
 

Year Ended December 31,   
 

 

Six months
ended June 30,

2004

  

1999

 

2000

 

2001

 

2002

 

2003

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges  N/A 1.07 1.26 N/A N/A N/A
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DESCRIPTION OF NOTES 

        We issued the 2.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2023 under an indenture dated as of July 14, 2003, between us and J.P. Morgan Trust Company,
National Association, as trustee. The following summary of the terms of the notes, the indenture and the registration rights agreement does not purport to be
complete and is subject, and qualified in its entirety by reference, to the detailed provisions of these documents. We will provide copies of the indenture and the
registration rights agreement to prospective investors upon request, and they are also available for inspection at the office of the trustee. Those documents, and not
this description, define your legal rights as a holder of the notes. For purposes of this summary, the terms "Protein Design Labs," "we," "us" and "our" refer only
to Protein Design Labs, Inc. and not to any of its subsidiaries. References to "interest" shall be deemed to include "liquidated damages," unless the context
otherwise requires.

GENERAL

        Except as described under "—Security," the notes constitute unsecured indebtedness and are subordinated in right of payment to our senior indebtedness as
described under "—Subordination of notes." The notes are convertible into our common stock as described under "—Conversion Rights." Under the
circumstances described under "—Holders may require us to repurchase their notes upon a repurchase event" and "—Purchase of notes by us at the holder's
option," a holder may require us to purchase notes prior to maturity or redemption. The notes will be limited to $250,000,000 aggregate principal amount. Interest
on the notes will be payable semi-annually on February 16 and August 16 of each year, with the first interest payment to be made on February 16, 2004, at the
rate of 2.75% per annum, to the persons who are registered holders of the notes at the close of business on the preceding February 1 and August 1, respectively.
Unless previously redeemed, repurchased or converted, the notes will mature on August 16, 2023. If any payment date with respect to the notes falls on a day that
is not a business day, we will make that payment on the next succeeding business day. The payment made on the next succeeding business day will be treated as
though it had been made on the original payment date, and no interest will accrue on the payment for the additional period of time.

        The notes may be issued only in denominations of $1,000 and integral multiples thereof. Payments in respect of the notes represented by the global securities
will be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts specified by the holders of the global securities. With respect to any notes
subsequently issued in certificated form, we will make payments by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the accounts specified by the holders thereof
or, if no such account is specified, by mailing a check to each holder's registered address.

        Holders may convert notes at the office of the conversion agent and may present notes for registration of transfer at the office of the registrar for the notes.
The conversion agent and registrar for the notes initially will be the trustee. Interest on the notes will be paid on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day
months. No sinking fund is provided for the notes. The indenture does not contain any financial covenants and does not limit our ability to incur additional
indebtedness (including senior indebtedness), pay dividends or repurchase our securities. In addition, the indenture does not provide any protection to holders of
notes in the event of a highly leveraged transaction or a change in control, except, and only to the limited extent, as described under "—Holders may require us to
repurchase their notes upon a repurchase event" and "—Consolidation, merger and sale of assets."

SECURITY

        On July 14, 2003, the closing date of the offering, we purchased US government securities in an aggregate amount equal to $20.7 million which is sufficient
to provide for payment in full of the first six scheduled interest payments on the notes when due. The US government securities have been pledged to the trustee
as security for the notes and for the exclusive ratable benefit of the holders of
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the notes (and not for the benefit of our other creditors) and will be held and invested by the trustee in accordance with the terms of the pledge agreement that we
have entered into with the trustee. We refer to payments on the notes derived from the pledged US government securities as "permitted payments" in this
prospectus. The US government securities have been pledged to the trustee for the exclusive ratable benefit of the holders of the notes, which is held by the
trustee in a pledge account in accordance with a pledge agreement dated as of July 14, 2003 between Protein Design Labs and J.P. Morgan Trust Company in its
capacity as trustee and a control agreement dated as of July 14, 2003 by and among Protein Design Labs and J.P. Morgan in its capacity as trustee and J.P. Morgan
Chase Bank in its capacity as securities intermediary and depository bank. Immediately prior to each of the first six interest payment dates, the trustee will release
from the pledge account proceeds sufficient to pay interest then due on the notes. We may also make additional payments to the trustee to ensure that sufficient
funds are available to pay interest then due on the notes, if necessary. A failure to pay interest on the notes when due through the first six scheduled interest
payment dates will constitute an event of default under the indenture. The pledged US government securities and the pledge account will also secure, to the extent
available, the repayment of the principal amount on the notes. If prior to August 16, 2006:

• an event of default under the notes or the indenture occurs and is continuing; and 

• the trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding accelerate the notes by declaring the
principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest to be immediately due and payable (by written consent, at a meeting of holders of
the notes or otherwise), except for the occurrence of an event of default relating to our bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization, or that of any of
our significant subsidiaries, upon which the notes will be accelerated automatically,

then the proceeds from the pledged US government securities will be promptly released for payment to the holders of the notes, subject to the automatic stay
provisions of bankruptcy law, if applicable. Distributions from the pledge account will be applied:

• first, to any accrued and unpaid interest on the notes; and 

• second, to the extent available, to the repayment of a portion of the principal amount of the notes.

        If an event of default is not cured prior to the acceleration of the notes by the trustee or holders of the notes referred to above, the trustee and the holders of
the notes will be able to accelerate the notes as a result of that event of default. For example, if the first two interest payments were made when due but the third
interest payment was not made when due and the holders of the notes promptly exercised their right to declare the principal amount of the notes to be
immediately due and payable, then, assuming the automatic stay provisions of bankruptcy law are not applicable and the proceeds of the pledged US government
securities are promptly distributed from the pledge account:

• an amount equal to the interest payment due on the third interest payment would be distributed from the pledge account as payment for accrued
interest; and 

• the balance of the proceeds of the pledge account would be distributed as payment for a portion of the principal amount of the notes.

        In addition, holders would have an unsecured claim against us for the remainder of the principal amount of their notes.

        Once we make the first six scheduled interest payments on the notes, all of the remaining pledged US government securities and cash, if any, will be released
to us from the pledge account, and the notes will thereafter be unsecured.
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CONVERSION RIGHTS

        Holders of notes are entitled, at any time after the initial issuance of the notes and before the close of business on the date of maturity, subject to prior
repurchase, to convert the notes or portions thereof (if the portions are $1,000 or whole multiples thereof) into 49.6618 shares of our common stock per $1,000 of
principal amount of notes, subject to adjustment as described below. This rate results in an initial conversion price of approximately $20.14 per share. We will not
issue fractional shares of common stock upon conversion of notes and instead will pay a cash adjustment based on the market price of the common stock on the
last trading day prior to the conversion date.

        If a note is converted after the close of business on a record date for the payment of interest and prior to the next succeeding interest payment date, notes
submitted for conversion must be accompanied by funds equal to the interest payable to the registered holder on the interest payment date on the principal amount
of such notes submitted for conversion. We will then make the interest payment due on the interest payment date to the registered holder of the note on the record
date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any notes submitted for conversion need not be accompanied by any funds if they have been called for redemption.

        As soon as practicable following the conversion date, we will deliver through the conversion agent a certificate for the number of full shares of common
stock into which any note is converted, together with any cash payment for fractional shares. For a discussion of the tax treatment of a holder receiving common
shares upon surrendering notes for conversion, see "Certain US federal tax considerations—US holders—Conversion of the notes" and "Certain US federal tax
considerations—Non-US holders—Conversion of the notes." We will adjust the conversion rate for:

• dividends or distributions on shares of our common stock payable in shares of our common stock; 

• subdivisions, combinations or certain reclassifications of our common stock; 

• distributions to all or substantially all holders of our common stock of certain rights or warrants entitling them for a period of not more than
60 days to purchase common stock or securities convertible into common stock at a price per share less than the current market price at the time
(provided, that the conversion rate will be readjusted to the extent the rights or warrants are not exercised prior to their expiration); 

• dividends or other distributions to all or substantially all holders of our common stock of shares of capital stock other than our common stock,
evidences of indebtedness or other assets (other than cash dividends) or the dividend or other distribution to all or substantially all holders of our
common stock of certain rights or warrants (other than those covered above) to purchase our securities; provided, however, that if these rights or
warrants are only exercisable upon the occurrence of specified triggering events, then the conversion rate will not be adjusted until the triggering
events occur; 

• cash dividends or distributions to all or substantially all holders of our common stock; or 

• distributions of cash or other consideration by us or any of our subsidiaries in respect of a tender offer or exchange offer for our common stock,
where such cash and the value of any such other consideration per share of our common stock exceeds the closing sale price per share of our
common stock on the trading day next succeeding the last date on which tenders or exchanges may be made pursuant to such tender or exchange
offer.

        If we distribute cash in accordance with the fifth bullet point above, then the conversion rate will be increased so that it equals the rate determined by
multiplying the conversion rate in effect on the record date with respect to the cash distribution by a fraction whose numerator is the 10-day average closing sales
price of a share of our common stock on the record date and whose denominator is the
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same price per share on the record date less the amount of the distribution. We will not adjust the conversion rate, however, if we make provision for holders of
notes to participate in the transaction without conversion.

        No adjustment in the effective conversion rate will be required unless the adjustment would require a change of at least 1% in the then effective conversion
price; provided that any adjustment that would otherwise be required to be made will be carried forward and taken into account in any subsequent adjustment.

        We may at any time increase the conversion rate by any amount for any period of time, provided that the then effective conversion price is not less than the
par value of a share of our common stock, the period during which the increased rate is in effect is at least 20 days or such longer period as may be required by
law and the increased rate is irrevocable during such period. We may also increase the conversion rate to avoid or diminish income tax to holders of our common
stock in connection with a dividend or distribution of stock or similar event. We are required to give at least 15 days' prior notice of any increase in the conversion
rate.

        If we reclassify our common stock or are party to a consolidation, merger or binding share exchange, or a transaction involving the sale or other conveyance
of all or substantially all of our assets, pursuant to which our common stock is converted into cash, securities or other property, then at the effective time of the
transaction, the right to convert a note into common stock will be changed into a right to convert it into the kind and amount of cash, securities or other property
which the holder would have received if the holder had converted its note immediately prior to the transaction. This calculation will be based on the assumption
that the holder would not have exercised any rights of election that the holder would have had as a holder of common stock to select a particular type of
consideration. Any such change could substantially lessen or eliminate the value of the conversion privilege associated with the notes in the future. For example,
if we were acquired in a cash merger, each note would be convertible into cash and would no longer be convertible into securities whose value would vary
depending on our future prospects and other factors.

        There is no precise, established definition of the term "all or substantially all of our assets" under applicable law. Accordingly, there may be uncertainty as to
whether the foregoing provision would apply to a sale or other conveyance of less than all of our assets.

        If we implement a stockholders' rights plan, we will be required under the indenture to provide that the holders of notes will receive the rights upon
conversion of the notes, whether or not these rights were separated from the common stock prior to conversion. Except as stated above, the number of shares
issuable on conversion will not be adjusted for the issuance of common stock or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for common stock, or carrying the
right to purchase any of the foregoing.

        In the event of:

• a taxable distribution to holders of shares of common stock which results in an adjustment of the conversion rate; or 

• an increase in the conversion rate at our discretion,

the holders of the notes may, in certain circumstances, be deemed to have received a distribution subject to US federal income tax as a dividend. See "Certain US
federal tax considerations—US holders—Adjustment to conversion price." A note for which a holder has delivered a notice, as described below, requiring its
repurchase may be surrendered for conversion only if such notice is withdrawn in accordance with the indenture.
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REDEMPTION OF NOTES AT OUR OPTION

        Prior to August 16, 2008, we cannot redeem the notes. On or after August 16, 2008, we will have the option to redeem the notes, in whole or in part, on any
date not less than 30 nor more than 60 days after the mailing of a redemption notice to each holder of notes to be redeemed at the holder's address in the security
register for a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be redeemed plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the redemption date.
However, if a redemption date is an interest payment date, the semi-annual payment of interest becoming due on such date will be payable to the holder of record
on the relevant record date and the redemption price will not include such interest payment.

        If we will redeem less than all of the outstanding notes, the trustee will select the notes to be redeemed in integral multiples of $1,000 principal amount by
lot, on a pro rata basis or in accordance with any other method the trustee considers fair and appropriate. If a portion of a holder's notes is selected for partial
redemption and the holder converts a portion of the notes, the converted portion shall be deemed to be the portion selected for redemption.

PURCHASE OF NOTES BY US AT THE HOLDER'S OPTION

        On each of August 16, 2010, August 16, 2013 and August 16, 2018 (each, a "purchase date"), a holder shall have the option to require us to purchase, at a
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes to be purchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the purchase date, all or a
portion of such holder's outstanding notes for which the holder has given, and not withdrawn, a written purchase notice, subject to certain additional conditions.
Holders may submit their written purchase notice to the paying agent at any time from the opening of business on the date that is 20 business days prior to the
purchase date until the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the purchase date. We will pay the purchase price for notes to be purchased
on August 16, 2010 in cash. We will pay the purchase price for notes to be purchased on August 16, 2013 and August 16, 2018 in cash, shares of our common
stock or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, solely at our option, provided that we will pay any accrued and unpaid interest in cash. The
number of shares of our common stock a holder will receive will equal the portion of the purchase price to be paid in shares of our common stock divided by the
average of the closing sale price of our common stock for the 10 trading days immediately preceding, and including, the third business day immediately preceding
the purchase date, subject to the provisions of the indenture. The closing sale price of our common stock used in this calculation will be adjusted appropriately in
the event of a stock split, stock dividend or a subdivision or combination of our common stock or a similar event that occurs during such 10 trading days. Because
this average closing sale price of our common stock is determined before the purchase date, holders bear the market risk that our common stock will decline in
value between the date this average sale price is determined and the purchase date. Upon determining the actual number of shares of our common stock to be paid
to purchase the notes, we will disseminate a press release through PR Newswire containing this information or publish the information on our website or through
such other public medium as we may use at that time.

        Notwithstanding the above, we may not pay the purchase price in shares of our common stock, or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock,
unless we satisfy certain conditions, as provided in the indenture, before the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the purchase date,
including the following:

• registering the shares of our common stock to be issued as payment for the notes to be purchased under the Securities Act; 

• qualifying the shares of our common stock to be issued as payment for the notes to be purchased under applicable state securities laws, if
necessary; and
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• listing the shares of our common stock to be issued as payment for the notes to be purchased on a US national securities exchange or qualifying
the shares for quotation on The Nasdaq National Market.

        For a discussion of the tax treatment of a holder receiving cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock, see
"Certain US federal tax considerations."

        We will be required to give notice on a date not less than 20 business days prior to each purchase date to all holders at their addresses shown in the register of
the registrar, and to beneficial owners as required by applicable law, stating, among other things:

• the amount of the purchase price; and 

• the procedures that holders must follow to require us to purchase their notes.

        With respect to notes to be purchased on August 16, 2013 or August 16, 2018, the notice shall also state:

• whether we will pay the purchase price of the notes in cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and shares of our common
stock, specifying the percentages of each; and 

• if we elect to pay with shares of our common stock, the method of calculating the price of our common stock.

        The purchase notice of holders electing to require us to purchase notes shall state:

• the certificate numbers of the holder's notes to be delivered for purchase; 

• the portion of the principal amount of notes to be purchased, which must be an integral multiple of $1,000; and 

• that we are to purchase the notes pursuant to the applicable provisions of the notes.

        With respect to notes to be purchased on August 16, 2013 or August 16, 2018, the purchase notice shall also state:

• in the event we elect, pursuant to our notice to holders described above, to pay the purchase price in shares of our common stock, in whole or in
part, but the purchase price is ultimately to be paid to the holder entirely in cash because any of the conditions to payment of the purchase price or
portion of the purchase price in shares of our common stock is not satisfied before the close of business on the business day immediately
preceding the purchase date, whether the holder elects: 

• to withdraw the purchase notice as to some or all of the notes to which it relates, stating such amount to be so withdrawn, which amount must be
an integral multiple of $1,000; or 

• to receive cash in respect of the entire purchase price for all notes subject to the purchase notice.

        If the holder fails to indicate the holder's choice with respect to the election described in the bullet point above, the holder will be deemed to have elected to
receive cash in respect of the entire purchase price for all notes subject to the purchase notice.

        A holder may withdraw a purchase notice by a written notice of withdrawal delivered to the paying agent prior to the close of business on the business day
prior to the purchase date. The notice of withdrawal shall state:

• the principal amount being withdrawn, which must be an integral multiple of $1,000; 

• the certificate numbers of the notes being withdrawn; and
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• the principal amount, if any, of the notes that remain subject to the purchase notice.

        In connection with any purchase offer, we will, if required:

• comply with the provisions of Rule 13e-4, Rule 14e-1 and any other tender offer rules under the Exchange Act which may then be applicable; and 

• file a Schedule TO or any other required schedule under the Exchange Act.

        Payment of the purchase price for a note for which a purchase notice has been delivered and not validly withdrawn is conditioned upon delivery of the note,
together with necessary endorsements, to the paying agent at any time after delivery of the purchase notice. Payment of the purchase price for the note will be
made as soon as practicable but in no event more than three business days after the later of the purchase date or the date the note is delivered.

        If the paying agent holds money and/or shares of our common stock, as applicable, sufficient to pay a note's purchase price on the purchase date in
accordance with the indenture, then, immediately after the purchase date, the note will cease to be outstanding and cash interest on such note will cease to accrue,
whether or not the note is delivered to the paying agent. Thereafter, all other rights of the note's holder shall terminate, other than the right to receive the purchase
price upon delivery of the note.

        We cannot assure you that we would have the financial resources, or would be able to arrange for financing, to pay the purchase price for all notes delivered
by holders seeking to exercise the purchase right. Further, our payment of the purchase price could be prohibited under the indenture's subordination provisions or
the terms of our existing or future indebtedness. Our failure to purchase the notes when required would result in an event of default with respect to the notes. Such
event of default may, in turn, cause a default under our senior indebtedness. For more details, see "Subordination of notes."

        We will not be able to purchase the notes at the holders' option if an event of default exists with respect to the notes, other than a default in the payment of
the purchase price with respect to such notes.

HOLDERS MAY REQUIRE US TO REPURCHASE THEIR NOTES UPON A REPURCHASE EVENT

        If a repurchase event (as described below) occurs, each holder will have the right, at its option, subject to the terms and conditions of the indenture, to
require us to repurchase for cash all or any portion of the holder's notes in integral multiples of $1,000 principal amount, at a price equal to 100% of the principal
amount of the notes tendered, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, the repurchase date. We will be required to repurchase the notes no later than
30 days after notice of a repurchase event has been mailed as described below. We refer to this date as the "repurchase date."

        Within 15 days after the occurrence of a repurchase event, we must mail to the trustee and to all holders of notes at their addresses shown in the register of
the registrar and to beneficial owners as required by applicable law a notice regarding the repurchase event, which notice must state, among other things:

• the events causing the repurchase event; 

• the date of such repurchase event; 

• the last date on which a holder may exercise the repurchase right; 

• the repurchase price; 

• the repurchase date;
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• the name and address of the paying agent and the conversion agent; 

• the conversion rate and any adjustments to the conversion rate that will result from the repurchase event; 

• that notes with respect to which a repurchase notice is given by a holder may be converted, if otherwise convertible, only if the repurchase notice
has been withdrawn in accordance with the indenture; and 

• the procedures that holders must follow to exercise these rights.

        To exercise this right, the holder must transmit to the paying agent a written repurchase notice, and the paying agent must receive it no later than the close of
business on the business day immediately preceding the repurchase date. The notice must state:

• the certificate numbers of the notes to be delivered by the holder, if applicable; 

• the portion of the principal amount of notes to be repurchased, which portion must be an integral multiple of $1,000; and 

• that such notes are being tendered for repurchase pursuant to the repurchase event repurchase provisions of the indenture.

        A holder may withdraw any repurchase notice by delivering to the paying agent a written notice of withdrawal prior to the close of business on the business
day immediately preceding the repurchase date. The notice of withdrawal must state:

• the principal amount of notes being withdrawn, which must be an integral multiple of $1,000; 

• the certificate numbers of the notes being withdrawn, if applicable; and 

• the principal amount, if any, of the notes that remain subject to a repurchase notice.

        Our obligation to pay the repurchase price for a note for which a repurchase notice has been delivered and not validly withdrawn is conditioned upon
delivery of the note, together with necessary endorsements, to the paying agent at any time after the delivery of such repurchase notice. We will cause the
repurchase price for such note to be paid promptly following the later of the repurchase date or the time of delivery of such note.

        If the paying agent holds money sufficient to pay a note's repurchase price on the repurchase date in accordance with the indenture, then, immediately after
the repurchase date, the note will cease to be outstanding, and interest on such note will cease to accrue, whether or not the note is delivered to the paying agent.
Thereafter, all other rights of the note's holder shall terminate, other than the right to receive the repurchase price upon delivery of the note.

        A "repurchase event" shall be deemed to have occurred upon the occurrence of either a "change in control" or a "termination of trading."

        A "change in control" will be deemed to have occurred at such time as:

• any "person" or "group" (as such terms are used for purposes of Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) is or becomes the "beneficial
owner" (as such term is used in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of 50% or more of the total voting power of all classes
of our capital stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors ("voting stock"); 

• at any time the following persons cease for any reason to constitute a majority of our board of directors: 

• individuals who on the issue date of the notes constituted our board of directors; and
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• any new directors whose election to our board of directors or whose nomination for election by our stockholders was approved by at least a
majority of the directors then still in office who were directors on the issue date of the notes or whose election or nomination for election was
previously so approved; 

• we consolidate with, or merge with or into, another person or any person consolidates with, or merges with or into, us, in any such event other than
pursuant to a transaction in which the persons that "beneficially owned," directly or indirectly, the shares of our voting stock immediately prior to
such transaction, "beneficially own," directly or indirectly, immediately after such transaction, shares of our voting stock representing at least a
majority of the total voting power of all outstanding classes of voting stock of the continuing or surviving corporation; 

• the sale, lease, transfer or other conveyance or disposition of all or substantially all of our assets or property to any "person" or "group" (as such
terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act), including any group acting for the purpose of acquiring, holding or disposing of
securities within the meaning of Rule 13d-5(b)(1) under the Exchange Act; or 

• we are liquidated or dissolved, or our stockholders approve any plan or proposal for our liquidation or dissolution.

        However, a change in control will not be deemed to have occurred if:

• the closing sales price of our common stock for each of any five trading days during the 10 trading days immediately preceding the change in
control is equal to at least 105% of the conversion price in effect on such trading day; 

• in the case of a merger or consolidation, all of the consideration (excluding cash payments for fractional shares and cash payments pursuant to
dissenters' or appraisal rights) in the merger or consolidation constituting the change in control consists of common stock traded on a US national
securities exchange or quoted on The Nasdaq National Market (or which will be so traded or quoted when issued or exchanged in connection with
such change in control) and as a result of such transaction or transactions the notes become convertible solely into such common stock; or 

• in the case of a qualifying foreign merger (as described under "—Consolidation, merger and sale of assets"), all of the consideration (excluding
cash payments for fractional shares and cash payments pursuant to dissenters' or appraisal rights) in the qualifying foreign merger constituting the
change in control consists of common stock or American Depository Shares representing such common stock traded on a US national securities
exchange or quoted on The Nasdaq National Market (or which will be so traded or quoted when issued or exchanged in connection with such
change in control) and as a result of such transaction or transactions the notes become convertible solely into such common stock or American
Depository Shares.

        There is no precise, established definition of the term "all or substantially all of our assets" under applicable law. Accordingly, there may be uncertainty as to
whether the foregoing provisions would apply to a sale or other conveyance of less than all of our assets.

        A "termination of trading" shall occur if our common stock (or other common stock into which the notes are then convertible) is neither listed for trading on
a US national securities exchange nor approved for trading on an established automated over-the-counter trading market in the United States. A "termination of
trading" shall not be deemed to have occurred solely by reason of our having engaged in a qualifying foreign merger, so long as, immediately after such merger,
the holders shall have the right to convert their notes solely into common stock or American Depository Shares representing such common stock traded on a US
national securities exchange or quoted on The Nasdaq
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National Market, until such time as the common stock or American Depository Shares on such common stock into which the notes are solely convertible are no
longer so traded or quoted.

        We cannot assure you that we would have the financial resources, or would be able to arrange financing, to pay the repurchase price for all notes delivered
by holders seeking to exercise the repurchase right. Further, our payment of the repurchase price could be prohibited under the indenture's subordination
provisions or the terms of our existing or future indebtedness. Our failure to repurchase the notes when required would result in an event of default with respect to
the notes, whether or not such repurchase is permitted by the subordination provisions. Such event of default may, in turn, cause a default under our senior
indebtedness. For more details, see "Subordination of notes." We will not be able to repurchase the notes for cash at the holders' option if an event of default
exists with respect to the notes, other than a default in the payment of the repurchase price with respect to such notes.

        In connection with any repurchase event offer, we will to the extent applicable:

• comply with the provisions of Rule 13e-4, Rule 14e-1 and any other tender offer rules under the Exchange Act which may then be applicable; and 

• file a Schedule TO or any other required schedule under the Exchange Act.

        The notes' repurchase feature would not necessarily protect holders of the notes from the adverse effects on them of highly leveraged or other transactions
involving us. In addition, the repurchase feature of the notes may in certain circumstances make more difficult or discourage our takeover. We are not aware,
however, of any specific effort to accumulate shares of our common stock or to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, solicitation or otherwise.

SUBORDINATION OF NOTES

        The payment of principal of, and premium, if any, and liquidated damages, if any, and interest on, the notes, other than permitted payments, is subordinated
in right of payment, as set forth in the indenture, to the prior payment in full in cash or cash equivalents of all senior indebtedness, whether outstanding on the
date of the indenture or thereafter incurred. Except for permitted payments, the notes also are effectively subordinated to all indebtedness and other liabilities of
our subsidiaries, including trade payables and lease obligations, if any.

        In the event of any insolvency or bankruptcy case or proceeding, or any receivership, liquidation, reorganization or other similar case or proceeding, relating
to us or to our assets, or any liquidation, dissolution or other winding-up of us, whether voluntary or involuntary, or any assignment for the benefit of our creditors
or other marshaling of our assets or liabilities, the senior indebtedness must be paid in full in cash or cash equivalents, or provision must be made for such
payment in full, before any payment or distribution of any kind or character on account of principal of, or premium, if any, or liquidated damages, if any, or
interest on, the notes is made.

        No payment or distribution of any of our assets of any kind or character, whether in cash, property or securities, other than permitted payments, may be made
by us or on our behalf on account of the principal of, or premium, if any, liquidated damages, if any, or interest on, the notes or on account of the redemption,
repurchase or other acquisition of notes, upon the occurrence of any payment default in respect of designated senior indebtedness until such payment default has
been cured or waived in writing or has ceased to exist or such designated senior indebtedness has been discharged or paid in full in cash or cash equivalents. A
"payment default" means a default in payment, whether at scheduled maturity, upon a scheduled installment, by acceleration or otherwise, of principal of, or
premium, if any, or interest on, designated senior indebtedness beyond any applicable grace period. "Designated senior indebtedness" means our obligations
under any particular senior indebtedness that expressly provides that it is "designated senior indebtedness" for purposes of the indenture.
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        No payment or distribution of any of our assets of any kind or character, whether in cash, property or securities, other than permitted payments, may be made
by us or on our behalf on account of principal of, or premium, if any, liquidated damages, if any, or interest on, the notes or on account of the redemption,
repurchase or other acquisition of notes for the period specified below (a "payment blockage period"), upon the occurrence of any default or event of default with
respect to any designated senior indebtedness, other than a payment default, pursuant to which maturity thereof may be accelerated (a "non-payment default") and
receipt by the trustee of written notice thereof from us or a representative of holders of such designated senior indebtedness (a "payment blockage notice"). A
payment blockage period will commence on the date that the trustee receives written notice from us or a representative of holders of the designated senior
indebtedness to which the non-payment default relates, and shall end on the earliest of:

• 179 days thereafter, provided that the designated senior indebtedness to which the non-payment default relates has not theretofore been
accelerated; 

• the date on which such non-payment default is cured or waived or ceases to exist; 

• the date on which such designated senior indebtedness is discharged or paid in full; or 

• the date on which such payment blockage period shall have been terminated by written notice to the trustee from the representative initiating such
payment blockage period,

after which we will resume making any and all required payments in respect of the notes, including any missed payments. Not more than one payment blockage
period may be commenced during any period of 365 consecutive days. No non-payment default that existed or was continuing on the date a payment blockage
period started can be the basis for the commencement of a subsequent payment blockage period, unless such non-payment default has been cured or waived for a
period of not less than 90 consecutive days subsequent to the commencement of such initial payment blockage period.

        By reason of the foregoing subordination provisions, funds which would otherwise be payable to holders of the notes may be paid over to holders of senior
indebtedness. As a result of the subordination provisions, holders of notes may recover less, ratably, than holders of senior indebtedness.

        The notes will also be effectively subordinated to all liabilities, including trade payables and lease obligations, if any, of our subsidiaries. Our right to receive
the assets of any of our subsidiaries upon its liquidation or reorganization, and the consequent right of the holders of the notes to participate in these assets, will be
effectively subordinated to the claims of that subsidiary's creditors, except to the extent that we are recognized as a creditor of such subsidiary, in which case our
claims would still be subordinated to any security interests in such subsidiary's assets and any indebtedness of such subsidiary that is senior to that held by us.

        Our subsidiaries are separate and distinct legal entities and have no obligation, contingent or otherwise, to pay any amounts due pursuant to the notes or to
make any funds available therefor, whether by dividends, loans or other payments. In addition, our subsidiaries' payment of dividends and making of loans and
advances to us may be subject to statutory, contractual or other restrictions and would depend upon their earnings or financial condition and would be subject to
various business considerations. As a result, we may be unable to gain access to our subsidiaries' cash flow and assets.

        The indenture does not limit the amount of additional indebtedness, including senior indebtedness, which we can create, incur, assume or guarantee. Also, it
does not limit the amount of indebtedness or other liabilities that our subsidiaries can create, incur, assume or guarantee.
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        "Senior indebtedness" is defined in the indenture as all "indebtedness" (as defined below) of ours outstanding at any time, except (i) the notes,
(ii) indebtedness that by its terms provides that it is not "senior" in right of payment to the notes and (iii) indebtedness that by its terms provides that it is "pari
passu" or "junior" in right of payment to the notes. Senior indebtedness does not include indebtedness for trade payables or any account payable or other accrued
current liability or obligation we incur in the ordinary course of business in connection with the obtaining of materials or services. In addition, senior indebtedness
does not include our indebtedness to any of our subsidiaries, except for amounts due under our lease agreement with Fremont Holding L.L.C., our wholly-owned
subsidiary.

        "Indebtedness" of any person is defined as the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on, and all other obligations in respect of:

        (a)   all of such person's indebtedness for borrowed money (including all indebtedness evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or other securities);

        (b)   all obligations (other than trade payables) such person incurs in acquiring (whether by way of purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise and
whether by such person or another person) any business, real property or other assets;

        (c)   all of such person's reimbursement obligations with respect to letters of credit, bankers' acceptances or similar facilities issued for the account of
such person;

        (d)   all of such person's capital lease obligations and facility leases between such person as lessee and a subsidiary of such person as lessor;

        (e)   all of such person's net obligations under interest rate swap, currency exchange or similar agreements to which it is a party;

        (f)    all obligations and other liabilities, contingent or otherwise, under any lease or related document, including a purchase agreement, conditional
sale or other title retention agreement, in connection with the lease of real property or improvements thereon (or any personal property included as part of
any such lease) which provides that such person is contractually obligated to purchase or cause a third party to purchase the leased property or pay an
agreed-upon residual value of the leased property, including such person's obligations under such lease or related document to purchase or cause a third
party to purchase such leased property or pay an agreed-upon residual value of the leased property to the lessor;

        (g)   guarantees by such person of indebtedness described in clauses (a) through (f) of another person, pledges of any of such person's assets as
security for another person's indebtedness; and

        (h)   all renewals, extensions, refundings, deferrals, restructurings, amendments and modifications of any indebtedness, obligation, guarantee, pledge
or liability of the kind described in clauses (a) through (g).

CONSOLIDATION, MERGER AND SALE OF ASSETS

        The indenture provides that we may not consolidate with or merge with or into any other person or sell, convey, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of all or
substantially all of our properties and assets to another person (whether in a single transaction or series of related transactions), unless, among other things:

• the resulting, surviving or transferee person is (A) a corporation, limited liability company, partnership or trust organized and existing under the
laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia, or (B) a corporation, limited liability company, partnership or trust
organized and existing under the laws of a jurisdiction outside the United States; provided, however, that in the case of a transaction where the
resulting, surviving or transferee person is
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organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction, we may not consummate the transaction unless (v) such person has common stock or American
Depository Shares representing such common stock traded on a national securities exchange in the United States or quoted on The Nasdaq
National Market; (w) such person has a worldwide total market capitalization of its equity securities (before giving effect to such consolidation,
merger or disposition) of at least $5 billion; (x) such entity has consented to service of process in the United States; (y) we have made provision
for the satisfaction of our obligations to repurchase notes following a repurchase event, if any; and (z) we have obtained an opinion of tax counsel
experienced in such matters to the effect that, under the then-existing US federal tax laws, there would be no material adverse tax consequences to
holders of the notes resulting from such transaction (we refer to a transaction that satisfies these conditions as a "qualifying foreign merger" in this
prospectus);

• such person assumes all of our obligations under the notes and the indenture; and 

• we or such successor person shall not immediately thereafter be in default under the indenture.

        Upon the assumption of our obligations by such a person in such circumstances, except in the case of a lease, we shall be discharged from all of our
obligations under the notes and the indenture.

        Certain of the foregoing transactions could constitute a repurchase event permitting holders to require us to repurchase notes as described in "—Holders may
require us to repurchase their notes upon a repurchase event."

EVENTS OF DEFAULT

        The following are events of default under the indenture:

• if we fail to pay the principal of or premium, if any, on any note when due, whether at maturity, upon redemption, on the purchase date with
respect to a purchase at the option of the holder, on a repurchase date with respect to a repurchase event or otherwise (even if such payment is
prohibited by the indenture's subordination provisions); 

• if we fail to pay an installment of interest or liquidated damages, if any, on the notes, when due, if such failure continues for 30 days after the date
when due (even if such payment is prohibited by the indenture's subordination provisions); provided, that a failure to make any of the first six
scheduled interest payments on the notes within three business days of the applicable interest payment date will constitute an event of default with
no additional grace or cure period; 

• if we fail to provide timely notice as described under "—Purchase of notes by us at the holder's option" or under "—Holders may require us to
repurchase their notes upon a repurchase event"; 

• if we fail to comply with any other term, covenant or agreement contained in the notes or the indenture and such failure continues for 60 days
following notice to us by the trustee or to the trustee and us by holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes then
outstanding in accordance with the indenture; 

• if we fail to perform or observe any of our obligations under the pledge agreement (and related agreements), or if our representations and
warranties set forth in such agreements fail to be true and correct, in all material respects, when deemed made; 

• if the pledge agreement ceases to be in full force and effect or enforceable in accordance with its terms; 

• failure by us or any of our subsidiaries to pay final judgments, the uninsured portion of which aggregates in excess of $10.0 million, which
judgments are not paid, discharged or stayed, for a period of 30 days;
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• default by us or any of our subsidiaries in the payment when due, after the expiration of any applicable grace period, of principal of, or premium,
if any, or interest on, indebtedness for money borrowed, in the aggregate principal amount then outstanding of $15.0 million or more, or
acceleration of any indebtedness for money borrowed in such aggregate principal amount so that it becomes due and payable prior to the date on
which it would otherwise have become due and payable and such acceleration is not rescinded or such default is not cured within 30 days after
notice to us by the trustee or to the trustee and us by holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of notes then outstanding in
accordance with the indenture; and 

• certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization affecting us or any of our subsidiaries that is a "significant subsidiary" (as defined in
Regulation S-X under the Exchange Act) or any group of subsidiaries of ours that in the aggregate would constitute a "significant subsidiary."

        If an event of default exists, either the trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding notes may declare the
principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on the notes through the date of such declaration to be immediately due and payable. In the
case of certain events of default involving our bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization, the principal amount of the notes plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any,
accrued thereon through the occurrence of such event of default shall automatically become immediately due and payable.

        After any such acceleration, but before a judgment or decree based on acceleration, the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the
outstanding notes may, under certain circumstances, rescind such acceleration if all events of default, other than the non-payment of accelerated principal or
interest, have been cured or waived.

        Subject to the indenture's provisions relating to the trustee's duties, if an event of default exists, the trustee will not be obligated to exercise any of its rights
or powers at the request of the holders, unless they have offered to the trustee reasonable indemnity. Subject to the indenture, applicable law and the trustee's
indemnification, the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding notes will have the right to direct the time, method and place of
conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the trustee or exercising any trust or power conferred on the trustee with respect to the notes.

        No holder will have any right to institute any proceeding under the indenture, or for the appointment of a receiver or a trustee, or for any other remedy under
the indenture unless:

• the holder has previously given the trustee written notice of a continuing event of default; 

• the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the notes then outstanding have made a written request and have offered reasonable
indemnity to the trustee to institute such proceeding as trustee; and 

• the trustee has failed to institute such proceeding within 60 days after such notice, request and offer, and has not received from the holders of a
majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding notes a direction inconsistent with such request within 60 days after such notice, request
and offer.

        However, the above limitations do not apply to a holder's suit to enforce payment of the principal of or any premium or interest on any note on or after the
applicable due date or the right to convert the note in accordance with the indenture.

        Generally, the holders of not less than a majority of the aggregate principal amount of outstanding notes may waive any default or event of default and its
consequences other than:

• our failure to pay principal, premium, interest or liquidated damages on any note when due;
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• our failure to convert any note into common stock following delivery of a conversion notice; or 

• our failure to comply with any of the provisions of the indenture that would require the consent of the holder of each outstanding note affected.

        We are required to promptly notify the trustee upon learning of any event of default. In addition, we are required to furnish to the trustee, on an annual basis,
a statement by our officers as to whether or not we are in default in the performance or observance of any of the terms, provisions and conditions of the indenture,
specifying any known defaults.

MODIFICATION AND WAIVER

        The indenture may be amended or supplemented with the consent of the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding notes. In
addition, the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding notes may waive our compliance with any provision of the indenture.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment, supplement or waiver may be made without the consent of the holder of each outstanding note if it would:

• change the stated maturity of the principal of, or the payment date of any installment of interest or liquidated damages payable on, any note; 

• reduce the principal amount of, or any premium or interest or liquidated damages on, any note; 

• reduce the amount of principal payable upon acceleration of the maturity of any note; 

• change the place or currency of payment of principal of, or any premium or interest on, any note; 

• impair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on, or with respect to, any note; 

• modify the provisions of the indenture relating to the right of the holders to require us to purchase notes at their option or upon a repurchase event,
in a manner adverse to holders; 

• modify the subordination provisions in a manner adverse to the holders of notes; 

• adversely affect the holders' rights to convert notes other than as provided in the indenture; 

• reduce the percentage in principal amount of outstanding notes required to modify or amend any indenture provision; 

• reduce the percentage in principal amount of outstanding notes needed to waive compliance with certain provisions of the indenture or for waiver
of certain defaults; or 

• modify the provisions of the indenture with respect to modification and waiver (including waiver of events of default), except to increase the
percentage required for modification or waiver or to provide for the consent of each affected holder.

        Without the holders' consent, we and the trustee may enter into supplemental indentures for any of the following purposes:

• to evidence a successor to us and such successor's assumption of our obligations under the indenture and the notes; 

• to add to our covenants for the holders' benefit or to surrender any right or power conferred upon us; 

• to secure our obligations in respect of the notes;
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• to make provision with respect to adjustments to the conversion rate as required by the indenture or to increase the conversion rate in accordance
with the indenture; 

• to make any changes or modifications to the indenture needed in connection with the registration of the public offer and sale of the notes under the
Securities Act pursuant to the registration rights agreement or the qualification of the indenture under the Trust Indenture Act; 

• to cure any ambiguity, defect, omission or inconsistency in the indenture in a manner that does not adversely affect any holder's rights; or 

• to add or modify any other provisions which we and the trustee jointly deem necessary or desirable and which will not adversely affect any
holder's rights.

        The holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding notes may, on behalf of the holders of all notes:

• waive our compliance with restrictive provisions of the indenture, as detailed in the indenture; and 

• waive any past default under the indenture and its consequences, except a default in the payment of principal of, or premium, interest or liquidated
damages on, the notes or in the payments of the redemption price, the purchase price or the repurchase price or a default with respect to our
obligation to deliver shares of common stock upon conversion of any note or in respect of any provision which under the indenture cannot be
modified or amended without the consent of the holder of each outstanding note affected.

DISCHARGE

        We may satisfy and discharge our obligations under the indenture by delivering to the trustee for cancellation all outstanding notes or by depositing with the
trustee, the paying agent or the conversion agent, if applicable, after the notes have become due and payable, whether at stated maturity or any redemption date,
purchase date, repurchase date or otherwise, cash sufficient to pay all of the outstanding notes and paying all other sums payable under the indenture.

CALCULATIONS IN RESPECT OF NOTES

        We are responsible for making all calculations called for under the notes. These calculations include determining the average market prices of the notes and
of our common stock and amounts of interest payments payable on the notes. We will make all these calculations in good faith and, absent manifest error, our
calculations will be final and binding on the holders. We will provide a schedule of our calculations to the trustee, and the trustee is entitled to rely upon the
accuracy of our calculations without independent verification.

RULE 144A INFORMATION

        We have agreed in the indenture to furnish to the beneficial owners of the notes, and prospective purchasers of the notes designated by such beneficial
owners, upon their request, the information required to be delivered pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act if, at any time while the notes or the
common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes are restricted securities within the meaning of the Securities Act, we are not subject to the informational
requirements of the Exchange Act.

REPORTS TO TRUSTEE

        We will regularly furnish to the trustee copies of our annual report to stockholders, containing audited financial statements, and any other financial reports
which we furnish to our stockholders.
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UNCLAIMED MONEY

        If money deposited with the trustee or paying agent for the payment of principal or interest remains unclaimed for two years, the trustee and paying agent
shall notify us and shall pay the money back to us at our written request. Thereafter, holders of notes entitled to the money must look to us for payment, subject to
applicable law, and all liability of the trustee and the paying agent shall cease.

PURCHASE AND CANCELLATION

        All notes surrendered for payment, redemption, registration of transfer or exchange or conversion shall, if surrendered to any person other than the trustee, be
delivered to the trustee. All notes delivered to the trustee for cancellation will be cancelled promptly by the trustee. No notes will be authenticated in exchange for
any notes cancelled as provided in the indenture.

        We may, to the extent permitted by law, purchase notes in the open market or by tender offer at any price or by private agreement. Any notes purchased by
us, may, to the extent permitted by law, be reissued or resold or may, at our option, be surrendered to the trustee for cancellation. Any notes surrendered for
cancellation may not be reissued or resold and will be promptly cancelled.

REPLACEMENT OF NOTES

        We will replace mutilated, destroyed, stolen or lost notes at the holder's expense upon delivery to the trustee of the mutilated notes, or evidence of the loss,
theft or destruction of the notes satisfactory to the trustee and us. In the case of a lost, stolen or destroyed note, indemnity satisfactory to the trustee and us may be
required at the expense of the holder of such note before a replacement note will be issued.

TRUSTEE AND TRANSFER AGENT

        The trustee for the notes is The J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association and has been appointed by us as paying agent, conversion agent, registrar
and custodian with regard to the notes.

        The holders of a majority in principal amount of the then outstanding notes have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding
for any remedy available to the trustee, subject to certain exceptions. If an event of default occurs, the trustee must exercise its rights and powers under the
indenture using the same degree of care and skill as a prudent person would use under the circumstances in the conduct of his or her own affairs. The trustee may
refuse to perform any duty or exercise any right or power unless it receives indemnity reasonably satisfactory to the trustee against any loss, liability, or expense.

        The transfer agent for our common stock is Mellon Investor Services, L.L.C.

LISTING AND TRADING

        The notes are eligible for trading on The PORTAL Market. Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "PDLI."

FORM, DENOMINATION AND REGISTRATION OF NOTES

General

        The notes are issued in denominations of $1,000 and integral multiples thereof, in the form of global securities, as further provided below.
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        The trustee is not required:

• to issue, register the transfer of or exchange any note for a period of 15 days before a selection of notes to be redeemed, or 

• to register the transfer of or exchange any note that has been selected for redemption or for which the holder has delivered, and not withdrawn, a
repurchase notice or purchase notice, except, in the case of a partial redemption or repurchase, that portion of the notes not being redeemed or
repurchased.

        See "—Global securities," "—Certificated securities" and "Notice to investors" for a description of additional transfer restrictions applicable to the notes.

        No service charge will be imposed in connection with any transfer or exchange of any note, but we may in general require payment of a sum sufficient to
cover any transfer tax or similar governmental charge payable in connection therewith.

Global securities

        Global securities have been deposited with the trustee as custodian for The Depository Trust Company (DTC) and registered in the name of DTC or a
nominee for DTC.

        Except in the limited circumstances described below and in "—Certificated securities," holders of notes will not be entitled to receive notes in certificated
form. Unless and until it is exchanged in whole or in part for certificated securities, each global security may not be transferred except as a whole by DTC to a
nominee of DTC or by a nominee of DTC to DTC or another nominee of DTC.

        The global securities have been accepted by DTC in its book-entry settlement system. The custodian and DTC will electronically record the principal amount
of notes represented by global securities held within DTC. Beneficial interests in the global securities are shown on records maintained by DTC and its direct and
indirect participants. So long as DTC or its nominee is the registered owner or holder of a global security, DTC or such nominee will be considered the sole owner
or holder of the notes represented by such global security for all purposes under the indenture and the notes. No owner of a beneficial interest in a global security
will be able to transfer such interest except in accordance with DTC's applicable procedures and the applicable procedures of its direct and indirect participants.

        Payments of principal and interest under each global security will be made to DTC's nominee as the registered owner of such global security. We expect that
the nominee, upon receipt of any such payment, will immediately credit DTC participants' accounts with payments proportional to their respective beneficial
interests in the principal amount of the relevant global security as shown on the records of DTC. We also expect that payments by DTC participants to owners of
beneficial interests will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is now the case with securities held for the accounts of customers
registered in the names of nominees for such customers. Such payments will be the responsibility of such participants, and none of us, the trustee, the custodian or
any paying agent or registrar will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial interests
in any global security or for maintaining or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial interests.

        DTC has advised us that it is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a "banking organization" within the meaning of
the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code
and a "clearing agency" registered under the Exchange Act. DTC was created to hold the securities of its participants and to facilitate the clearance and settlement
of securities transactions among its participants in such securities through electronic book-entry changes in accounts
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of the participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates. DTC's participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks,
trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations, some of whom (and/or their representatives) own the depository. Access to DTC's book-
entry system is also available to others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies, that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a
participant, either directly or indirectly. The ownership interest and transfer of ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each security held by or on behalf of
DTC are recorded on the records of the participants and indirect participants.

Certificated securities

        If DTC notifies us that it is unwilling or unable to continue as depositary for a global security and a successor depositary is not appointed by us within
90 days of such notice, or an event of default has occurred and the trustee has received a request from DTC, the trustee will exchange each beneficial interest in
that global security for one or more certificated securities registered in the name of the owner of such beneficial interest, as identified by DTC.

Same-day settlement and payment

        The indenture requires that payments in respect of the notes represented by global securities be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the
accounts specified by holders of the global securities. With respect to notes in certificated form, we will make all payments by wire transfer of immediately
available funds to the accounts specified by the holders thereof or, if no such account is specified, by mailing a check to each holder's registered address.

        The notes are expected to trade in DTC's Same-Day Funds Settlement System, and any permitted secondary market trading activity in such notes will,
therefore, be required by DTC to be settled in immediately available funds. We expect that secondary trading in any certificated securities will also be settled in
immediately available funds.

        Transfers between participants in DTC will be effected in the ordinary way in accordance with DTC rules and will be settled in same-day funds.

        The information described above concerning DTC has been obtained from sources that we believe to be reliable, but neither we nor the trustee take any
responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

        Although DTC has agreed to the foregoing procedures to facilitate transfers of interests in the global securities among participants in DTC, they are under no
obligation to perform or to continue those procedures, and those procedures may be discontinued at any time. Neither we nor the trustee have any responsibility
for the performance by DTC or its direct or indirect participants of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

REGISTRATION RIGHTS; LIQUIDATED DAMAGES

        We and the initial purchasers have entered into a registration rights agreement dated as of July 14, 2003. Pursuant to the registration rights agreement, we
have agreed to use our reasonable best efforts to keep a shelf registration statement continuously effective under the Securities Act until such time as there are no
longer any registrable securities covered thereby.

        Notwithstanding the foregoing, we are permitted to prohibit offers and sales of registrable securities pursuant to the shelf registration statement for a period
not to exceed 30 days in any three-month period and not to exceed an aggregate of 90 days in any 12-month period, under certain circumstances and subject to
certain conditions (any period during which offers and sales are prohibited being referred to as a "suspension period"). "Registrable securities" means each note
and any underlying share of common stock until the earlier of (x) the date on which such note or underlying
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share of common stock has been effectively registered under the Securities Act and disposed of pursuant to the shelf registration statement and (y) the date which
is two years after the later of the date of original issue of such notes and the last date that we or any of our affiliates was the owner of such notes (or any
predecessor thereto), or such other period of time as such note or underlying share of common stock may be resold without restriction pursuant to Rule 144(k)
under the Securities Act or any successor provision thereto.

        Holders of registrable securities are required to deliver certain information to be used in connection with, and to be named as selling security holders in, the
shelf registration statement in order to have their registrable securities included in the shelf registration statement. We have previously provided such holders a
form of notice and questionnaire to be completed and delivered by each holder interested in selling securities pursuant to the shelf registration statement. Any
holder that does not complete and deliver a questionnaire or provide the information required thereby will not be named as a selling securityholder in the
registration statement, will not be permitted to sell any registrable securities held by such holder pursuant to the registration statement and will not be entitled to
receive any of the liquidated damages described in the following paragraph. We cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain an effective and current
registration statement as required.

        The absence of such a registration statement may limit a holder's ability to sell such registrable securities or adversely affect the price at which such
registrable securities can be sold.

        If:

• we fail, with respect to a holder that supplies the questionnaire described below after the effective date of the shelf registration statement, to
supplement or amend the shelf registration statement, or file a new registration statement, in accordance with the terms of the registration rights
agreement in order to add such holder as a selling securityholder; or 

• the shelf registration statement is filed and declared effective but shall thereafter cease to be effective (without being succeeded immediately by an
additional registration statement filed and declared effective) or usable for the offer and sale of registrable securities for a period of time (including
any suspension period) which shall exceed 30 days in the aggregate in any three-month period or 90 days in the aggregate in any 12-month period,

(each such event referred to in the bullets above being referred to as a "registration default") we will pay liquidated damages to each holder of registrable
securities included in the registration statement who has provided the required selling securityholder information to us (or in the case of the third bullet point
above, the applicable holder(s)). The amount of liquidated damages payable during any period during which a registration default shall have occurred and be
continuing is:

• in the case of notes, at a rate per year equal to 0.25% for the first 90-day period, increasing with respect to each 90-day period thereafter by an
additional 0.25%, up to a maximum rate per year of 0.75% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes, or 

• in the case of common stock issued upon conversion of the notes, at an equivalent rate based upon the conversion rate.

        So long as a registration default continues, we will pay additional liquidated damages in cash on February 16 and August 16 of each year to each holder of
record of notes or shares of common stock issued upon conversion of the notes, as the case may be, and entitled to receive liquidated damages, on the
immediately preceding February 1 or August 1, as the case may be. Following the cure of a registration default, liquidated damages will cease to accrue with
respect to such registration default.

        The registration rights agreement provides that we will use our reasonable best efforts to cause the shelf registration statement to be effective until such time
as all of the notes and underlying common stock cease to be registrable securities.
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        A holder of registrable securities that does not provide us with a completed questionnaire or the information called for thereby prior to the date that is two
business days before effectiveness of the shelf registration statement may thereafter provide us with a completed questionnaire, following which we will, as
promptly as reasonably practicable, but in any event within five business days of such receipt (subject to certain qualifications set forth in the registration rights
agreement), file a supplement to the prospectus relating to the registration statement or, if required, file a post-effective amendment or a new shelf registration
statement in order to permit resales of such holder's registrable securities; provided, however, that if a post-effective amendment or a new registration statement is
required in order to permit resales by holders seeking to include registrable securities in the registration statement following the effectiveness of the original shelf
registration statement, we will not be required to file more than one post-effective amendment or new registration statement for such purpose in any 45-day
period. We understand that the SEC may not permit selling securityholders to be added to the shelf registration statement after it is declared effective by means of
a supplement to the prospectus relating thereto. Accordingly, to the extent that a holder does not deliver a complete questionnaire prior to the date that is two
business days before effectiveness of the original shelf registration statement and such holder thereafter requests such holder's registrable securities to be included
in the shelf registration statement, such holder could experience significant additional delay due to the fact that we may be required to file a post-effective
amendment or a new registration statement before such holder is able to resell registrable securities pursuant to the shelf registration statement (or a new shelf
registration statement). We strongly encourage holders to submit a completed questionnaire as promptly as possible following completion of this offering and
prior to the date that is two business days before effectiveness of the shelf registration statement.

        To the extent that any holder of registrable securities is deemed to be an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act, such holder may be subject
to certain liabilities under the federal securities laws for misstatements and omissions contained in a registration statement and any related prospectus. To the
extent that any holder of registrable securities identified in the shelf registration statement is a broker-dealer, or is an affiliate of a broker-dealer that did not
acquire its registrable securities in the ordinary course of its business or that at the time of its purchase of registrable securities had an agreement or
understanding, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the registrable securities, we understand that the SEC may take the view that such holder is,
under the SEC's interpretations, an "underwriter" within the meaning of the Securities Act.

        The foregoing summary of certain provisions of the registration rights agreement does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and is qualified in its
entirety by reference to, the provisions of the registration rights agreement.

GOVERNING LAW

        The indenture, the notes and the registration rights agreement are governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, without
giving effect to such state's conflicts of laws principles.
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK 

        This summary does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by, the provisions of our certificate of incorporation, as
amended, and all applicable provisions of Delaware law.

General

        We are authorized to issue 250,000,000 shares of common stock, $.01 par value, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $.01 par value.

Common stock

        As of August 27, 2004, we had issued and outstanding 95,198,133 shares of common stock held of record by approximately 236 stockholders. Holders of
common stock are entitled to one vote per share for the election of directors and all other matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders. Subject to the rights of
any holders of preferred stock that may be issued in the future, the holders of common stock are entitled to share ratably in such dividends as may be declared by
our board of directors out of funds legally available therefor. In the event of our dissolution, liquidation or winding up, holders of common stock are entitled to
share ratably in all assets remaining after payment of all liabilities and liquidation preferences of any preferred stock. Holders of common stock have no
preemptive, subscription, redemption, conversion rights or similar rights. Our certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting rights with
respect to the election of directors. All outstanding common stock is, and the common stock issuable on conversion of the notes will be, fully paid and
nonassessable. Shares of the Company's common stock are reserved for issuance under the Company's option and employee stock purchase plans, and there are
options outstanding under the Company's stock plans for shares of common stock.

Preferred stock

        Our board of directors has the authority, without any action by our stockholders, to issue preferred stock in one or more series with such designations, rights
and preferences (including dividend, conversion, voting or other rights or liquidation preferences) as determined by our board of directors. The issuance of
preferred stock could delay, defer or prevent a change of control of PDL and could decrease the amount of earnings and assets available for distribution to, or
adversely affect the voting power or other rights of, holders of common stock. In addition, the issuance of preferred stock could have the effect of decreasing the
market price of our common stock. As of August 31, 2004, there are no shares of preferred stock outstanding.

Transfer agent

        The transfer agent for our common stock is Mellon Investor Services, L.L.C. Their address is 235 Montgomery Street, 23rd Floor, San Francisco, California
94104. Their telephone number is (415) 743-1424.
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CERTAIN US FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS 

        The following is a summary of certain United States federal income tax considerations relating to the purchase, ownership and disposition of the notes and
the common stock into which the notes may be converted. This summary is based on laws, regulations, rulings and decisions now in effect, all of which are
subject to change. This summary deals only with holders that will hold the notes and common stock as "capital assets" within the meaning of Section 1221 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, which we sometimes refer to as the Code and does not address tax considerations applicable to investors that may be
subject to special tax rules, such as financial institutions, mutual funds, tax-exempt organizations, insurance companies, dealers in securities or currencies, traders
in securities who elect to apply mark-to-market method of accounting, persons that will hold notes as a position in a hedging transaction, "straddle" or
"conversion transaction" for tax purposes or persons deemed to sell notes under the constructive sale provisions of the Code.

        We have not sought any ruling from the Internal Revenue Service (or IRS) with respect to the statements made and the conclusions reached in the following
summary, and there can be no assurance that the IRS will agree with such statements and conclusions. In addition, the IRS is not precluded from successfully
adopting a contrary position. This summary assumes that the IRS will respect the classification of the notes as indebtedness for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
This summary does not consider the effect of any applicable foreign, state, local or other tax laws.

        All prospective purchasers of notes should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the application of the United States federal income and
estate tax laws to their particular situation as well as any tax consequences arising under the laws of any state, local or foreign taxing jurisdiction or
under any applicable tax treaty.

U.S. Holders

        For purposes of this summary, the term "U.S. Holder" means a beneficial holder of a note or common stock that is, as determined for United States federal
income tax purposes, either (1) a citizen or resident of the United States, or U.S.; (2) an entity formed under the laws of the U.S. or a state of the U.S.; (3) an
estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of its source; or (4) a trust subject to the primary supervision of a court within the U.S.
which has one or more U.S. persons with authority to control all substantive decisions, or which has a valid election in effect under applicable Treasury
Regulations to be treated as a U.S. person. A "Non-U.S. Holder" is any holder other than a U.S. Holder.

        If a partnership (including for this purpose any entity, foreign or domestic, classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) is a beneficial
owner of the notes or the common stock into which the notes may be converted, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner in the partnership generally
will depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. As a general matter, income earned through a foreign or domestic partnership is
attributed to its owners for U.S. federal income tax purposes. A holder of the notes or the common stock that is a partnership, and the partners in such partnership,
should consult their individual tax advisors regarding the federal, state, local and foreign tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the notes
(and the common stock).

Taxation of Interest

        Interest paid on the notes will be included in the income of a holder as ordinary income at the time it is treated as received or accrued, in accordance with the
holder's regular method of tax accounting.
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        In general, if the terms of a debt instrument entitle a holder to receive payments other than fixed periodic interest that exceed the issue price of the
instrument, the holder may be required to recognize additional interest as "original issue discount" over the term of the instrument. Further, if the amount or
timing of any additional payments on a Note is contingent, the Note could be subject to special rules that apply to contingent debt instruments. These rules
generally require a holder to accrue interest income at a rate higher than the stated interest rate on the Note and to treat as ordinary income, rather than capital
gain, any gain realized on a sale, exchange or retirement of a Note before the resolution of the contingencies. If we fail to maintain the effectiveness of the
registration statement, we will cause additional interest to accrue on the notes in the manner described under "Description of the Notes—Registration Rights;
Liquidated Damages." According to Treasury Regulations, the possibility of a change in the interest rate due to our obligation to pay Liquidated Damages (see
"Description of the Notes—Registration Rights; Liquidated Damages") will not affect the amount of interest income recognized by a holder, or the timing of such
recognition, if the likelihood of the change, as of the date the notes are issued, is remote. We believe that the likelihood of a change in the interest rate on the notes
is remote, and we do not intend to treat the possibility of a change in the interest rate as affecting the yield to maturity of any note. Similarly, we intend to take the
position that the occurrence of an event requiring us to repurchase the notes is remote under the Treasury Regulations, and likewise do not intend to treat the
possibility of the occurrence of an event requiring us to repurchase the notes as affecting the yield to maturity of any note. Our determination that the likelihood
of additional payments is a remote or incidental contingency is binding on holders of the notes unless such holders explicitly disclose to the IRS that they are
taking a different position on their tax return for the year during which they acquire the note. However, the IRS may take a contrary position from that described
above, which could affect the timing and character of both each holder's income from the notes and our deduction with respect to additional payments under the
notes. In the event that we pay liquidated damages, the holders would be required to recognize additional interest income.

Market Discount

        A subsequent purchaser who buys a note for less than its stated redemption price at maturity may be considered to have purchased the note at a "market
discount." If the market discount is less than 0.25% of the stated redemption price of the note at maturity multiplied by the number of complete years to maturity,
then the market discount will be deemed to be zero.

        A U.S. Holder may elect to include market discount in income currently as it accrues. Any such election will apply to all market discount bonds acquired
during or after the year for which the election is made, and the election may be terminated only with the consent of the Internal Revenue Service.

        If a U.S. Holder does not make an election to include market discount in income currently as it accrues, any principal amount received or gain realized by a
U.S. Holder on the sale, exchange, retirement or other taxable disposition of a note will be treated as ordinary income to the extent of any accrued market
discount on the note. Unless a U.S. holder irrevocably elects to accrue market discount under a constant-interest method, accrued market discount is the total
market discount multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days the U.S. Holder has held the note and the denominator of which is the
number of days from the date the holder acquired the note until its maturity. If a U.S. Holder exchanges or converts a note into common stock in a transaction that
is otherwise tax free, any accrued market discount will carry over and generally be recognized upon a disposition of the common stock.

        A U.S. Holder may be required to defer a portion of such holder's interest deductions for the taxable year attributable to any indebtedness incurred or
continued to purchase or carry a note purchased with market discount. Any such deferred interest expense may not exceed the market discount that accrues during
a taxable year and is, in general, allowed as a deduction not later than the
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year in which the market discount is includible in income. This interest expense deferral will not apply if a U.S. Holder makes an election to include market
discount in income currently as it accrues.

Market Premium

        A subsequent purchaser who buys a note for more than its stated redemption price at maturity generally will be considered to have purchased the note at a
"market premium." If an election is made, the market premium may generally be amortized using a constant yield method, over the remaining term of the note.

        Interest otherwise required to be included in income with respect to the note during any tax year may be offset by the amount of any amortized market
premium. An election to amortize market premium will apply to all market premium bonds acquired during or after the year for which the election is made, and
the election may be terminated only with the consent of the Internal Revenue Service.

Sale, Exchange or Redemption of the Notes

        Upon the sale, exchange (other than a conversion into common stock), redemption, retirement or other taxable disposition of a note, a holder will recognize
gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount received on such disposition (other than amounts received in respect of accrued and unpaid interest, which
will be taxable as such) and the holder's tax basis in the note. A holder's tax basis in a note will be, in general, the cost of the note to the holder, increased by any
accrued market discount and decreased by any principal payments received and any amortizable market premium accrued. Gain or loss realized on the sale,
exchange or retirement of a note generally will be capital gain or loss, and will be long-term capital gain or loss if, at the time of such sale, exchange or
retirement, the note has been held for more than one year. Long-term capital gain recognized by an individual holder is generally subject to a maximum U.S.
federal income tax rate of 15%. An individual's ability to offset capital losses against ordinary income is limited.

Conversion of the Notes

        A holder will generally not recognize income, gain or loss upon conversion of the note into our common stock, except with respect to any cash received
instead of a fractional share (which will generally result in capital gain or loss). The holder's tax basis in the common stock received upon conversion will be the
same a the holder's tax basis in the note at the time of conversion (exclusive of any tax basis allocable to a fractional share), increased, for a cash method holder,
by the amount of income recognized with respect to accrued interest. The holding period for the common stock received upon conversion will include the holding
period of the note converted. If cash is received instead of a fractional share upon conversion of a note, the holder will be treated as having received the fractional
share and as having immediately sold it for amount equal to such cash. The receipt of cash instead of a fractional share will generally result in capital gain or loss,
if any, measured by the difference between the cash received and the holder's adjusted tax basis in the fractional share.

Adjustment to Conversion Price

        Holders of convertible debt instruments such as the notes may, in certain circumstances, be deemed to have received constructive distributions where the
conversion ratio of such instruments is adjusted. Adjustments to the conversion price made pursuant to a bona fide reasonable adjustment formula which has the
effect of preventing the dilution of the interest of the holders of the debt instruments, however, will generally not be considered to result in a constructive
distribution of stock. Certain of the possible adjustments provided in the notes, including, without limitation, adjustments in respect of taxable dividends to our
stockholders, will not qualify as being pursuant to a bona fide
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reasonable adjustment formula. If such adjustments are made, the holders of notes might be deemed to have received constructive distributions taxable as
dividends. Moreover, in certain other circumstances, the failure to adjust the conversion ratio on the notes may result in a deemed taxable dividend to holders of
our common stock.

Dividends

        Distributions, if any, paid on the common stock, other than certain pro rata distributions of common stock, to the extent made out of our current or
accumulated earnings and profits, as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles, will be included in a U.S. Holder's income as ordinary income (subject
to a possible dividends received deduction in the case of corporate holders) as they are paid. Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and
profits will be treated as a return of capital to the extent of the U.S. Holder's basis in the common stock and thereafter as capital gain.

Sale of Common Stock

        Upon the sale or exchange of our common stock, a holder generally will recognize capital gain or loss equal to the difference between (1) the amount of cash
and the fair market value of any property received upon the sale or exchange and (2) such holder's adjusted tax basis in the common stock. Such capital gain or
loss will be long-term capital gain or loss if the holder's holding period in the commons tock is more than one year at the time of the sale or exchange. A holder's
basis and holding period in our common stock received upon conversion of a note are determined as discussed above under "Conversion of the Notes."

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding Tax

        In general, information reporting requirements will apply to payments of principal, premium, if any, and interest on a note, payments of dividends on the
common stock, payments of the proceeds of the sale of a note and payments of the proceeds of the sale of the common stock, and a 28% backup withholding tax
may apply to such payments if the holder either (1) fails to demonstrate that the holder comes within certain exempt categories of holders or (2) fails to furnish or
certify his correct taxpayer identification number to the payor in the manner required, is notified by the IRS that he has failed to report payments of interest and
dividends properly, or under certain circumstances, fails to certify that he has not been notified by the IRS that he is subject to backup withholding for failure to
report interest and dividend payments. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment to a holder will be allowed as a credit against
such holder's U.S. federal income tax and may entitle the holder to a refund, provided that the required information is furnished to the IRS.

Non-U.S. Holders

        The rules governing U.S. federal income taxation of a Non-U.S. Holder of Notes are complex, and we have provided only a summary of such rules. Special
rules may apply to certain Non-U.S. Holders such as "controlled foreign corporations," "passive foreign investment companies" and "foreign personal holding
companies." Non-U.S. Holders should consult with their own tax advisors to determine the effect of federal, state, local and foreign income tax laws, as well as
treaties, with regard to an investment in the Notes, including any reporting requirements.

        The following discussion is limited to the U.S. federal income tax consequences relevant to a Non-U.S. Holder. For purposes of withholding tax on interest
and dividends discussed below, a Non-U.S. Holder (as defined above) includes a non-resident fiduciary of an estate or trust. For purposes of the following
discussion, interest, dividends and gain on the sale, exchange or other disposition of a note or common stock will be considered to be "U.S. trade or business
income" if such
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income or gain is (1) effectively connected with the conduct of a U.S. trade or business or (2) in the case of a Non-U.S. Holder eligible for the benefits of an
applicable bilateral income tax treaty, attributable to a permanent establishment (or, in the case of an individual, a fixed base) in the United States.

Taxation of Interest

        Generally any interest paid to a Non-U.S. Holder of a note that is not U.S. trade or business income will not be subject to U.S. tax if the interest qualifies as
"portfolio interest." Generally interest on the notes will qualify as portfolio interest if (1) the Non-U.S. Holder does not actually or constructively own 10% of
more of the total voting power of all our voting stock and is not a "controlled foreign corporation" with respect to which we are a "related person" within the
meaning of the Code and (2) the withholding agent receives a qualifying statement that the owner is not a U.S. resident and does not have actual knowledge or
reason to know otherwise. To satisfy the qualifying statement requirement, the beneficial owner of a note must provide a properly executed IRS Form W-8BEN
(or appropriate substitute form) prior to payment of the interest.

        The gross amount of payments of interest to a Non-U.S. Holder that do not qualify for the portfolio interest exemption and that are not U.S. trade or business
income will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at the rate of 30%, unless a U.S. income tax treaty applies to reduce or eliminate withholding. U.S. trade or
business income will be taxed on a net income basis in the same manner as if the Non-U.S. Holder were a U.S. person, and will not be subject to withholding at
the 30% gross rate. In the case of a Non-U.S. Holder that is a corporation, such U.S. trade or business income may also be subject to the branch profits tax (which
is generally imposed on a foreign corporation on the actual or deemed repatriation from the United States of earnings and profits attributable to U.S. trade or
business income) at a 30% rate. The branch profits tax may not apply (or any apply at a reduced rate) if a recipient is a qualified resident of certain countries with
which the United States has an income tax treaty. To claim the benefit of a tax treaty or to claim exemption from withholding because the income is U.S. trade or
business income, the Non-U.S. Holder must provide a properly executed Form W-8 BEN or W-8 ECI (or such successor forms as the IRS designates), as
applicable, prior to the payment of interest. In addition, a Non-U.S. Holder may under certain circumstances be required to obtain a U.S. taxpayer identification
number and make certain certifications to us. Special procedures are provided for payments through qualified intermediaries. A Non-U.S. Holder that is eligible
for a reduced rate of withholding tax pursuant to an applicable income tax treaty may obtain a refund of amounts withheld at a higher rate by filing an appropriate
claim for refund with the IRS.

Sales, Exchange or Redemption of the Notes

        Except as described below and subject to the discussion below concerning backup withholding, any gain realized by a Non-U.S. Holder on the sale,
exchange or redemption of a note generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax unless (1) such gain is U.S. trade or business income, (2) subject to
certain exceptions, the Non-U.S. Holder is an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of the disposition, (3) the
Non-U.S. Holder is subject to tax pursuant to the provisions of U.S. tax law applicable to certain U.S. expatriates (including certain former citizens or residents of
the United States), or (4) in the case of the disposition of our common stock, we are a U.S. real property holding corporation at any time within the shorter of the
five-year period preceding such sale or other disposition or the period such holder held the common stock. We believe that we are not currently a "United States
real property holding corporation" and that we will not become one in the future.
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Conversion of the Notes

        A Non-U.S. Holder generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the conversion of notes into our common stock, except with respect to cash (if
any) received instead of a fractional share or interest which does not qualify for the portfolio interest exemption, is not U.S. trade or business income and has not
previously included in income. Cash received instead of a fractional share may give rise to gain that would be subject to the rules described above for the sale of
notes. Cash or common stock treated as issued for accrued interest would be treated as interest under the rules described above.

Taxation of Dividends

        In general, dividends (including deemed dividends paid on the notes) paid to a Non-U.S. Holder of common stock will be subject to withholding of U.S.
federal income tax at a 30% rate unless such rate is reduced by an applicable income tax treaty. Dividends that are U.S. trade or business income generally are
subject to U.S. federal income tax at regular income tax rates, and generally are not subject to the 30% withholding tax or treaty-reduced rate if the Non-U.S.
Holder files the appropriate form with the payor, as discussed directly above under "—Taxation of Interest." Any U.S. trade or business income received by a
Non-U.S. Holder that is a corporation also may, under certain circumstances, be subject to an additional "branch profits tax" at a 30% (or, if applicable, treaty-
reduced) rate. A Non-U.S. Holder of common stock who wishes to claim the benefit of an applicable treaty rate would be required to satisfy applicable
certification and other requirements. A Non-U.S. Holder of common stock that is eligible for a reduced rate of withholding tax pursuant to an applicable income
treaty may obtain a refund of amounts withheld at a higher rate by filing an appropriate claim for refund with the IRS.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding Tax

        We must report annually to the IRS and to each Non-U.S. Holder any interest or dividend that is subject to withholding or is exempt from U.S. withholding
tax pursuant to a tax treaty, or interest that is exempt from U.S. tax under the portfolio interest exception. Copies of these information returns may also be made
available under the provisions of a specific treaty or agreement to the tax authorities of the country in which the Non-U.S. Holder resides.

        Information reporting and backup withholding of U.S. federal income tax at a current rate of 28% generally may apply to payments made by us or our agent
to Non-U.S. Holders if the payee fails to make the appropriate certification that the holder is not a U.S. person or if we or our paying agent has actual knowledge
that the payee is a U.S. person.

        The payment of the proceeds from the disposition of the notes or common stock to or through the U.S. office of any broker, foreign or domestic, will be
subject to information reporting and possible backup withholding unless the owner certifies as to its Non-U.S. Holder status under penalties of perjury or
otherwise establishes an exemption, provided that the broker does not have actual knowledge that the holder is a U.S. person or that the conditions of any other
exemption are not, in fact, satisfied. The payment of the proceeds from the disposition of a note or common stock to or through a non-U.S. office of a non-U.S.
broker that is not a U.S. related person generally will not be subject to backup withholding. The payment of proceeds from the disposition of a Note or common
stock through the foreign office of a broker that is either a U.S. person or a U.S. related person (as defined below) will be subject to information reporting, but not
backup withholding, unless such broker has documentary evidence in its files of the Non-U.S. Holder's foreign status and certain other conditions are met or you
otherwise establish an exemption.

        Both backup withholding and information reporting will apply to the proceeds of such dispositions if the broker has actual knowledge that the payee is a
U.S. Holder. A U.S. related person is (1) a
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"controlled foreign corporation" for United States tax purposes, (2) a foreign person 50% or more of whose gross income from all sources for certain periods is
effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business or (3) a foreign partnership, if at any time during its tax year, one or more of its partners are U.S. persons (as
defined in Treasury Regulations under the Code) who in the aggregate hold more than 50% of the income or capital interest in the partnership or if, at any time
during its tax year, such foreign partnership is engaged in a U.S. trade or business.

        Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment to a Non-U.S. Holder will be allowed as a refund or a credit against such Non-
U.S. Holder's U.S. federal income tax liability, provided that the requisite procedures are followed.

U.S. Federal Estate Tax

        The U.S. federal estate tax will not apply to notes owned by an individual who is not a citizen or resident of the U.S. at the time of his or her death, provided
that (1) the individual does not actually or constructively own 10% or more of the total combined voting power of our stock entitled to vote and (2) interest on the
note would not have been, if received at the time of death, effectively connected with the conduct of a trade or business in the U.S. by such individual. However,
common stock held by a decedent at the time of his or her death will be included in such Holder's gross estate for U.S. federal estate tax purposes unless an
applicable estate tax treaty provides otherwise. Note holders that are individuals should be aware that there have been recent amendments to the U.S. federal
estate tax rules, and such holders should consult with their own tax advisors with regard to an investment in the notes and the common stock.

        THE PRECEDING DISCUSSION OF CERTAIN UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES IS FOR GENERAL INFORMATION
ONLY AND MAY NOT BE APPLICABLE DEPENDING UPON A HOLDER'S PARTICULAR SITUATION. ACCORDINGLY, EACH INVESTOR SHOULD
CONSULT ITS OWN TAX ADVISOR AS TO PARTICULAR TAX CONSEQUENCES TO IT OF PURCHASING, HOLDING AND DISPOSING OF THE
NOTES AND THE COMMON STOCK INTO WHICH THE NOTES MAY BE CONVERTED OR FOR WHICH THE NOTES MAY BE EXCHANGED,
INCLUDING THE APPLICABILITY AND EFFECT OF ANY STATE, LOCAL OR FOREIGN TAX LAWS, AND OF ANY PROPOSED CHANGES IN
APPLICABLE LAWS.
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SELLING SECURITYHOLDERS 

        We originally issued the notes offered by the selling securityholders hereby in a private placement in July 2003. The initial purchasers of the notes resold
them to persons they or their agents reasonably believed to be "qualified institutional buyers," as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act, in transactions
exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. The selling securityholders, which term as used in the prospectus includes the initial purchasers'
transferees, pledges, donees or their successors, may from time to time offer and sell pursuant to this prospectus any or all of the notes and common stock issued
upon conversion of the notes.

        The following table sets forth information, unless otherwise noted, as of September 3, 2004, with respect to the selling securityholders and the respective
principal amounts of notes and common stock that each selling securityholder beneficially owns that may be offered pursuant to this prospectus. Beneficial
ownership is determined in accordance with SEC rules and includes voting or investment power with respect to the securities. We have obtained this information
from the selling securityholders. Unless otherwise indicated, none of the selling securityholders has, or within the past three years has had, any position, office, or
other material relationship with us or any of our predecessors or affiliates. Because the selling securityholders may offer all or some portion of the notes or the
common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes pursuant to this prospectus, no estimate can be given to us as to the amount of the notes or the common
stock issuable upon conversion of the notes that will be held by the selling securityholders upon termination of any particular offering. In addition, the selling
securityholders identified below may have sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of all or a portion of their notes since the date on which they provided the
information regarding their notes in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Information concerning the selling
securityholders may change from time to time and, if necessary, we will supplement this prospectus accordingly.

        The number of shares of common stock shown in the table set forth below assumes the conversion of the full amount of notes held by such holder at the
initial conversion rate of 49.6618 shares per $1,000 principal amount of the notes. This conversion rate is subject to adjustment as described under "Description of
notes—Conversion Rights." Accordingly, the number of shares of common stock may increase or decrease from time to time. Under the terms of the indenture,
fractional shares will not be issued upon conversion of the notes. Cash will be paid instead of fractional shares, if any.

      

Number of Shares of Common Stock

         

 

Common Stock
Beneficially

Owned Following
the Offering(3)

 
 

Principal Amount of Notes     
 

 

Common Stock Beneficially
Owned Prior to

Conversion(1)(2)

  

Selling Securityholder(1)(4)

 

Beneficially Owned and Offered
Hereby(1)

 

Percentage of Notes
Outstanding

 

Common Stock
Offered Hereby

AIG DKR SoundShore Opportunity Holding
Fund Ltd.(5)  $ 2,000,000.00 * 99,323 99,323 0
Akela Capital Master Fund, Ltd.(6)  $ 10,000,000.00 4.0% 496,618 496,618 0
Alexandra Global Master Fund Ltd.(33)  $ 5,000,000.00 2.0% 248,309 248,309 0
Alpine Associates(7)  $ 6,850,000.00 2.7% 340,183 340,183 0
Alpine Partners, L.P.(7)  $ 900,000.00 * 44,695 44,695 0
Alta Partners Holdings LDC(8)  $ 20,000,000.00 8.0% 993,236 993,236  
Arbitex Master Fund, L.P.(9)  $ 4,000,000.00 1.6% 198,647 198,647 0
Argent Classic Convertible Arbitrage (Bermuda)
Fund Ltd.  $ 4,200,000.00 1.7% 208,579 208,579 0
Argent Classic Convertible Arbitrage Fund,
LP(10)  $ 2,100,000.00 * 104,289 104,289 0
Bankgesellschaft Berlin AG  $ 3,500,000.00 1.4% 173,816 173,816 0
BP Amoco PLC Master Trust(11)  $ 476,000.00 * 23,639 23,639 0
BTES—Convertible ARB  $ 200,000.00 * 9,932 9,932 0
BTOP Growth vs Value  $ 800,000.00 * 39,729 39,729 0
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Calamos® Market Neutral Fund—Calamos®
Investment Trust(12)  $ 10,000,000.00 4.0% 496,618 496,618 0
CIBC World Markets(13)  $ 5,045,000.00 2.0% 250,543 250,543 0
Clinton Multistrategy Master Fund, Ltd.  $ 1,675,000.00 * 83,183 83,183 0
Clinton Riverside Convertible Portfolio Limited  $ 2,325,000.00 * 115,463 115,463 0
CNH CA Master Account, L.P.(14)  $ 2,000,000.00 * 99,323 99,323 0
DBAG London(15)  $ 39,073,000.00 15.6% 1,940,435 1,940,435 0
Deephaven Domestic Convertible Trading Ltd.  $ 7,872,000.00 3.1% 390,937 390,937 0
Delaware PERS(16)  $ 775,000.00 * 38,487 38,487 0
Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc.(13)  $ 1,500,000.00 * 74,492 74,492 0
Exis Differential Holdings Ltd.  $ 3,500,000.00 1.4% 173,816 173,816 0
Family Service Life Insurance Co.(17)  $ 200,000.00 * 9,932 9,932 0
Froley Revy Investment Convertible Security
Fund(16)  $ 75,000.00 * 3,724 3,724 0
Geode U.S. Convertible Arbitrage Fund, a series
of Geode Investors, LLC  $ 2,000,000.00 * 99,323 99,323 0
Goldman Sachs International  $ 14,650,000.00 5.9% 826,171 727,545 98,626
Grace Convertible Arbitrage Fund, Ltd.(18)  $ 4,950,000.00 1.0% 245,825 245,825 0
Guardian Life Insurance Co.(17)  $ 5,200,000.00 2.1% 258,241 258,241 0
Guardian Pension Trust(17)  $ 500,000.00 * 24,830 24,830 0
Highbridge International LLC  $ 7,000,000.00 2.8% 347,632 347,632 0
Hotel Union & Hotel Industry of Hawaii Pension
Plan(11)  $ 167,000.00 * 8,293 8,293 0
ICI American Holdings Trust(16)  $ 175,000.00 * 8,690 8,690 0
Institutional Benchmarks Master Fund Ltd. c/o
SSI Investment Management(11)  $ 1,299,000.00 * 64,510 64,510 0
Jefferies & Company Inc. c/o SSI Investment
Management Inc.(32)  $ 4,000.00 * 198 198 0
Jefferies Umbrella Fund US Convertible Bond  $ 200,000.00 * 9,932 9,932 0
JMG Capital Partners, L.P.(19)  $ 3,000,000.00 1.2% 148,985 148,985 0
JMG Triton Offshore Fund, Ltd.(20)  $ 5,000,000.00 2.0% 248,309 248,309 0
KBC Financial Products [Cayman Islands] Ltd.
(21)  $ 6,000,000.00 2.4% 297,970 297,970 0
KBC Financial Products USA Inc.(22)  $ 1,100,000.00 * 54,627 54,627 0
LDG Limited(23)  $ 410,000.00 * 20,361 20,361 0
Lexington Vantage Fund c/o TQA Investors,
LLC(24)  $ 153,000.00 * 7,598 7,598 0
LibertyView Funds L.P.  $ 1,500,000.00 * 74,492 74,492 0
Lord Abbett Bond Debenture Fund  $ 5,000,000.00 2.0% 248,309 248,309 0
Man Convertible Bond Master Fund, Ltd.(25)  $ 5,720,000.00 2.3% 284,065 284,065 0
MFS Total Return Fund, a series of Series Trust V $ 1,000,000.00 * 49,661 49,661 0
Morgan Stanley Convertible Securities Trust(13)  $ 1,500,000.00 * 74,492 74,492 0
Nations Convertible Securities Fund  $ 2,980,000.00 1.2% 147,992 147,992 0
Park Avenue Life Insurance Co.(17)  $ 100,000.00 * 4,966 4,966 0
Pioneer High Yield Fund  $ 3,600,000.00 1.4% 178,782 178,782 0
Pioneer U.S. High Yield Corp Bond Sub Fund  $ 400,000.00 * 19,864 19,864 0
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Quantum Partners LDC(26)  $ 2,000,000.00 * 168,831 99,323 69,508
Quattro Fund Ltd.  $ 3,520,000.00 1.4% 174,809 174,809 0
RAM Trading LTD  $ 3,000,000.00 1.2% 148,985 148,985 0
Sagamore Hill Hub Fund(27)  $ 6,000,000.00 2.4% 312,670 297,970 14,700
Salomon Brothers Asset Management, Inc.(28)  $ 4,600,000.00 1.8% 228,444 228,444 0
SG Cowen Securities Inc.(13)  $ 4,500,000.00 1.8% 223,478 223,478 0
Silverback Master, LTD  $ 7,500,000.00 3.0% 372,463 372,463 0
Sphinx Convertible Arb Fund SPC(11)  $ 242,000.00 * 12,018 12,018 0
Sphinx Convertible Arbitrage Fund SPC  $ 128,000.00 * 6,356 6,356 0
Sphinx Fund c/o TQA Investors LLC(24)  $ 252,000.00 * 12,514 12,514 0
SSI Blended Market Neutral L.P.(11)  $ 324,000.00 * 16,090 16,090 0
SSI Hedged Convertible Market Neutral L.P.(11)  $ 473,000.00 * 23,490 23,490 0
St. Thomas Trading, Ltd.(29)  $ 8,780,000.00 3.5% 436,030 436,030 0
State of Oregon/Equity(16)  $ 2,450,000.00 * 121,671 121,671 0
Syngenta AG(16)  $ 130,000.00 * 6,456 6,456 0
TQA Master Fund, Ltd.(24)  $ 3,748,000.00 1.5% 186,132 186,132 0
TQA Master Plus Fund, Ltd.(24)  $ 5,800,000.00 2.3% 288,038 288,038 0
UBS O'Connor LLC f/b/o O'Connor Global
Convertible Arbitrage Master Ltd.  $ 2,500,000.00 1.0% 124,154 124,154 0
UBS O'Connor LLC f/b/o O'Connor Global
Convertible Portfolio  $ 250,000.00 * 12,415 12,415 0
UBS Securities LLC(13)  $ 10,000.00 * 496 496 0
US Bancorp Piper Jaffray  $ 2,500,000.00 1.0% 124,154 124,154 0
Van Kampen Harbor Fund(30)  $ 5,000,000.00 2.0% 248,309 248,309 0
Viacom Inc. Pension Plan Master Trust(11)  $ 15,000.00 * 744 744 0
Wachovia Capital Markets LLC(13)  $ 9,750,000 3.9% 484,202 484,202 0
Wachovia Securities International Ltd.(31)  $ 5,000,000 2.0% 248,309 248,309 0
Xavex Convertible Arbitrage 7 Fund(24)  $ 843,000.00 * 41,864 41,864 0
Xavex Convertible Arbitrage 10 Fund(10)  $ 200,000.00 * 9,932 9,932 0
Zeneca Holdings Trust(16)  $ 500,000.00 * 24,830 24,830 0
Zurich Institutional Benchmarks Master Fund
Ltd. c/o TQA Investors LLC(24)  $ 950,000.00 * 47,178 47,178 0
Zurich Institutional Benchmark Management c/o
Quattro Fund  $ 880,000.00 * 43,702 43,702 0

* Less than 1.0%. 

(1) Information concerning the selling securityholders may change from time to time. Any such changed information will be set forth in post-effective
amendments to the Form S-3 registration statement, of which this prospectus constitutes a part, if and when necessary. 

(2) Assumes conversion at the initial conversion rate of 49.6618 shares per $1,000 principal amount of the notes. This conversion rate is subject to adjustment
as described under "Description of notes—Conversion Rights." Accordingly, the number of shares of common stock beneficially owned by a selling
securityholder may increase or decrease from time to time. Under the terms of the Indenture, fractional shares will not be issued upon conversion of the
notes. Cash will be paid instead of fractional shares, if any. 

(3) Assumes sale, transfer or other disposition of all common stock issuable upon conversion of the Notes. 

(4) Information concerning other selling securityholders will be set forth in post-effective amendments to the Form S-3 registration statement, of which this
prospectus constitutes a part, from time to time, if and when required.
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(5) This selling securityholder is a non-public entity. DKR Capital Partners L.P. is a registered investment adviser with the SEC and as such, is the investment
manager to the selling securityholder. DKR Capital Partners L.P. has retained certain portfolio managers to act as the portfolio managers to the selling
securityholder. As such, DKR Capital Partners L.P. and certain portfolio managers have shared dispositive and voting power over the securities. 

(6) This selling securityholder is a non-public entity. Anthony B. Bosco has voting and investment control over the securities that this selling securityholder
beneficially owns. 

(7) This selling securityholder is a non-public entity and a registered broker-dealer that acquired its securities for investment purposes and, accordingly, may
be deemed to be an underwriter. Please see the discussion under "Plan of Distribution" for the required disclosure regarding broker-dealers. Victoria
Eckert, president of Eckert Corp., the sole shareholder of the selling securityholder, has voting and investment control over the securities that this selling
securityholder beneficially owns. 

(8) This selling securityholder is a non-public entity. Creedon Keller & Partners (investment advisor) has voting and investment control over the securities
that this selling securityholder beneficially owns. 

(9) This selling securityholder is a non-public entity and affiliate of a registered broker-dealer. Clark Hunt and Johnathan Bren have voting and investment
control over the securities that this selling securityholder beneficially owns. The selling securityholder purchased the securities with the expectation of
reselling the securities in the ordinary course of business. The selling securityholder did not have an agreement or understanding, directly or indirectly,
with any person to distribute the securities at the time it purchased the securities. 

(10) The selling securityholder is a non-public entity. Bruce McMahan, Saul Schwartzman and John Gordon have voting and investment control over the
securities that this selling securityholder beneficially owns. 

(11) This selling securityholder is a non-public entity. SSI Investment Management, Inc. has voting and investment control over the securities that this selling
securityholder beneficially owns. The principal shareholders of SSI Investment Management, Inc. are John Gottfurcht, George Douglas and Amy Jo
Gottfurcht. 

(12) This selling securityholder is a non-public entity. Nick Calamos has voting and investment control over the securities that this selling securityholder
beneficially owns. 

(13) The selling securityholder is a registered broker-dealer that acquired its securities for investment purposes and, accordingly, may be deemed to be an
underwriter. Please see the discussion under "Plan of Distribution" for the required disclosure regarding broker-dealers. 

(14) The selling securityholder is a non-public entity. CNH Partners, LLC is the investment advisor of the selling securityholder and has voting and investment
control over the securities that the selling securityholder beneficially owns. Investment principals for CNH Partners, LLC are Robert Krail, Mark Mitchell
and Todd Pulvino. 

(15) The selling securityholder is a non-public entity and is an affiliate of a registered broker-dealer. Dan Azzi has voting and investment control over the
securities that the selling securityholder beneficially owns. The selling securityholder purchased the securities with the expectation of reselling the
securities in the ordinary course of business. The selling securityholder did not have an agreement or understanding, directly or indirectly, with any person
to distribute the securities at the time it purchased the securities. 

(16) The selling securityholder is a non-public entity. Ms. Ann Houlihan has voting and investment control over the securities that the selling securityholder
beneficially owns. 

(17) The selling securityholder is a non-public entity and an affiliate of a registered broker-dealer. John Murphy, managing director (and portfolio manager),
has voting and investment control over the securities that the selling securityholder beneficially owns. The selling securityholder purchased the securities
with the expectation of reselling the securities in the ordinary course of business. The selling securityholder did not have an agreement or understanding,
directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the securities at the time it purchased the securities. 

(18) This selling securityholder is a non-public entity. Michael Brailov and Bradford Whitmore have voting and investment control over the securities that this
selling securityholder beneficially owns. 

(19) This selling securityholder is a non-public entity and a California limited partnership. It's general partner is JMG Capital Management, LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company and an investment adviser registered with the SEC. JMG Capital Management LLC has voting and dispositive power over the
selling securityholder's investments, including the securities that this selling securityholder beneficially owns. The
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equity interests of JMG Capital Management, LLC are owned by JMG Capital Management, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and Asset Alliance Holding
Corp., a Delaware corporation. Jonathan M. Glaser is the Executive Officer and Director of JMG Capital Management, Inc. and has sole investment
discretion over the selling securityholder's portfolio holdings.

(20) This selling securityholder is a non-public entity and an international business company under the laws of the British Virgin Islands. The selling
securityholder's investment manager is Pacific Assets Management LLC, a Delaware limited liability company. Pacific Assets Management LLC is an
investment adviser registered with the SEC and has voting and dispositive power over the selling securityholder's and investments, including the securities
that this selling securityholder beneficially owns. The equity interests of Pacific Assets Management LLC are owned by Pacific Capital
Management, Inc., a Delaware company and Asset Alliance Holding Corp., a Delaware company. The equity interests of Pacific Capital
Management, Inc. are owned by Messrs. Roger Richer, Jonathan M. Glaser and Daniel A. David and Messrs. Glaser and Richter have sole investment
discretion over the selling securityholder's portfolio holdings. 

(21) The selling securityholder is a non-public entity and is an affiliate of a registered broker-dealer. KBC Financial Products [Cayman Islands] Ltd. exercises
voting and investment control over any shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes owned by the selling securityholder. Mr. Ivan
Rehder, Managing Director, exercises voting and investment control on behalf of KBC Financial Products [Cayman Islands] Ltd. The selling
securityholder purchased the securities with the expectation of reselling the securities in the ordinary course of business. The selling securityholder did not
have an agreement or understanding, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the securities at the time it purchased the securities. 

(22) The selling securityholder is a non-public entity and a registered broker-dealer that acquired its securities for investment purposes and, accordingly, may
be deemed to be an underwriter. Please see the discussion under "Plan of Distribution" for the required disclosure regarding broker-dealers. Luke Edwards
has voting and investment control over the securities that the selling securityholder beneficially owns. 

(23) The selling securityholder is a non-public entity. TQA Investors LLC has full investment control and shared voting control over the securities that the
selling securityholder beneficially owns. The members of TQA Investors LLC are Robert Butman, John Idone, George Esser, Paul Bucci and
Bartholomew Tesoriero. 

(24) The selling securityholder is a non-public entity and has voting and investment control over the securities that the selling securityholder beneficially owns,
c/o TQA Investors, LLC (Robert Butman, John Idone, George Esser, Paul Bucci and Bartholomew Tesoriero). 

(25) The selling securityholder is a non-public entity. JT Hansen and John Null, principals of Marin Capital Partners, LP, investment advisers to this selling
securityholder, have voting and investment control over the securities that the selling securityholder beneficially owns. 

(26) This selling securityholder is a non-public entity. Soros Fund Management LLC ("SFM") serves as the principal investment manager of this selling
securityholder. SFM, on behalf of this selling securityholder, granted investment discretion over certain securities owned by this selling securityholder to
Origin Capital Management LLC ("Origin") pursuant to an investment advisory contract between this selling securityholder and Origina (the "Quantum—
Origin Contract"). As a consequence of SFM's ability to terminate the Quantum—Origin Contract with respect to the securities within 60 days, SFM may
be deemed to have voting and dispositive power over the securities held for the accounts of this selling securityholder at Origin. George Soros, in his
capacity as Chairman of SFM, may be deemed to have voting and dispositive power over securities held for the accounts of this selling securityholder. 

(27) The selling securityholder is a non-public entity. S. Scott Roth has voting and investment control over the securities that the selling securityholder
beneficially owns. 

(28) The selling securityholder is an affiliate of a broker-dealer and purchased the securities with the expectation of reselling the securities in the ordinary
course of business. The selling securityholder did not have an agreement or understanding, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the
securities at the time it purchased the securities. Salomon Brothers Asset Management, Inc. acts as discretionary investment advisor with respect to the
following accounts that hold the securities. Accordingly, Salomon Brothers Asset
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Management, Inc. may be deemed to be the beneficial owner of such securities and therefore must be listed as the selling securityholder of:

Account Name

 

Principal Amount Held

Citigroup Pension Fund CAP Arbitrage  $ 147,000
SB Diversified Arbitrage Strategies   771,000
SB Enhanced Arbitrage Strategies   148,000
GM Pension   77,000
GM Veba   225,000
SB Market Neutral Arbitrage   224,000
SB Multi Strategy Arbitrage   3,008,000
  
Total  $ 4,600,000
  

(29) The selling securityholder is a non-public entity and is an affiliate of a registered broker-dealer. JT Hansen and John Null, principals of Marin Capital
Partners, LP, investment advisers to this selling securityholder, have voting and investment control over the securities that the selling securityholder
beneficially owns. The selling securityholder purchased the securities with the expectation of reselling the securities in the ordinary course of business.
The selling securityholder did not have an agreement or understanding, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the securities at the time it
purchased the securities. 

(30) The selling securityholder is a registered broker-dealer that acquired its securities for investment purposes and, accordingly, may be deemed to be an
underwriter. Please see the discussion under "Plan of Distribution" for the required disclosure regarding broker-dealers. Van Kampen Asset
Management Inc., as the selling securityholder's investment advisor, has discretionary authority over the selling securityholder's portfolio. 

(31) The selling securityholder is an affiliate of a broker-dealer and purchased the securities with the expectation of reselling the securities in the ordinary
course of business. The selling securityholder did not have an agreement or understanding, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the
securities at the time it purchased the securities. 

(32) The selling securityholder is a registered broker-dealer that acquired its securities for investment purposes and, accordingly, may be deemed to be an
underwriter. Please see the discussion under "Plan of Distribution" for the required disclosure regarding broker-dealers. SSI Investment Management, Inc.
has voting and investment control over the securities that this selling securityholder beneficially owns. The principal shareholders of SSI Investment
Management, Inc. are John Gottfurcht, George Douglas and Amy Jo Gottfurcht. 

(33) This selling securityholder is a non-public entity. Alexandra Investment Management LLC has voting and investment control over the securities that this
selling securityholder beneficially owns. 

(34) This selling securityholder is a non-public entity and affiliate of a registered broker-dealer. Michael Assante, Cort Gwon, Randall Hutton, K.C. Klegar,
Spencer Kornreich, Roy Kwok, Charles LaCarrier, Alan Mark, Richard Meckler, Kevin O'Neill, Ryan Hay, Richard Meckler, Jeffrey Meyer and Gary
Smedberg have voting and investment control over the securities that this selling securityholder beneficially owns. The selling securityholder purchased
the securities with the expectation of reselling the securities in the ordinary course of business. The selling securityholder did not have an agreement or
understanding, directly or indirectly, with any person to distribute the securities at the time it purchased the securities.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 

        We are registering for resale the notes and the shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes on behalf of the selling securityholders, a list of
whom is set forth in this prospectus under "Selling Securityholders," or pledgees, donees, transferees or other successors in interest that receive those shares as a
gift, partnership distribution or other non-sale related transfer, referred to in this prospectus as the selling securityholders. We will receive no proceeds from this
offering.

        The selling securityholders may sell the notes or shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes from time to time, if at all, as follows:

• to or through underwriters, brokers or dealers; 

• directly to one or more other purchasers; 

• through agents on a best-efforts basis; or 

• otherwise through a combination of any of these methods of sale.

        If a selling securityholder sells notes or shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes through underwriters, dealers, brokers or agents, those
underwriters, dealers, brokers or agents may receive compensation in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions from the selling securityholder and/or
the purchasers of the notes or shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes.

        The notes and shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes may be sold from time to time:

• in one or more transactions at a fixed price or prices, which may be changed; 

• at market prices prevailing at the time of sale; 

• at prices related to prevailing market prices; 

• at varying prices determined at the time of sale; or 

• at negotiated prices.

        These sales may be effected in transactions:

• on any national securities exchange or quotation service on which the notes or our common stock may be listed or quoted at the time of sale; 

• in the over-the-counter market; 

• in block transactions in which the broker or dealer so engaged will attempt to sell the shares of common stock as agent but may position and resell
a portion of the block as principal to facilitate the transaction, or in crosses, in which the same broker acts as an agent on both sides of the trade; 

• in transactions otherwise than on exchanges or services or in the over-the-counter market; 

• through the writing of options; or 

• through other types of transactions.

        In connection with sales of the notes or common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes or otherwise, the selling securityholders may enter into hedging
transactions with brokers-dealers or others, who may in turn engage in short sales of the notes or common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes in the
course of hedging the positions they assume. The selling securityholders may pledge or grant a security interest in some or all of the notes or common stock
issuable upon conversion of
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the notes and, if it defaults in the performance of its secured obligations, the pledgees or secured parties may offer and sell the notes or common stock issuable
upon conversion of the notes from time to time pursuant to this prospectus. The selling securityholders also may transfer and donate notes or shares of common
stock issuable upon conversion of the notes in other circumstances in which case the transferees, donees, pledgees or other successors in interest will be the
selling securityholders for purposes of this prospectus. The selling securityholders may sell short our common stock and may deliver this prospectus in
connection with short sales and use the shares of common stock covered by the prospectus to cover short sales. In addition, any securities covered by this
prospectus that qualify for sale pursuant to Rule 144 or any other available exemption from registration under the Securities Act may be sold under Rule 144 or
another available exemption.

        Our common stock trades on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol "PDLI". Although the notes are eligible for trading in the PORTAL market, we
do not intend to apply for listing of the notes on any securities exchange or for inclusion of the notes in any automated quotation system. Accordingly, no
assurance can be given as to the development of liquidity or any trading market for the notes. See "Risk factors—Risks Related to the Notes."

        At the time a particular offering of notes or shares of common stock is made, a prospectus supplement, if required, will be distributed which will set forth the
aggregate amount of shares of common stock being offered and the terms of the offering, including the name or names of any underwriters, dealers, brokers or
agents, if any, and any discounts, commissions or concessions allowed or reallowed to be paid to brokers or dealers. To our knowledge, there are currently no
agreements, arrangements or understandings with respect to the sale of any of the shares offered hereby.

        Selling securityholders and any underwriters, dealers, brokers or agents who participate in the distribution of the shares of common stock may be deemed to
be "underwriters" within the meaning of the Securities Act and any profits on the sale of the shares of common stock by them and any discounts commissions or
concessions received by any underwriters, dealers, brokers or agents may be deemed to be underwriting discounts and commissions under the Securities Act. The
selling securityholders and any other person participating in such distribution will be subject to the Exchange Act. The Exchange Act rules include, without
limitation, Regulation M, which may limit the timing of purchases and sales of any of the notes and the underlying common stock by the selling securityholders
and any other such person. In addition, Regulation M of the Exchange Act may restrict the ability of any person engaged in the distribution of the notes and the
underlying common stock to engage in market-making activities with respect to the particular notes and the underlying common stock being distributed for a
period of up to five business days prior to the commencement of such distribution. This may affect the marketability of the notes and the underlying common
stock and the ability of any person or entity to engage in market-making activities with respect to the notes and the underlying common stock.

        The selling securityholders will be responsible for any fees, disbursements and expenses of any counsel for the selling securityholders. All other expenses
incurred in connection with the registration of the shares, including printer's and accounting fees and the fees, disbursements and expenses of our counsel will be
borne by us. Commissions and discounts, if any, attributable to the sales of the notes and shares of common stock will be borne by the selling securityholders. The
selling securityholders may agree to indemnify any broker-dealer or agent that participates in transactions involving sales of the Notes and shares of common
stock against certain liabilities, including liabilities arising under the Securities Act.

        We and the selling securityholders will be indemnified by the other against liabilities under the Securities Act or will be entitled to contribution in connection
with these liabilities.

        We have agreed to keep the registration statement, of which this prospectus constitutes a part continuously effective under the Securities Act until such time
as there are no longer any registrable
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securities covered thereby. After this period, if we choose not to maintain the effectiveness of the registration statement of which this prospectus constitutes a part,
the securities offered hereby may not be sold, pledged, transferred or assigned, except in a transaction which is exempt under the provisions of the Securities Act.

LEGAL MATTERS 

        Gray Cary Ware & Freidenrich LLP will pass upon the validity of the notes and the common stock issuable upon their conversion.

EXPERTS 

        Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, have audited our consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003, as set forth in their report. We've included our financial statements in the prospectus and
elsewhere in the registration statement in reliance on Ernst & Young LLP's report, given on their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION 

        We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You can inspect, read and copy these reports, proxy
statements and other information at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. You can also obtain copies of these
materials at prescribed rates by writing to the Public Reference Section of the SEC at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549. You can obtain
information on the operation of the public reference facilities by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains a web site (http://www.sec.gov)
that makes available reports, proxy statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with it.

INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE 

        Some of the information that you may want to consider in deciding whether to invest in the notes is not included in this prospectus, but rather is incorporated
by reference to certain reports that we have filed with the SEC. This permits us to disclose important information to you by referring to those documents rather
than repeating them in full in the prospectus. The information incorporated by reference in this prospectus contains important business and financial information.
In addition, information that we file with the SEC after the date of this prospectus and prior to the completion of this offering will update and supersede the
information contained in this prospectus and incorporated filings. We incorporate by reference the following documents filed by us with the SEC:

Our SEC Filings

 

Period Covered or Date of Filing

Annual Report on Form 10-K  Year ended December 31, 2003†

Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q  Quarter ended March 31, 2004
Quarter ended June 30, 2004

All subsequent documents filed by us under Sections 13(a),
13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

 
After the date of this prospectus and prior to the completion of this offering

† The report of Ernst & Young LLP, independent auditors, dated February 2, 2004 with respect to our consolidated financial statements included in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
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ended December 31, 2003 is hereby revised as reflected in the report of Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, dated
February 2, 2004 (except for paragraphs 14 through 18 of Note 1, as to which the date is August 9, 2004), which report is filed in Exhibit 99.1 hereto, and
which revised paragraphs 14 through 18 of Note 1 were included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2004 filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 9, 2004.

        Any statement contained in a document incorporated by reference, or deemed to be incorporated by reference, in this prospectus shall be deemed to be
modified or superseded for purposes of this prospectus to the extent that a statement contained herein or in any other subsequently filed document which also is
incorporated by reference in this prospectus modifies or supersedes such statement. Any such statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as
so modified or superseded, to constitute a part of this prospectus. Statements contained in this prospectus as to the contents of any contract or other document
referred to in this prospectus do not purport to be complete, and where reference is made to the particular provisions of such contract or other document, such
provisions are qualified in all respects by reference to all of the provisions of such contract or other document.

        You may request a copy of each document incorporated by reference in this prospectus at no cost, by writing or calling us at the following address or
telephone number:

Protein Design Labs, Inc.
34801 Campus Drive

Fremont, California 94555
(510) 574-1400

        Exhibits to a document will not be provided unless they are specifically incorporated by reference in that document.

        The information in this prospectus may not contain all of the information that may be important to you. You should read the entire prospectus, as well as the
documents incorporated by reference in the prospectus, before making an investment decision.
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PART II
INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS 

ITEM 14.    OTHER EXPENSES OF ISSUANCE AND DISTRIBUTION. 

        The following table sets forth the fees and expenses in connection with the issuance and distribution of the securities being registered hereunder. Except for
the SEC registration fee, all amounts are estimates.

SEC registration fee  $ 20,225
Accounting fees and expenses   65,000
Legal fees and expenses   80,000
Printing expenses   25,000
Trustee and Transfer Agent expenses   30,000
Miscellaneous expenses, including Listing Fees   5,000
  
Total  $ 225,225
  

ITEM 15.    INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS. 

        Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law permits indemnification of officers, directors, and other corporate agents under certain circumstances
and subject to certain limitations. Our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that we shall indemnify our directors,
officers, employees, and agents to the full extent permitted by Delaware law. The restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws further
provide that we may indemnify directors, officers, employees, and agents in circumstances in which indemnification is otherwise discretionary under Delaware
law. In addition, we entered into separate indemnification agreements with our directors and officers which would require us, among other things, to indemnify
them against certain liabilities which may arise by reason of their status or service (other than liabilities arising from willful misconduct of a culpable nature) and
to maintain directors' and officer's liability insurance, if available on reasonable terms.

        These indemnification provisions and the indemnification agreements that we have entered into with our officers and directors may be sufficiently broad to
permit indemnification of our officers and directors for liabilities (including reimbursement of expenses incurred) arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the Securities Act).

        We have a policy of directors' and officers' liability insurance that insures our directors and officers against the cost of defense, settlement or payment of a
judgment under certain circumstances.

        At present, there is no pending litigation or proceeding involving any of our directors, officers, employees or other agents in which indemnification is being
sought. We are not aware of any threatened litigation that may result in a claim for indemnification by any of our directors, officers, employees or other agents.

ITEM 16.    EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES. 

        Exhibits:

EXHIBIT
NUMBER

 

DESCRIPTION

*4.1 Indenture between the Company and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, a national
banking association, dated July 14, 2003
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*4.2 Registration Rights Agreement for the Company's 2.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2023,
between the Company and the Initial Purchasers dated July 14, 2003

*5.1 Opinion of Gray Cary Ware & Freidenrich LLP

12.1 Statements Regarding Computations of Ratios

*23.1 Consent of Gray Cary Ware & Freidenrich LLP (contained in Exhibit 5.1)

23.2 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

*24 Power of Attorney

*25 Statement of Eligibility of the Trustee on Form T-1

99.1 Consolidated financial statements of Protein Design Labs, Inc. for the year ended December 31,
2003

* Previously filed.

ITEM 17.    UNDERTAKINGS. 

        Insofar as indemnification by the registrant for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of
the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Commission such indemnification is
against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act, and is therefore unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other
than the payment by the registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer, or controlling person of the registrant in the successful defense of any action,
suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered hereunder, the registrant will, unless
in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such
indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

        The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:

(1) To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement: 

(i) To include any prospectus required by section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act; 

(ii) To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the most recent post-effective
amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental change in the information set forth in the registration
statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities
offered would not exceed that which was registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range
may be reflected in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) if, in the aggregate, the changes in volume
and price represent no more than a 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering price set forth in the "Calculation of Registration Fee"
table in the effective registration statement; and
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(iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the registration statement or any
material change to such information in the registration statement.

Provided, however, That paragraphs (1)(i) and (a)(1)(ii) above shall not apply if the registration statement is on Form S-3, Form S-8, or Form F-3, and the
information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in periodic reports filed with or furnished to the Commission
by the registrant pursuant to section 13 or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference in the registration statement.

(2) That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a
new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial
bona fide offering thereof. 

(3) To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain unsold at the termination
of the offering.

        The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that:

(1) For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act, the information omitted from the form of Prospectus filed as part of this
Registration Statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in the form of prospectus filed by the Registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or
(4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this Registration Statement as of the time it was declared effective; and 

(2) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each post-effective amendment that contains a form of Prospectus shall be
deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at the time shall be deemed
to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
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SIGNATURES 

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant certifies that it has reasonable grounds to believe that it meets all of the
requirements for filing on Form S-3 and has duly caused this Post-Effective Amendment No. 7 to the registration statement to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Fremont, State of California on September 7, 2004.

  PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC.

  By: /s/  MARK MCDADE*      

Mark McDade
Chief Executive Officer

  *By: /s/  GLEN Y. SATO      

Glen Y. Sato
(Attorney-in-fact)

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this Post-Effective Amendment No. 7 to the Form S-3 registration statement has
been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated and on the dates indicated below.

   
Date: September 7, 2004  /s/  MARK MCDADE*      

Mark McDade
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Date: September 7, 2004  /s/  GLEN Y. SATO      

Glen Y. Sato
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Date: September 7, 2004  /s/  LAURENCE J. KORN*      

Laurence J. Korn
Chairman of the Board of Directors and Director

Date: September 7, 2004  /s/  CARY L. QUEEN*      

Cary L. Queen
Senior Vice President and Director

Date: September 7, 2004  /s/  JON S. SAXE*      

Jon S. Saxe
Director

Date: September 7, 2004  /s/  KAREN T. DAWES*      

Karen T. Dawes
Director

Date: September 7, 2004  /s/  GEORGE M. GOULD*      

George M. Gould
Director
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Date: September 7, 2004  /s/  MAX LINK*      

Max Link
Director

Date: September 7, 2004  /s/  L. PATRICK GAGE*      

L. Patrick Gage
Director

*By:  /s/  GLEN Y. SATO      

Glen Y. Sato
(Attorney-in-fact)

    

II-5



INDEX TO EXHIBITS 

Exhibit No.

  
*4.1 Indenture between the Company and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, a national banking association, dated July 14, 2003

*4.2 Registration Rights Agreement for the Company's 2.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2023, between the Company and the Initial
Purchasers dated July 14, 2003

*5.1 Opinion of Gray Cary Ware & Freidenrich LLP

12.1 Statements Re:    Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

*23.1 Consent of Gray Cary Ware & Freidenrich LLP (contained in Exhibit 5.1)

23.2 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

*24 Power of Attorney

*25 Statement of Eligibility of the Trustee on Form T-1

99.1 Consolidated financial statements of Protein Design Labs, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2003

* Previously filed.
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EXHIBIT 12.1 

STATEMENTS RE: COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES 

 
 

Year ended December 31,    
 

 

Six months
ended June 30,

2004

 

  

1999

 

2000

 

2001

 

2002

 

2003

 

  

(in thousands)

 
Earnings:                    
Income (loss) before income taxes  $ (10,333) $ 652 $ 2,659 $ (14,512) $ (129,741) $ (25,014)
Add: Fixed charges   1,510  8,915  10,190  10,370  13,176  5,037 
Less: Capitalized interest   —  —  —  (531)  (2,245)  (1,685)
        
 Earnings  $ (8,823) $ 9,567 $ 12,849 $ (4,673) $ (118,810) $ (21,663)
        
Fixed Charges:                    
Interest expensed and capitalized  $ 155 $ 8,593 $ 9,709 $ 9,677 $ 12,015 $ 4,421 
Estimated interest portion of rent expense   1,355  322  481  693  1,161  616 
        
 Fixed charges  $ 1,510 $ 8,915 $ 10,190 $ 10,370 $ 13,176 $ 5,037 
        
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges(1)   N/A  1.07  1.26  N/A  N/A  N/A 

(1) Income (loss) before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 1999, 2002 and 2003 and for the six months ended June 30, 2004 was not sufficient
to cover fixed charges by a total of approximately $10.3 million in 1999, $15.0 million in 2002, $132.0 million in 2003 and $26.7 million in the six
months ended June 30, 2004. As a result, the ratio of earnings to fixed charges has not been computed for any of these periods.
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EXHIBIT 23.2 

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

        We consent to the reference to our firm under the caption "Experts" in the Post-Effective Amendment No. 7 to the Registration Statement on Form S-3
(No. 333-108701) and related Prospectus of Protein Design Labs, Inc. for the registration of the Company's 2.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2023 and
12,415,450 shares of its common stock and to the inclusion therein of our report dated February 2, 2004 (except for paragraphs 14 through 18 of Note 1, as to
which the date is August 9, 2004) with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Protein Design Labs, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2003.

/s/  ERNST & YOUNG LLP      

Palo Alto, California
August 31, 2004
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EXHIBIT 99.1
 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
 

PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except per share data)
 

  
December 31,

 

  
2003

 
2002

 

      
ASSETS

     

Current assets:
     

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 341,768
 

$ 287,730
 

Marketable securities, including $7.4 million of restricted investments at December 31, 2003
 

149,863
 

318,680
 

Other current assets
 

11,893
 

7,432
 

Total current assets
 

503,524
 

613,842
 

Land, property and equipment, net
 

155,513
 

70,802
 

Intangible assets, net
 

32,311
 

—
 

Restricted investments
 

13,362
 

—
 

Other assets
 

7,320
 

3,174
 

Convertible note receivable
 

30,000
 

30,000
 

Total assets
 

$ 742,030
 

$ 717,818
 

      
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

     

Current liabilities:
     

Accounts payable
 

$ 3,576
 

$ 1,628
 

Accrued compensation
 

5,903
 

2,520
 

Accrued clinical trial costs
 

1,759
 

2,327
 

Accrued interest
 

3,204
 

3,071
 

Other accrued liabilities
 

19,351
 

4,576
 

Deferred revenue
 

161
 

38
 

Current portion of notes payable
 

537
 

—
 

Capital lease obligations
 

183
 

—
 

Current portion of other long-term debt
 

502
 

466
 

Total current liabilities
 

35,176
 

14,626
 

Convertible subordinated notes
 

250,000
 

150,000
 

Notes payable
 

595
 

—
 

Other long-term debt
 

7,928
 

8,426
 

Total liabilities
 

293,699
 

173,052
 

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 2 and 10)
     

Stockholders’ equity:
     

Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, 10,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding
 

—
 

—
 

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share, 250,000 shares authorized; 93,886 and 89,179 issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2002, respectively

 

939
 

892
 

Additional paid-in capital
 

666,793
 

628,292
 

Accumulated deficit
 

(220,291) (90,477)
Accumulated other comprehensive income

 

890
 

6,059
 

Total stockholders’ equity
 

448,331
 

544,766
 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
 

$ 742,030
 

$ 717,818
 

 
See accompanying notes.
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PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

 
  

Years Ended December 31,
 

  
2003

 
2002

 
2001

 

        
Revenues:

       

Royalties
 

$ 52,704
 

$ 40,421
 

$ 30,604
 

License and other
 

13,982
 

5,952
 

13,796
 

Total revenues
 

66,686
 

46,373
 

44,400
 

Costs and expenses:
       

Research and development
 

82,732
 

57,978
 

52,163
 

General and administrative
 

27,613
 

18,373
 

15,004
 

Acquired in-process research and development
 

85,993
 

—
 

—
 

Total costs and expenses
 

196,338
 

76,351
 

67,167
 

Operating loss
 

(129,652) (29,978) (22,767)
Interest and other income, net

 

9,831
 

25,978
 

35,135
 

 



Interest expense (9,770) (9,146) (9,709)
Impairment loss on investment

 

(150) (1,366) —
 

Income (loss) before income taxes
 

(129,741) (14,512) 2,659
 

Provision for income taxes
 

73
 

42
 

12
 

Net income (loss)
 

$ (129,814) $ (14,554) $ 2,647
 

        
Net income (loss) per share:

       

Basic
 

$ (1.40) $ (0.16) $ 0.03
 

        
Diluted

 

$ (1.40) $ (0.16) $ 0.03
 

        
Shares used in computation of net income (loss) per share:

       

Basic
 

92,478
 

88,865
 

87,624
 

        
Diluted

 

92,478
 

88,865
 

92,889
 

 
See accompanying notes.
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PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In thousands, except shares of common stock data)

 

  
Common Stock

 

Additional
Paid-In

 

  
Shares

 
Amount

 
Capital

 

        
Balance at December 31, 2000

 

87,153,300
 

$ 872
 

$ 611,254
 

Issuance of common stock under employee benefit plans
 

1,346,001
 

13
 

12,840
 

Balance at December 31, 2001
 

88,499,301
 

885
 

624,094
 

Issuance of common stock under employee benefit plans
 

679,566
 

7
 

4,198
 

Balance at December 31, 2002
 

89,178,867
 

892
 

628,292
 

Issuance of common stock under employee benefit plans
 

526,662
 

5
 

4,105
 

Issuance of common stock in connection with Eos acquisition
 

4,180,375
 

42
 

34,120
 

Issuance of common stock options to consultants for services
 

—
 

—
 

276
 

Balance at December 31, 2003
 

93,885,904
 

$ 939
 

$ 666,793
 

 

  

Accumulated
Deficit

 

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income

 

Total
Stockholders’

Equity
 

        
Balance at December 31, 2000

 

$ (78,570) $ 588
 

$ 534,144
 

Issuance of common stock under employee benefit plans
 

—
 

—
 

12,853
 

Comprehensive income:
       

Net income
 

2,647
 

—
 

2,647
 

Unrealized gains on securities
 

—
 

8,799
 

8,799
 

Total comprehensive income
     

11,446
 

Balance at December 31, 2001
 

(75,923) 9,387
 

558,443
 

Issuance of common stock under employee benefit plans
 

—
 

—
 

4,205
 

Comprehensive loss:
       

Net loss
 

(14,554) —
 

(14,554)
Change in unrealized gains on securities

 

—
 

(3,328) (3,328)
Total comprehensive loss

     

(17,882)
Balance at December 31, 2002

 

(90,477) 6,059
 

544,766
 

Issuance of common stock under employee benefit plans
 

—
 

—
 

4,110
 

Issuance of common stock in connection with Eos acquisition
 

—
 

—
 

34,162
 

Issuance of common stock options to consultants for services
 

—
 

—
 

276
 

Comprehensive loss:
       

Net loss
 

(129,814) —
 

(129,814)
Change in unrealized gains on securities

 

—
 

(5,169) (5,169)
Total comprehensive loss

     

(134,983)
Balance at December 31, 2003

 

$ (220,291) $ 890
 

$ 448,331
 

 
See accompanying notes.
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PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

 
   



Years Ended December 31,
  

2003
 

2002
 

2001
 

Cash flows from operating activities:
       

Net income (loss)
 

$ (129,814) $ (14,554) $ 2,647
 

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
       

Acquired in-process research and development
 

85,993
 

—
 

—
 

Depreciation and amortization
 

8,407
 

5,441
 

4,782
 

Amortization of convertible notes offering costs
 

1,147
 

721
 

721
 

Amortization of intangible assets
 

941
     

Consultant stock-based compensation expense
 

276
 

—
 

—
 

Impairment loss on investment
 

150
 

1,366
 

—
 

Loss on early extinguishment of debt
 

6,538
 

—
 

—
 

Loss on disposal of fixed assets
 

455
 

—
 

—
 

Changes in assets and liabilities:
       

Interest receivable
 

2,975
 

3,904
 

(4,522)
Other current assets

 

(3,770) (3,336) (2,164)
Other assets

 

(7,857) (643) 105
 

Accounts payable
 

997
 

379
 

187
 

Accrued liabilities
 

10,474
 

1,713
 

2,187
 

Deferred revenue
 

123
 

(62) (1,355)
        
Total adjustments

 

106,849
 

9,483
 

(59)
        
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

 

(22,965) (5,071) 2,588
 

Cash flows from investing activities:
       

Purchases of marketable securities
 

(110,049) (79,954) (485,483)
Maturities of marketable securities

 

278,000
 

283,500
 

207,885
 

Purchase of restricted securities
 

(20,822) —
 

—
 

Purchase of convertible note
 

—
 

—
 

(30,000)
Cash acquired in acquisition of Eos

 

2,453
 

—
 

—
 

Purchase of intangible assets
 

(80,000) —
 

—
 

Purchase of land, property and equipment
 

(91,118) (34,786) (8,716)
        

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
 

(21,536) 168,760
 

(316,314)
Cash flows from financing activities:

       

Proceeds from issuance of common stock
 

4,110
 

4,205
 

12,853
 

Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes
 

250,000
 

—
 

—
 

Extinguishment of long-term convertible debentures
 

(154,125) —
 

—
 

Payments on other long-term obligations
 

(1,446) (432) (400)
        
Net cash provided by financing activities

 

98,539
 

3,773
 

12,453
 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
 

54,038
 

167,462
 

(301,273)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

 

287,730
 

120,268
 

421,541
 

        
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

 

$ 341,768
 

$ 287,730
 

$ 120,268
 

Supplemental Disclosure of Noncash Financing and Investing Activities
       

Exchange of assets for third party preferred stock
 

$ —
 

$ 1,290
 

$ —
 

Cash Flow for Acquisition of Eos:
       

Assembled workforce
 

$ 1,410
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

Other current assets acquired
 

691
 

—
 

—
 

Acquired in-process research and development
 

37,834
 

—
 

—
 

Property and equipment acquired
 

2,274
 

—
 

—
 

Liabilities assumed
 

(5,848) —
 

—
 

Acquisition and transaction costs incurred
 

(4,652) —
 

—
 

Common stock issued
 

(34,162) —
 

—
 

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
       

Cash paid during the year for interest
 

$ 10,736
 

$ 8,957
 

$ 8,989
 

 
See accompanying notes.
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PROTEIN DESIGN LABS, INC.

 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
December 31, 2003

 
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Organization and Business

 
Protein Design Labs, Inc. (we, us, our, PDL or the Company) is a biotechnology company engaged in the development of humanized antibodies to

prevent or treat various disease conditions. We currently have antibodies under development for autoimmune and inflammatory conditions, asthma and



cancer. We hold fundamental patents for its antibody humanization technology.
 
Principles of Consolidation

 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Protein Design Labs, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Fremont Holding L.L.C.,

Fremont Management, Inc. and PDL France SAS, after elimination of inter-company accounts and transactions.
 
Reclassifications

 
Certain reclassifications of prior years amounts have been made to conform to the current year presentation.

 
Cash Equivalents, Marketable Securities and Concentration of Credit Risk

 
We consider all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. We place our cash,

cash equivalents and marketable debt securities with high-credit-quality financial institutions and in securities of the U.S. government, U.S. government
agencies and U.S. corporations and, by policy, limit the amount of credit exposure in any one financial instrument. To date, we have not experienced credit
losses on investments in these instruments.
 
Revenue Recognition

 
We currently recognize three types of revenues resulting from the licensing and use of our technology, and from services we sometimes perform in

connection with the licensed technology. These revenues are typically derived from our proprietary patent portfolio covering the humanization of antibodies
for use in drug development and production. Revenues, and their respective treatment for financial reporting purposes, are as follows:
 
Upfront and License Maintenance Fees

 
We generally recognize revenue from upfront fees when the agreement is signed, we have completed the earnings process and we have no ongoing

performance obligation with respect to the arrangement. Revenues recognized from upfront fees typically relate to patent license and patent rights
agreements.

 
•                                          Under patent license agreements, the licensee typically obtains a non-exclusive license to our patents. In this arrangement, the licensee is

responsible for all of the development work on its product. The licensee has the technical ability to perform the humanization of the
antibody it is developing using our patented technology, but needs to obtain a license from us to avoid infringing our patents. We have no
future performance obligations under these agreements.
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•                                          Under patent rights agreements, licensees currently purchase a research patent license, in exchange for an upfront fee, and a right to obtain,

in exchange for consideration separate from the upfront fee, patent licenses for commercial purposes for a specified number of drug targets
to be designated by the licensee subsequent to execution of the agreement. All of the research is performed by the licensee, and therefore,
upon delivery of the patent rights agreement, the earnings process is complete and we have no further performance obligations with respect
to the research patent license and the grant of the right to obtain commercial patent licenses. Subsequent to execution of the agreement, the
licensee has the right to purchase patent licenses to certain designated targets, for which the licensee pays separate consideration at a later
date. Such consideration is recognized upon exercise of such right, execution and delivery of the associated patent license agreement and
when payment is reasonably assured.

 
•                                          Under our humanization agreements, the licensee typically pays an upfront fee for us to humanize an antibody. These upfront fees are

recognized on a percent completion basis, as the humanization work is performed, which is typically over three to six months.
 

•                                          Under patent license agreements and humanization agreements, we may also receive annual license maintenance fees, payable at the
election of the licensee to maintain the license in effect. We have no performance obligations with respect to such fees. Maintenance fees
are recognized as they are due and when payment is reasonably assured.

 
Multiple Element Arrangements
 

We enter into patent license and humanization agreements that may contain other elements, such as milestones related to reaching particular stages in
product development and royalties. If we determine that separate elements exist under EITF 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,” we
recognize revenue for delivered elements only when the fair values of undelivered elements are known, when the associated earnings process is complete and,
to the extent the milestone amount relates to our performance obligation, when our customer confirms that we have met the requirements under the terms of
the agreement and when payment is reasonably assured.
 

Generally, there are three types of agreements under which a customer would owe us a milestone payment:
 

•                                          Humanization agreements provide for the payment of certain milestones to us after the completion of services to perform the humanization
process. These milestones include delivery of a humanized antibody meeting a certain binding affinity and, at the customer’s election,
delivery of a cell line meeting certain criteria described in the original agreement.

 
•                                          Patent license agreements and humanization agreements sometimes require our customers to make milestone payments to us when they

achieve certain progress, such as FDA approval, with respect to the customer’s product. Because we have no obligations with respect to any
of this activity, we record these milestone payments as revenue when received and we have confirmed that the milestone has been achieved.

 
•                                          We may also receive certain milestone payments in connection with licensing technology to or from our partners, such as product licenses.

Under these agreements, our partners may make milestone payments to us when they or we achieve certain levels of development with



respect to the licensed technology.
 
Royalties
 

Under some of our agreements, we also receive royalty payments based upon our licensees’ net sales of products. Generally, we receive royalty
reports from such licensees approximately one quarter in arrears; that is, generally at the end of the second month of the quarter after the licensee has sold the
royalty-bearing product. We recognize royalty revenues when we can reliably estimate such amounts and collectibility is reasonably assured. Accordingly, we
recognize royalty revenue in the quarter it is reported to us (i.e., generally revenue is recognized one quarter following the quarter in which sales occurred).
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Clinical Trial Expenses
 

Our cost accruals for clinical trials are based on estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to contracts with numerous clinical
trial centers and clinical research organizations. In the normal course of business we contract with third parties to perform various clinical trial activities in the
on-going development of potential drugs. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation and variation from contract to contract and may
result in uneven payment flows. Payments under the contracts depend on factors such as the achievement of certain events, the successful accrual of patients,
the completion of portions of the clinical trial, or similar conditions. The objective of our accrual policy is to match the recording of expenses in our financial
statements to the actual cost of services received and efforts expended. As such, expenses related to each patient enrolled in a clinical trial are recognized
ratably beginning upon entry into the trial and over the course of the patient’s continued participation in the trial. In the event of early termination of a clinical
trial, we accrue an amount based on our estimate of the remaining non-cancelable obligations associated with the winding down of the clinical trial. Our
estimates and assumptions could differ significantly from the amounts that may actually be incurred.
 
Research and Development

 
Major components of research and development expenses consist of personnel costs, including salaries and benefits, clinical development performed

by us and contract research organizations, preclinical work, pharmaceutical development, materials and supplies, third-party research funding and overhead
allocations consisting of various administrative and facilities related costs. All research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred.
 
Interest and Other Income, Net

 
Interest and other income, net, includes interest income earned on our marketable securities and other non-operating income and expenses. For the

year ended December 31, 2003, the components of interest and other income, net, primarily include interest income on our marketable securities of $16.3
million, partially offset by a $6.5 million charge associated with the early extinguishment of our $150 million 5.50% Convertible Notes in the fourth quarter
of 2003 (see Note 12 for further details of our debt extinguishment). For the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, the amount was comprised solely of
interest income on our marketable securities portfolio.
 
Comprehensive Income (Loss)

 
Comprehensive income (loss) is comprised of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss). Other comprehensive income (loss) includes

certain changes in equity that are excluded from our net income (loss), specifically, the changes in unrealized gains and losses on our holdings of available-
for-sale securities. Comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 is reflected in the Consolidated Statements of
Stockholders’ Equity.
 
Stock-Based Compensation

 
At December 31, 2003, we had six stock-based employee compensation plans, which are described more fully in Note 14. We account for our plans

under the recognition and measurement principles of APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related Interpretations. No
stock-based employee compensation cost is reflected in net income (loss), as all options granted under our plans had an exercise price equal to the market
value of the underlying common stock on the date of grant.
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The following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share if we had applied the fair value recognition provisions of FASB
Statement No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (FAS 123), as amended by FAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-
Transition and Disclosure,” to stock-based employee compensation.
 
During the preparation of the notes to the consolidated condensed financial statements for the quarter ended June 30, 2004, we determined that the calculation
of our pro forma net loss reported under FAS 123 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, as previously reported, was understated primarily
as a result of our having inadvertently excluded the fair value of (and, therefore, the amortization expense related to) options granted during 1998 through
2001.  In addition, we found that amortization expense was incorrectly calculated in 2001, 2002 and 2003 due primarily to inaccuracies in the computation of
the weighted-average expected life used to calculate the fair value of stock options granted during 2000 through 2003.  Accordingly, pro forma net loss
reported under FAS 123 for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2002 and 2003, presented in the tables below, has been revised.  These revisions had no
effect on our previously reported consolidated results of operations or financial condition.
 
  

Year Ended December 31
 

(In thousands, except per share data)
 

2003
 

2002
 

2001
 

  
(revised)

 
(revised)

 
(revised)

 

        
Net income (loss), as reported

 

$ (129,814) $ (14,554)$ 2,647
 

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value
based method for all awards, net of related tax effects (revised)

 

(25,220) (31,462) (40,867)
Pro forma net loss

 

$ (155,034) $ (46,016)$(38,220)



        
Net income (loss) per basic and diluted share:

       

As reported
 

$ (1.40) $ (0.16)$ 0.03
 

        
Pro forma

 

$ (1.68) $ (0.52)$ (0.44)
        
Impact of revision on previously reported:

       

Pro forma net loss
 

$ (5,965) $ (19,620)$ (1,928)
        
Pro forma net loss per basic and diluted share

 

$ (0.07) $ (0.22)$ (0.03)
 

For the periods presented in the table below, the fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the multiple-option approach
under the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions:
 

  
Years Ended December 31,

 

  
2003

 
2002

 
2001

 

        
Expected life, in years (revised)

 

2.8
 

2.7
 

3.0
 

Risk-free interest rate
 

2.9% 3.9% 4.7%
Volatility

 

72% 87% 98%
Dividend yield

 

0
 

0
 

0
 

 
On March 31, 2004, the FASB issued the Exposure Draft “Share Based Payment,” which would require all equity-based awards to employees to be

recognized in the statement of operations based on their fair values.  We will adopt the final standard upon its issuance from the FASB.
 
We account for stock options granted to non-employees at fair value using the Black-Scholes Option Valuation Model in accordance with EITF 96-

18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services.” Stock
options granted to non-employees are subject to periodic revaluation over their vesting terms. We recognize the resulting stock-based compensation expense
over the service period in which the non-employee provides services to the Company.
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Segment and Concentrations Disclosure
 

In accordance with FASB Statement No. 131, “Disclosure About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” we are required to report
operating segments and related disclosures about our products, services, geographic areas and major customers. We have no product revenue and have only
one segment with facilities located primarily within the United States. The majority of our revenues are earned in the United States.
 

Revenues from Genentech in 2003, 2002 and 2001 accounted for 40%, 38%, and 27% of total revenues, and revenues from MedImmune in 2003,
2002 and 2001 accounted for 37%, 48%, and 33% of total revenues, respectively. No other revenue from any other source exceeded 10% of total revenues for
all periods presented.
 
Derivative Instruments
 

In accordance with FASB Statement No. 133 “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” we are required to recognize all
derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position and measure those instruments at fair value. We do not use or hold derivatives
and therefore there is no effect on the results of our operations or on our financial position.
 
Foreign Currency Translation
 

We use the U.S. dollar as our functional currency for our U.S. operations as well as the operations of our French subsidiary. All foreign currency
gains and losses are included in interest and other income, net, and have not been material.
 
Management Estimates
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires the use of
management’s estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Our estimates and assumptions
could differ significantly from the amounts that may actually be incurred.
 
Land, Property and Equipment
 

Land, property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated straight-line depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are
computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:
 
Buildings and improvements

 

15 to 30 years
 

Leasehold improvements
 

Shorter of asset life or term of lease
 

Laboratory and manufacturing equipment
 

7 years
 

Computer and office equipment
 

3 years
 

Furniture and fixtures
 

7 years
 

 
Capitalization of Interest Cost

 
We capitalize a portion of our interest on borrowings in connection with the renovation of our existing manufacturing facilities and the development

and construction activities for our future manufacturing facility. Capitalized interest is added to the cost of the underlying assets and is amortized over the



useful lives of the assets. Of total interest cost incurred of $12.0 million and $9.6 million during the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, we capitalized
interest of $2.2 million and $0.5 million, respectively. No interest was capitalized in 2001.
 
Intangible and Other Long-Lived Assets

 
Intangible assets consist of assembled workforce, purchased core technology and a reversion right to purchase certain technology from Roche. In

accordance with FASB Statement No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” we are amortizing our intangible assets with definite lives over their
estimated useful lives and review them for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be
recoverable. We are amortizing the assembled workforce and core technology assets on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, 2 and 10 years,
respectively. We will reclassify the reversion right asset into core technology at that time when the rights to the technology revert back to us (see Note 2).
Upon reclassifying the reversion right asset to core technology, we will amortize the asset over the remaining term of the patents underlying the acquired
technology. Amortization of intangible assets is included primarily in research and development expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. (See
Note 8 for further details on intangible assets.)
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In accordance with FASB Statement No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” we identify and record

impairment losses, as circumstances dictate, on long-lived assets used in operations when events and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired
and the discounted cash flows estimated to be generated by those assets are less than the carrying amounts of those assets. No such impairments have been
identified with respect to our long-lived assets, which consist primarily of property and equipment and the intangible assets discussed above.
 
Postretirement Benefits

 
In June 2003, we established a postretirement health care plan to offer medical benefits to certain of our former officers and their dependents. We

account for these postretirement benefits in accordance with FASB Statement No. 106, “Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than
Pensions” and FASB Statement No. 132, “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits.”
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

 
In November 2002, the FASB issued EITF 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” (Issue 00-21). Issue 00-21 addresses certain

aspects of the accounting by a company for arrangements under which it will perform multiple revenue-generating activities. Issue 00-21 addresses when and
how an arrangement involving multiple deliverables should be divided into separate units of accounting. Issue 00-21 also addresses the impact on the
measurement and/or allocation of arrangement consideration of customer cancellation provisions and consideration that varies as a result of future actions of
the customer or the company. The provisions of Issue 00-21 applied to our revenue arrangements entered into after June 30, 2003. Our adoption of Issue 00-
21 did not have a material impact on our results of operations or financial position.

 
In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” (FIN 46). FIN 46 requires a variable interest

entity to be consolidated by a company if that company is subject to a majority of the risk of loss from the variable interest entity’s activities or entitled to
receive a majority of the entity’s residual returns or both. A variable interest entity is a corporation, partnership, trust, or any other legal structures used for
business purposes that either (a) does not have equity investors with voting rights or (b) has equity investors that do not provide sufficient financial resources
for the entity to support its activities. A variable interest entity may be essentially passive or it may engage in research and development or other activities on
behalf of another company. The consolidation requirements of FIN 46 apply immediately to variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003. The
consolidation requirements apply to older entities for interim periods ending after March 15, 2004. Certain of the disclosure requirements apply to all
financial statements issued after January 31, 2003, regardless of when the variable interest entity was established. Our adoption of the remaining provisions
FIN 46 in the first quarter of 2004 is not expected to have a material impact on our results of operations or financial position.

 
In December 2003, the FASB revised FASB Statement No. 132, “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits,” (FAS

132) to improve financial statement disclosures for defined benefit plans. The standard requires that companies provide more details about their plan assets,
benefit obligations, cash flows, benefit costs and other relevant information. For example, cash flows will include projections of future benefit payments and
an estimate of contributions to be made in the next year to fund pension and other postretirement benefit plans. In addition to expanded annual disclosures,
companies are required to report the various elements of pension and other postretirement benefit costs on a quarterly basis. FAS 132 is effective for fiscal
periods ending after December 15, 2003. Our adoption of FAS 132, as revised in December 2003, is reflected in Note 13.
 
2. Collaborative, Humanization and Patent Licensing Arrangements
 

Roche.  Effective October 2003, we amended our 1999 collaboration agreement with Hoffmann-La Roche, Inc. and its affiliates (Roche), pursuant to
which we now have exclusive worldwide rights to market, develop, manufacture and sell Zenapax® (daclizumab) in all disease indications other than
transplantation. Roche currently is expected to continue to market Zenapax in transplantation indications until 2007, although an earlier transfer to us of rights
in transplantation may occur upon six months’ written notice at Roche’s election.

 
In connection with the new arrangement, we paid Roche $80 million in cash for return of exclusive rights in indications other than transplantation,

and we obtained an option to acquire rights in transplant indications (reversion right), exercisable by us in 2006, but effective in 2007 or as early as 2005 at
the election of Roche. To effectuate the transfer of Zenapax in the transplantation indications, we will pay an additional exercise fee to Roche based on the
average annual gross sales of Zenapax during the period from January 1, 2004 through the calendar quarter prior to the date of notice of the exercise, or
Roche’s notice of its decision to transfer the rights to us prior to our exercise date. If we do not receive transplantation rights, we would pay modest royalties
to Roche on any sales in all diseases other than transplantation, and we would continue to receive royalties from Roche on sales of Zenapax in transplantation.
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Of the $80 million that we paid to Roche in October 2003, we recorded a charge to acquired in-process research and development totaling

approximately $48.2 million, representing technology that had not yet reached technological feasibility and that had no known future alternative uses. In
particular, this amount relates to the rights to autoimmune indications for daclizumab that we are currently developing and testing in clinical studies,



specifically to treat asthma and ulcerative colitis. These Phase II trials were fully enrolled by the end of December 2003, and we anticipate that results may be
available in the first half of 2004.

 
We capitalized the remaining amount of $31.8 million, which relates to core technology and the reversion right. We are amortizing the value of the

core technology, $16.0 million, over the term of the patents underlying the acquired technology. We will reclassify the reversion right asset, $15.8 million,
into core technology at the time when the rights to the technology revert back to us, which at our option will be no later than 2007, but could be as early as
2005 at the election of Roche. Upon reclassifying the reversion right asset to core technology, we will amortize the asset over the remaining term of the
patents underlying the acquired technology.

 
The value of the acquired in-process research and development was determined by estimating the related future probability-adjusted net cash flows,

which were then discounted to a present value using a rate of 15%. This discount rate is a significant assumption and is based on our estimated weighted
average cost of capital taking into account the risks associated with the projects acquired. The projected cash flows from such projects were based on
estimates of revenues and operating profits related to such projects considering the stage of development of each potential product acquired, the time and
resources needed to complete each product, the estimated life of each potential commercialized product and associated risks including the inherent difficulties
and uncertainties in developing a drug compound including obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals, and risks related to the viability of and potential
alternative treatments in any future target markets. In determining the value of the acquired in-process research and development, the assumed
commercialization dates used for the potential products ranged from 2007 to 2008.
 

GlaxoSmithKline plc.  In September 1999, we signed agreements with GlaxoSmithKline (GSK), involving two humanized antibodies for the possible
treatment of asthma. We obtained a license to GSK’s humanized anti-IL-4 antibody and granted an exclusive license under our antibody humanization patents
to GSK for its humanized anti-IL-5 antibody. We also granted GSK options to obtain non-exclusive licenses under these patents for up to three additional
antibodies.

 
In May 2003, we completed a Phase II trial of the humanized anti-IL-4 antibody in asthma patients. The antibody was well tolerated, but did not

demonstrate clinical benefit compared to placebo at either of the dose levels tested. Accordingly, we will not conduct additional clinical studies of the
humanized anti-IL-4 antibody and the program has been returned to GSK.
 

Exelixis, Inc.  In May 2001, we signed a collaborative agreement with Exelixis to discover and develop humanized antibodies for the diagnosis,
prevention and treatment of cancer. We agreed to provide Exelixis with $4.0 million in annual research funding for two or more years, and we purchased a
$30.0 million five-year note convertible after the first year of the collaboration into Exelixis common stock. We received an exclusive, worldwide license to
develop antibodies against certain targets identified by Exelixis that are involved in cell growth, cell death and proliferation. Exelixis has the right to co-fund
development of antibodies resulting from the collaboration. We recognized the expense of our research funding ratably over the periods it was performed by
Exelixis. As of December 31, 2003, we provided a total of $8.0 million in research funding to Exelixis of which we expensed $1.7 million in 2003, $4.0
million in 2002 and $2.3 million in 2001. For antibody products we develop that Exelixis elects not to co-fund, we have agreed to make specified milestone
payments and royalty payments on any product sales. We did not extend the research funding beyond the original two years, and as such, we did not fund any
research expense to Exelixis beyond the second quarter of 2003.
 

Igeneon AG.  In July 2002, we signed an agreement with Igeneon AG, a European biotechnology company focused on cancer immunotherapies, for
exclusive worldwide rights to develop and market HuABL364, a humanized antibody against the Lewis Y antigen. To date, we have received a licensing fee
and milestone payments from Igeneon and in the future, we may receive additional milestone payments and royalties on any product sales generated by the
antibody.
 

Wyeth.  In December 1996, we entered into an agreement with Genetics Institute, now a wholly owned subsidiary of Wyeth, to initially humanize three
mouse antibodies that regulate an immune system pathway. To date, we have received licensing and signing fees totaling $3.7 million and three milestone
payments. We are entitled to royalties on any product sales. We also received an option to co-promote the products in North America under certain conditions.
 

Genentech, Inc.  In September 1998, we entered into an agreement covering patent rights under our humanization patents and under Genentech patents
relating to antibody engineering. Genentech paid us a $6.0 million fee, and we paid Genentech a $1.0 million fee. Each company can obtain up to six licenses
for humanized antibodies upon payment of an additional fee of at least $1.0 million per antibody, as well as royalties on any product sales. The number of
licensed antibodies may be increased and the term of the agreement extended upon payment of additional fees. In November 1998, Genentech exercised
certain of its rights under the agreement and obtained a nonexclusive license for Herceptin. Genentech paid us a $1.0 million licensing and signing fee, and
we have since been receiving royalties on Herceptin sales.
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Further, in September 2003, Genentech and we mutually agreed to extend the master agreement for an additional 5-year term ending December 2008.

 
In December 2003, we signed a definitive agreement with Genentech, which resolved a dispute relating to our existing patent licensing master

agreement, in particular with respect to our antibody humanization patents and certain of Genentech’s humanized antibodies. Under terms of the agreement,
Genentech exercised licenses under the patent licensing master agreement between the parties for Genentech’s Xolair and Raptiva antibody products, which
were approved by the FDA in the second and fourth quarters of 2003, respectively. These exercises resulted in payment of license exercise fees of $2.2
million to us, which we recognized as license revenue in the fourth quarter of 2003. We recognized royalty revenue from third quarter 2003 sales of Xolair
beginning in the fourth quarter of 2003, and we will commence recognition of royalty revenue from Raptiva product sales in the first quarter of 2004.

 
In consideration of approximately $1.1 million, Genentech exercised a license for its Avastin antibody product, which was approved by the FDA in

February 2004. As a result, we will recognize license exercise fees of approximately $1.1 million in the first quarter of 2004 and commence recognition of
royalty revenue from Avastin product sales in the second quarter of 2004.

 
In connection with the December 2003 definitive agreement, we agreed to certain royalty reductions for significant levels of annual aggregate sales

of Genentech products licensed under the master agreement. The revised royalty rate structure would apply reciprocally to any of our products licensed under
the master agreement. The agreement resolves and settles both companies’ disputes regarding infringement of the Xolair, Raptiva and Avastin products and
the validity and enforceability of our patents. We also obtained additional rights for non-exclusive, royalty-bearing licenses under certain of Genentech’s
antibody patents.
 



Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  In March 2001, we entered into a patent rights agreement with Millennium under our humanization patents for
which they paid us an upfront fee. Millennium can obtain up to three patent licenses for humanized antibodies upon payment of additional fees, as well as
royalties on any product sales. The term of the agreement may be extended upon payment of additional fees. In the fourth quarter of 2003, Millennium
exercised one of its three patent licenses, and pursuant to the agreement, we received an additional patent license fee from Millennium.
 

MedImmune, Inc.  In December 2002, we entered into a patent rights agreement with MedImmune under our humanization patents for which they paid
us an upfront fee. MedImmune can obtain up to three patent licenses for humanized antibodies upon payment of additional fees, as well as royalties on any
product sales. MedImmune can obtain rights to obtain up to three additional patent licenses upon payment of additional fees.
 

Actinium Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  In March 2003, we signed a licensing agreement with Actinium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (API) that provides API certain
development rights to Zamyl™, our SMART M195 humanized antibody against the CD33 antigen, present on the cancer cells of most patients with acute
myeloid leukemia, the most common form of acute leukemia in adults. In connection with the signing of the agreement in the first quarter of 2003, we
received an upfront licensing fee, and in the future we may receive development milestone payments and royalties on future sales generated by the antibody.
 

Abbott Laboratories.  In December 2003, we signed a licensing agreement with Abbott Laboratories (Abbott) that provides Abbott certain exclusive
rights to intellectual property related to antibodies capable of binding Interleukin-12 (IL-12) or its receptor. IL-12 is a cytokine with potential as a target in the
treatment of a number of autoimmune diseases. The licensed rights are not related to our humanization technology. In connection with the agreement, we
received an upfront licensing fee, and in the future we may receive development milestone payments and royalties on future sales of antibodies developed by
Abbott against IL-12. We initially licensed certain intellectual property related to anti-IL-12 therapy from Roche and will share with Roche a portion of all
amounts received.
 

Other Patent License and Humanization Agreements.  We have entered into patent license and humanization agreements with numerous other
companies that are independently developing humanized antibodies, including Biogen, Celltech Group plc, Chugai, Elan Pharmaceuticals, Eli Lilly and
Company, Fujisawa Pharmaceuticals Co., IDEC Pharmaceuticals, Intermune Pharmaceuticals, Medarex, Merck KgaA, Progenics, Sankyo and Tanox. In each
agreement, we granted a worldwide, exclusive or nonexclusive license under our patents to the other company for antibodies to a specific target antigen. In
general, we received a licensing and signing fee and the right to receive annual maintenance fees and royalties on any product sales. Under some of these
agreements, we also may receive milestone payments. We have also entered into agreements to use our technology to humanize antibodies for other
companies, including Ajinomoto, Mochida Pharmaceutical, Teijin, and Yamanouchi Pharmaceutical. In general, we received a licensing and signing fee and
the right to receive additional payments upon the achievement of certain milestones and royalties on any product sales.
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3. Net Income (Loss) Per Share
 

In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statement No. 128, “Earnings Per Share,” basic and diluted net income (loss) per
share amounts have been computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the periods presented. The calculation
of diluted net income per share also includes the dilutive effect of outstanding stock options in 2001, but does not include the effect of outstanding convertible
notes because the assumed conversion of these notes would be anti-dilutive. We incurred net losses for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003, and as
such, we did not include the effect of outstanding stock options or outstanding convertible notes in the diluted net loss per share calculations, as their effect
would be anti-dilutive for both periods.

 
The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted net income (loss) per share computations for the

periods presented below:
 
  

Years Ended December 31,
 

  
2003

 
2002

 
2001

 

  

(In thousands, except basic and diluted
net income (loss) per share)

 

        
Numerator:

       

Net income (loss)
 

$ (129,814) $ (14,554) $ 2,647
 

        
Denominator:

       

Basic net income (loss) per share-Weighted-average shares
 

92,478
 

88,865
 

87,624
 

Dilutive potential common shares-Stock options
 

—
 

—
 

5,265
 

Denominator for diluted net income (loss) per share
 

92,478
 

88,865
 

92,889
 

        
Basic net income (loss) per share

 

$ (1.40) $ (0.16) $ 0.03
 

        
Diluted net income (loss) per share

 

$ (1.40) $ (0.16) $ 0.03
 

 
The total number of shares excluded from the calculations of diluted net income (loss) per share for outstanding convertible notes was 16,389,450 in

2003 and 3,974,000 in 2002 and 2001. The total number of shares excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share for outstanding stock options
was approximately 14,537,000 in 2003, 12,310,000 in 2002, and 5,263,000 in 2001. Such securities, had they been dilutive, would have been included in the
computations of diluted net income (loss) per share.
 
4. Eos Acquisition

 
In April 2003, we completed the acquisition of Eos Biotechnology, Inc. (Eos), a development stage company. Eos was engaged in drug discovery of

therapeutic antibodies based on information from the human genome. By applying a disease-based approach and a suite of proprietary discovery technologies,
Eos identified antibodies that selectively and specifically target pathogenic cells.

 
This acquisition was completed to expand our development pipeline of potential products in oncology. Eos’ portfolio consisted of two drug

candidates, including Anti-51 integrin antibody (M200), a function-blocking antibody that targets a specific integrin for solid tumors, including pancreatic,



non-small lung and colorectal cancers and a Fab fragment of the Anti-51 integrin antibody (F200) for ocular indications, including age-related macular
degeneration. In 2003, we initiated a Phase I clinical trial of M200 in patients with advanced solid tumors for whom there is no standard treatment.
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In connection with this acquisition, we issued an aggregate of 4,180,375 shares of our common stock (net of approximately 151,000 shares that were

withheld from Eos shareholders to provide for the Eos shareholder tax liabilities incurred in connection with receipt of the shares issued in the acquisition) in
exchange for all outstanding shares of Eos preferred and common stock. The share issuances were exempt from registration pursuant to Section 3(a)(10) of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Certain shares issued will be held in escrow pursuant to the terms of the Agreement and Plan of Merger and
Reorganization, as amended.

 
The Eos acquisition was accounted for as an acquisition of assets rather than as a business combination as Eos was a development stage company

that had not commenced its planned principal operations. Eos lacked the necessary elements of a business because it did not have completed products and,
therefore, no ability to access customers. The Eos operating results have been included in our consolidated results of operations since April 5, 2003.

 
The aggregate purchase price was $38.8 million, consisting of the shares issued to the Eos stockholders valued at $35.5 million (including the value

of shares withheld to provide for tax liabilities of $1.3 million), transaction costs of $2.2 million and employee change of controls costs of $1.1 million. The
shares issued in connection with this acquisition were valued at $8.17 per share, which represented the average closing market price of our common stock a
few days before and after the acquisition announcement date (February 4, 2003).

 
Based upon an independent third-party valuation of the tangible and intangible assets acquired, we have allocated the total purchase price to the

assets acquired and liabilities assumed as follows (in thousands):
 

Tangible assets acquired
 

$ 5,418
 

Assembled workforce
 

1,410
 

Acquired in-process research and development
 

37,834
 

Liabilities assumed
 

(5,848)
 

 

$ 38,814
 

 
The $1.4 million value assigned to the assembled workforce is being amortized over 2 years, the estimated useful life of the asset.
 
Approximately $37.8 million of the purchase price was allocated to acquired in-process research and development due to Eos’ incomplete research

and development programs that had not yet reached technological feasibility as of April 4, 2003 and had no alternative future use as of that date.
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A summary of these programs follows:
 

Program
 

Description
 

Status of
Development

 

Value
Assigned

 

      
(in thousands)

 

        
Anti-angiogenesis (M200, Anti-51

Integrin Antibody)

 

Function-blocking antibody that targets a
specific integrin for solid tumors, including
pancreatic, non-small lung and colorectal
cancers.

 

IND filed December 2002; Phase 1 clinical
trials initiated in June 2003

 

$24,067
 

Ocular Neovasculariz ation (F200,
Anti-51 Integrin Antibody)

 

Fab fragment of Anti-51 Integrin Antibody
for ocular indications, including age-related
macular degeneration.

 

IND filing in 2005*
 

$13,767
 

 

*                                         Development progress may be affected by potential partnering discussions or commitment of resources to more advanced programs.
 

The value of the acquired in-process research and development was determined by estimating the related future probability-adjusted net cash flows,
which were then discounted to a present value using a rate of 15%. This discount rate is a significant assumption and is based on our estimated weighted
average cost of capital taking into account the risks associated with the projects acquired. The projected cash flows from such projects were based on
estimates of revenues and operating profits related to such projects considering the stage of development of each potential product acquired, the time and
resources needed to complete each product, the estimated life of each potential commercialized product and associated risks including the inherent difficulties
and uncertainties in developing a drug compound including obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals, and risks related to the viability of and potential
alternative treatments in any future target markets. In determining the value of the acquired in-process research and development, the assumed
commercialization dates used for the potential products ranged from 2008 to 2009.
 
5. Impairment Loss on Investment

 
In January 2002, we sold the assets of our small molecule group to Signature BioScience, Inc. (Signature), a privately held drug discovery company,

in exchange for 523,952 shares of Signature convertible preferred stock. The stock received was recorded at the net book value of the assets sold plus
transaction costs incurred, which approximated $1.3 million. In conjunction with this transaction, in December 2002, we accrued an additional $0.2 million
payable to Signature in connection with cash retention bonuses to designated key employees still employed by Signature after one year. Pursuant to the terms
of the agreement, in exchange for these bonus payments we received in early 2003 an additional 149,701 shares of Signature convertible preferred stock,
which was recorded as an increase in the carrying value of the preferred stock. Since the shares we received are not publicly traded, the value of the shares is
difficult to estimate. As of December 31, 2002, we estimated that the fair value of our shares owned and to be received in early 2003 had declined to
$150,000 and that an impairment of our investment had occurred and that such impairment was other then temporary. Accordingly, we recorded an



impairment charge of $1.4 million in December 2002. The amount of the charge was based on the difference between the estimated fair value as determined
by our management and our original cost basis in the shares of approximately $1.6 million.

 
As of March 31, 2003, we estimated that our investment in Signature had become fully impaired and that such impairment was other than temporary.

Accordingly, in the first quarter of 2003 we recorded an impairment charge of $150,000 to write off the residual book value of our investment in Signature at
that date.
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6. Marketable Securities and Restricted Investments
 

We invest our excess cash balances primarily in short-term and long-term marketable debt securities. These securities are classified as available-for-
sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried at estimated fair value, with unrealized gains and losses reported in accumulated other comprehensive income
(loss) in stockholders’ equity. The amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. Such
amortization is included in interest income. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific identification method, when applicable. The following is a
summary of available-for-sale securities. Estimated fair value is based upon quoted market prices for these or similar instruments.
 
  

Available-for-Sale-Securities
 

  
Cost

 

Gross
Unrealized

Gains
 

Gross
Unrealized

Losses
 

Estimated
Fair

Value
 

  
(In thousands)

 

          
December 31, 2003

         

Securities of the U.S. Government and its agencies maturing:
         

within 1 year
 

$ 28,909
 

$ 50
 

$ —
 

$ 28,959
 

between 1-3 years
 

80,000
 

280
 

(25) 80,255
 

U.S. corporate debt securities maturing:
         

within 1 year
 

29,994
 

504
 

—
 

30,498
 

between 1-3 years
 

10,070
 

81
 

—
 

10,151
 

Total marketable debt securities
 

$ 148,973
 

$ 915
 

$ (25) $ 149,863
 

          
December 31, 2002

         

Securities of the U.S. Government and its agencies maturing:
         

within 1 year
 

$ 50,935
 

$ 556
 

$ —
 

$ 51,491
 

between 1-3 years
 

121,257
 

1,933
 

—
 

123,190
 

U.S. corporate debt securities maturing:
         

within 1 year
 

110,116
 

2,444
 

—
 

112,560
 

between 1-3 years
 

30,313
 

1,126
 

—
 

31,439
 

Total marketable debt securities
 

$ 312,621
 

$ 6,059
 

$ —
 

$ 318,680
 

 
During 2003, 2002 and 2001, there were no realized gains or losses on the sale of available-for-sale securities, as all securities liquidated in each of

these years were held to maturity.
 
In July 2003, we issued 2.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes due August 16, 2023 with a principal amount of $250.0 million (see Note 12 for

further details). In connection with the issuance of these convertible notes, we pledged a portfolio of U.S. government securities as security, which, including
the interest earned thereon, will be sufficient to pay the first six scheduled interest payments for the notes. The pledged amount, with a balance of
approximately $20.8 million at December 31, 2003, is classified as restricted investments on our balance sheet and consists of securities of the U.S.
Government and its agencies. The portion related to payments to be made within one year, $7.4 million, is reflected on the consolidated balance sheet within
marketable securities, and the portion related to payments to be made thereafter, $13.4 million, is reflected on the balance sheet as long-term restricted
investments. The basis for the value of these restricted investments on the balance sheet is the amortized cost of the investments, which approximates the fair
market values at December 31, 2003.
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7. Land, Property and Equipment

 
Land, property, and equipment consisted of the following:

 
  

December 31,
 

  
2003

 
2002

 

  
(In thousands)

 

      
Land

 

$ 10,743
 

$ 10,743
 

Buildings and improvements
 

23,766
 

22,198
 

Leasehold improvements
 

18,887
 

6,691
 

Laboratory and manufacturing equipment
 

27,428
 

20,604
 

Construction-in-process
 

93,494
 

26,754
 

Computer and office equipment
 

11,278
 

6,621
 

Furniture and fixtures
 

2,540
 

2,058
 

 

 

188,136
 

95,669
 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
 

(32,623) (24,867)
 

 

$ 155,513
 

$ 70,802
 

 



Depreciation and amortization expense for 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $8.2 million, $4.9 million, and $4.3 million, respectively.
 
8. Intangible Assets
 

At December 31, 2003, our intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

Assembled workforce
 

$ 1,410
 

Core technology
 

16,053
 

Roche reversion right
 

15,788
 

Total intangible assets
 

33,251
 

Less: Accumulated amortization
 

(940)
Net intangible assets

 

$ 32,311
 

 
Amortization expense for our intangible assets during 2003 was approximately $940,000. The reversion right asset relates to our option to

repurchase from Roche exclusive rights in remaining transplant indications of Zenapax. We will reclassify the reversion right asset into core technology at the
time when the rights to the technology revert back to us (see Note 2). Upon reclassifying the reversion right asset to core technology, we will amortize the
asset over the remaining term of the patents underlying the acquired technology.
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For our assembled workforce and core technology intangible assets, the expected future annual amortization expense is as follows (in thousands):

 

  

Assembled
Workforce

 

Core
Technology

 

      
For the year ending December 31,

     

2004
 

$ 705
 

$ 1,646
 

2005
 

177
 

1,646
 

2006
 

—
 

1,646
 

2007
 

—
 

1,646
 

2008
 

—
 

1,646
 

Thereafter
 

—
 

7,411
 

Total amortization expense
 

$ 882
 

$ 15,641
 

 
9. Accrued Liabilities
 

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, other accrued liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):
 

  
2003

 
2002

 

      
Construction-in-process

 

$ 14,568
 

$ 1,896
 

Consulting and services
 

2,409
 

1,458
 

Other
 

2,374
 

1,222
 

Total
 

$ 19,351
 

$ 4,576
 

 
10. Commitments

 
We occupy leased facilities under agreements that expire in 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2009. We also have leased certain office equipment under

operating leases. Rental expense under these arrangements totaled approximately $2.3 million, $1.3 million, and $0.9 million for the years ended December
31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

 
Future payments under non-cancelable operating leases at December 31, 2003, are as follows:

 
Year Ending December 31,

   

2004
 

$ 2,531
 

2005
 

2,344
 

2006
 

1,898
 

2007
 

753
 

2008
 

779
 

Thereafter
 

131
 

 

 

$ 8,436
 

 
11. Long-Term Debt and Notes Payable

 
In September 1999, Fremont Holding L.L.C. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Protein Design Labs, Inc.) obtained a $10.2 million term loan to

purchase our Fremont, California facilities. The loan bears interest at the rate of 7.64% per year amortized over 15 years with principal and interest payable
monthly. The loan is secured by our Fremont, California facilities, which has an approximate carrying amount of $24.8 million, and is subject to the terms and
covenants of the loan agreement.

 
In connection with our acquisition of Eos in the second quarter of 2003, we assumed notes payable of $2.3 million related to equipment and software

purchases during 2001 and 2002. The equipment loans bear interest at a weighted average rate of 10.2%,
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which payments are due in equal installments of interest and principal over a term of generally 4 years. The loans are secured by the equipment and software
purchases made under the terms of the loans.

 
Future minimum payments under the facilities and equipment loans at December 31, 2003, together with the present value of those minimum

payments, are as follows (in thousands):
 

Year Ending December 31,
   

2004
 

$ 1,836
 

2005
 

1,583
 

2006
 

1,243
 

2007
 

1,139
 

2008
 

1,139
 

Thereafter
 

6,643
 

Total
 

13,583
 

Less amount representing interest
 

(4,021)
Present value of future payments

 

9,562
 

Less current portion
 

(1,039)
Non-current portion

 

$ 8,523
 

 
We believe that the fair values of the facility and equipment loans at December 31, 2003 approximated their carrying values as of this date. The fair

values of the remaining payments under the loans are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses, based on our current incremental borrowing rates for
similar types of borrowing arrangements.
 
12. Convertible Notes
 

In July 2003, we issued 2.75% Convertible Subordinated Notes due August 16, 2023 with a principal amount of $250.0 million (Convertible Notes).
The Convertible Notes are convertible into our common stock at a conversion price of $20.14 per share, subject to adjustment in certain events and at the
holders’ option. Interest on the Convertible Notes is payable semiannually in arrears on February 16 and August 16 of each year. The Convertible Notes are
unsecured and are subordinated to all our existing and future senior indebtedness. The Convertible Notes may be redeemed at our option, in whole or in part,
beginning on August 16, 2008 at par value. In addition, in August 2010, August 2013 and August 2018, holders of our Convertible Notes may require us to
repurchase all or a portion of their notes at 100% of their principal amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, such date. For Convertible
Notes to be repurchased in August 2010, we must pay for the repurchase in cash, and we may pay for the repurchase of notes to be repurchased in August
2013 and August 2018, at our option, in cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock. In the third quarter of
2003, we filed a shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission covering the resale of the Convertible Notes and the common
stock issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Notes.

 
Issuance costs associated with the Convertible Notes aggregating $8.3 million are included in other assets and are being amortized to interest

expense over the term of the earliest redemption of the debt, or approximately seven years. The accumulated amortization at December 31, 2003 was $0.5
million. The estimated fair value of the Convertible Notes at December 31, 2003 was approximately $290 million based upon publicly available pricing
information.

 
We pledged a portfolio of U.S. government securities costing approximately $20.8 million as security for the Convertible Notes. (See Note 6.)
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In February 2000, we issued 5.50% Convertible Subordinated Notes due February 15, 2007 with a principal amount of $150 million (the 5.50%

Convertible Notes). The 5.50% Convertible Notes were convertible at the holders’ option into our common stock at a conversion price of $37.75 per share,
subject to adjustment as a result of certain events. Interest on these notes was payable semiannually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year. The
redemption price, set forth in the 5.5% Convertible Notes indenture, was 102.75% of the principal amount, or $1,027.50 per $1,000 of principal amount of the
5.5% Convertible Notes.

 
In November 2003, we paid approximately $155.9 million in cash to redeem the 5.5% Convertible Notes, including accrued interest of $1.8 million

and prepayment obligations of approximately $4.1 million in connection with the redemption. In addition to the $4.1 million in prepayment obligations for
early extinguishment of these notes, we recorded a charge to write-off the unamortized balance of the original debt issuance costs of approximately $2.4
million; these charges, totaling $6.5 million, are included in interest and other income, net, in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
 
13. Postretirement Benefit Plan
 

In June 2003, we established a postretirement health care plan (the Plan), which covers medical, dental and vision coverage for certain of our former
officers and their dependents. For the period from the inception of the Plan (June 1, 2003) through December 31, 2003, we have recognized, and accrued, net
periodic postretirement benefit cost of approximately $118,000. This expense includes service cost, interest cost, and amortization of prior service cost. In
connection with the Plan, at December 31, 2003, the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation, the unamortized prior service cost, and the unrealized net
actuarial loss were approximately $1.0 million, $773,000, and $148,000, respectively.

 
We calculated the preceding information using an assumed discount rate of 6.5% and a measurement date of June 1, 2003. Further, we assumed the

rate of increase in per capita costs of covered health care benefits to be 10% in 2004, decreasing gradually to 5.5% by the year 2009. A one percentage point
change in the assumed health care cost trend rate would not have a material effect on the net periodic postretirement benefit cost or the postretirement benefit
obligation at December 31, 2003.

 
In connection with the Plan, we expect to pay health care premiums aggregating approximately $100,000 and $2.1 million during the years 2004

through 2008, and during the years 2009 through 2030, respectively.
 
14. Stockholders’ Equity



 
Stock Split

 
On October 9, 2001, we effected a two-for-one stock split of our common stock in the form of a dividend of one share of Protein Design Labs, Inc.

common stock for each share held at the close of business on September 18, 2001. Our stock began trading on a split-adjusted basis as of October 10, 2001.
The share and per share amounts in the accompanying financial statements and notes reflect the effect of this stock split.
 
Common Stock Reserved for Future Issuance

 
Shares of our common stock reserved for future issuance at December 31, 2003 were as follows (in thousands):

 
All stock option plans

 

23,333
 

Employee stock purchase plan
 

974
 

Convertible debt
 

12,415
 

Total
 

36,722
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Stock Option Plans
 

At December 31, 2003, we had six stock-based employee compensation plans, which are described more fully below. The exercise price of all stock
options granted under our plans has been equal to the fair value of our common stock on the grant date and generally, the option term is ten years. In the past,
we have granted stock options to a limited number of non-employees (other than non-employee members of the Board of Directors). The compensation
expense associated with these options was approximately $276,000 in 2003, and it was immaterial in all other years presented.
 
1991 Stock Option Plan
 

In December 1991, the Board of Directors adopted the 1991 Stock Option Plan (1991 Plan). We reserved 16,000,000 shares of common stock for the
grant of options under the 1991 Plan. Options granted under the 1991 Plan generally vest at the rate of 25% at the end of the first year, with the remaining
balance vesting monthly over the next three years in the case of employees, and ratably over two or five years in the case of advisors and consultants.
 

At the 1999 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, stockholders approved the 1999 Stock Option Plan, including a provision whereby upon termination of
the 1991 Plan, any shares remaining available for grant or which subsequently become available upon the termination of options outstanding under the 1991
Plan, if any, are added automatically to the 1999 Stock Option Plan. During 2002, 1,717,694 shares, the remaining shares available for grant under the 1991
Plan, were transferred to the 1999 Stock Option Plan. As a result of stock options that subsequently terminated under the 1991 Plan, 361,630 additional shares
have been transferred to and authorized for grant under the 1999 Stock Option Plan as of December 31, 2003.
 
Outside Directors Stock Option Plan
 

In February 1992, the Board of Directors adopted the Outside Directors Stock Option Plan (Directors Plan). We reserved 800,000 shares of common
stock for the grant of options under the Directors Plan. Options granted pursuant to the Directors Plan vest monthly over five years.
 

At the 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, stockholders approved that upon the termination of the Directors Plan, any shares remaining available
for grant or which would otherwise become available for grant upon the subsequent cancellation, termination or expiration of options outstanding will
automatically become available for issuance under the 2002 Outside Directors Plan. In 2002, the remaining 240,000 shares available for grant were
transferred to the 2002 Outside Directors Plan.
 
1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan
 

In August 1999, the Board of Directors adopted the 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan (the Nonstatutory Option Plan) under which options may
be granted to employees, prospective employees and consultants of the Company and any parent or subsidiary corporation. We reserved 4,000,000 shares of
common stock for the grant of options under the Nonstatutory Option Plan. In April 2001 and February 2003, the Board of Directors approved amendments to
increase the shares reserved under the Nonstatutory Option Plan by 4,000,000 shares and 3,000,000 shares, respectively. The total number of shares reserved
under the Nonstatutory Option Plan since its inception is 11,000,000.
 

Options may be granted under the Nonstatutory Option Plan with an exercise price and vesting period established at the discretion of the Board of
Directors.
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1999 Stock Option Plan
 

In April 1999, the Board of Directors adopted the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the 1999 Option Plan), which was approved by our stockholders in June
1999. We reserved 3,700,000 shares of common stock for the grant of options under the 1999 Option Plan.

 
In April and June 2001, respectively, the Board of Directors and stockholders approved an amendment to our 1999 Option Plan to increase the

number of shares reserved for issuance by a total of 4,000,000 shares. Upon termination of the 1991 Plan, any shares remaining available for grant or which
subsequently become available upon the termination of options outstanding under the 1991 Plan, if any, are added automatically to the 1999 Option Plan.
During 2002, 1,717,694 shares, the remaining shares available for grant under the 1991 Plan, were transferred to 1999 Stock Option Plan. As a result of stock
options that subsequently terminated under the 1991 Plan, 361,630 additional shares have been transferred to and authorized for grant under the 1999 Stock
Option Plan as of December 31, 2003.

 



Options may be granted under the 1999 Option Plan with an exercise price and vesting period established at the discretion of the Board of Directors.
 
2002 Outside Directors Plan

 
In December 2001, the Board of Directors adopted the 2002 Outside Directors Plan (2002 Directors Plan) to replace our Directors Plan, subject to

and effective upon its approval by the stockholders. We reserved 240,000 shares of common stock for the grant of options under the 2002 Directors Plan. In
June 2002, at the 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, our stockholders approved the 2002 Directors Plan including a provision whereby upon termination
of the Directors Plan, any shares remaining available for grant or which subsequently become available upon the termination of options outstanding under the
Directors Plan, if any, will be added automatically to the 2002 Directors Plan. During 2002, 240,000 shares were transferred to the 2002 Directors Plan for a
total of 480,000 shares authorized under this plan.

 
The 2002 Directors Plan provides for automatic annual grants to each outside director of options to purchase 12,000 shares of the our common stock,

vesting monthly over 12 months. Options must be granted under the 2002 Directors Plan with an exercise price equal to the market price of our stock on the
grant date.

 
A summary of the status of our stock option plans at December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, and changes during the years ending those dates is

presented below.
 
  

2003
 

2002
 

2001
 

  
Shares

 

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
 

Shares
 

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
 

Shares
 

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
 

  
(In thousands, except exercise price data)

 

              
Outstanding at beginning of year

 

12,310
 

$ 17.18
 

10,528
 

$ 18.40
 

9,575
 

$ 13.90
 

Granted
 

3,228
 

10.37
 

3,427
 

13.46
 

3,142
 

28.41
 

Exercised
 

(317) 6.75
 

(516) 5.63
 

(1,274) 8.29
 

Forfeited
 

(684) 21.65
 

(1,129) 22.45
 

(915) 20.18
 

Outstanding at end of year
 

14,537
 

15.69
 

12,310
 

17.18
 

10,528
 

18.40
 

              
Exercisable at end of year

 

8,230
   

5,975
   

3,799
   

              
Weighted average fair value of options granted during the year

   

$ 7.27
   

$ 10.72
   

$ 21.55
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The following information applies to all stock options outstanding under our stock option plans at December 31, 2003:

 
  

Outstanding
 

Exercisable
 

Range of Exercise
Prices

 

Number
Outstanding

 

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life (years)

 

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
 

Number
Exercisable

 

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price
 

  
(In thousands, except exercise prices and remaining contractual life data)

 

            
$3.88 - $5.31

 

1,606
 

3.94
 

$ 4.32
 

1,606
 

$ 4.32
 

$5.58 - $7.83
 

1,590
 

6.89
 

7.20
 

725
 

6.63
 

$7.84 - $8.30
 

1,655
 

8.67
 

8.12
 

359
 

8.19
 

$8.39 - $9.66
 

1,723
 

6.59
 

9.19
 

881
 

9.47
 

$9.66 - $13.96
 

1,630
 

8.20
 

12.35
 

506
 

11.19
 

$14.05 - $18.90
 

1,616
 

8.53
 

17.73
 

611
 

18.39
 

$20.48 - $21.02
 

1,578
 

6.33
 

21.00
 

1,401
 

21.00
 

$21.04 - $23.49
 

292
 

7.82
 

22.29
 

156
 

22.29
 

$23.63 - $27.50
 

1,574
 

7.35
 

27.28
 

1,042
 

27.30
 

$27.83 - $56.84
 

1,273
 

7.05
 

38.55
 

943
 

39.08
 

Totals
 

14,537
   

$ 15.69
 

8,230
 

$ 16.78
 

 
To date, an aggregate of approximately 36,102,000 shares have been authorized for grant under our stock option plans and as of December 31, 2003,

approximately 8,796,000 are available for grant.
 
1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

 
In February 1993, the Board of Directors adopted the 1993 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Employee Purchase Plan). We reserved 2,400,000 shares

of common stock for the purchase of shares by employees under the Employee Purchase Plan. At December 31, 2003, 973,287 shares remain available for
purchase. Eligibility to participate in the Employee Purchase Plan is essentially limited to full-time employees who own less than 5% of the outstanding
shares. Under the Employee Purchase Plan, eligible employees can purchase shares of our common stock based on a percentage of their compensation, up to
certain limits. The purchase price per share must equal at least the lower of 85% of the market value on the date offered or on the date purchased. During
2003, an aggregate of 210,074 shares were purchased by employees under the Employee Purchase Plan at prices of $7.65 or $11.87 per share. During 2002,
an aggregate of 163,369 shares were purchased by employees under the Employee Purchase Plan at prices of $9.23 or $7.23 per share. During 2001, an
aggregate of 72,923 shares were purchased by employees under the Employee Purchase Plan at prices of $27.88 or $34.17 per share.
 
15. Income Taxes
 

The provision for income taxes consists of the following:
 

  
Years Ended December 31,

 
  

  
 



2003 2002 2001
  

(in thousands)
 

        
Current:

       

Federal
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

$ —
 

State
 

18
 

12
 

12
 

Foreign
 

55
 

30
 

—
 

Total Current
 

$ 73
 

$ 42
 

$ 12
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A reconciliation of the income tax provision (benefit) at the statutory federal income tax rate compared to the income tax provision included in the

accompanying consolidated statements of operations is as follows:
 

  
Year Ended December 31,

 

  
2003

 
2002

 
2001

 

  
(in thousands)

 

        
Computed at U.S. statutory rate

       

At statutory rate
 

$ (44,107) $ (5,079) $ 930
 

Unutilized (utilized) net operating losses
 

31,243
 

5,079
 

(930)
Nondeductible acquired in-process research and development

 

12,864
 

—
 

—
 

State taxes
 

18
 

12
 

12
 

Foreign taxes
 

55
 

30
 

—
 

Total
 

$ 73
 

$ 42
 

$ 12
 

 
As of December 31, 2003, we have federal and California state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $333.5 million and $64.1 million,

respectively. We also have federal and California state research and other tax credit carryforwards of approximately $9.8 million and $9.3 million,
respectively. The federal net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards will expire at various dates beginning in the year 2004 through 2023, if not utilized.
The California state net operating losses will expire at various dates beginning in 2004 through 2013, if not utilized.

 
Utilization of the federal and California state net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to

the “change in ownership” provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of net operating losses and
credits before utilization.

 
Deferred income taxes reflect the net effects of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and temporary differences between the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of our net deferred
tax assets are as follows:
 

  
December 31,

 

  
2003

 
2002

 

  
(in thousands)

 

      
Deferred tax assets:

     

Net operating loss carryforwards
 

$ 117,210
 

$ 89,410
 

Research and other tax credits
 

15,940
 

11,910
 

Intangible assets
 

18,770
 

—
 

Deferred revenue
 

60
 

20
 

Capitalized research and development costs
 

10,610
 

8,090
 

Other
 

1,160
 

730
 

Total deferred tax assets
 

163,750
 

110,160
 

Valuation allowance
 

(163,400) (107,740)
Total deferred tax assets

 

350
 

2,420
 

Deferred tax liabilities:
     

Unrealized gains on investments
 

350
 

2,420
 

Total deferred tax liabilities
 

350
 

2,420
 

Net deferred tax assets
 

$ —
 

$ —
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Because of our history in the absence of earnings, the deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance. The valuation allowance

increased by $55.7 million, $4.4 million, and $11.4 million during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
 
Approximately $69.8 million of the deferred tax assets at December 31, 2003 relates to benefits of stock option deductions which, when recognized,

will be allocated directly to contributed capital.
 
16. Legal Proceedings

 
We are involved in administrative opposition proceedings being conducted by the European Patent Office with respect to our first European patent

relating to humanized antibodies. At an oral hearing in March 2000, the Opposition Division of the European Patent Office decided to revoke the broad
claims of our first European humanization patent. We have appealed this decision. In November 2003, the Technical Board of Appeal of the European Patent
Office decided to uphold our appeal and to set aside the Opposition Division’s decision. The Board of Appeal ordered that certain claims be remitted to the
Opposition Division for further prosecution and consideration of issues of patentability (novelty, enablement and inventive step). The claims remitted by the
Board of Appeal cover the production of humanized antibody light chain that contain amino acid substitutions made under our antibody humanization



technology. Regardless of the Opposition Division’s decision on these claims, such decision could be subject to further appeals. Until the opposition is
resolved, we may be limited in our ability to collect royalties or to negotiate future licensing or collaborative research and development arrangements based
on this and our other humanization patents. Moreover, if the opposition is successful, our ability to collect royalties on European sales of antibodies
humanized by others would depend on the scope and validity of our second European patent, whether the antibodies are manufactured in a country outside of
Europe where they are covered by one of our patents, and in that case the terms of our license agreements with respect to that situation. Also, the Opposition
Division’s decision could encourage challenges of our related patents in other jurisdictions, including the United States. This decision may lead some of our
licensees to stop making royalty payments or lead potential licensees not to take a license, either of which might result in us initiating formal legal actions to
enforce our rights under our humanization patents. In such a situation, a likely defensive strategy to our action would be to challenge our patents in that
jurisdiction. During the opposition process with respect to our first European patent, if we were to commence an infringement action to enforce that patent,
such an action would likely be stayed until the opposition is decided by the European Patent Office. As a result, we may not be able to successfully enforce
our rights under our European or related U.S. and Japanese patents.

 
Eight notices of opposition were filed with respect to our second European antibody humanization patent and we have filed our response with the

European Patent Office. Oral hearings, originally scheduled to take place in October 2003, have been postponed by the European Patent Office. No new date
has been set for the hearings.

 
Also, three opposition statements were filed with the Japanese Patent Office with respect to our Japanese humanization patent. The Japanese

Opposition Board’s subsequent decision supported one aspect of the position of the opponents, to which we filed two responses. Ultimately, we received a
final determination from the Japanese Patent Office examiner affirming the Opposition Board’s earlier decision. We have appealed this decision to the Tokyo
High Court. A hearing was held in April 2003. The patent will remain valid and enforceable during this appeal process. If this appeal is unsuccessful, we will
then have an opportunity to appeal to the Japanese Supreme Court.

 
With respect to these legal matters, we cannot predict with any certainty how they will ultimately be resolved. As any adverse outcomes are neither

probable nor estimable at December 31, 2003, we have not reflected any charges for these matters in our consolidated results of operations.
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
Board of Directors and Stockholders
Protein Design Labs, Inc.

 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Protein Design Labs, Inc. as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related

consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Protein Design

Labs, Inc. at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2003, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
 
 
 

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
 
 
Palo Alto, California
February 2, 2004, except for paragraphs 14 through 18 of
Note 1, as to which the date is August 9, 2004
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